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THE EDITOR'S PREFACE.

THE crowds which hurried to the shore of the Forth, on the morning of the
nineteenth of August 1561, to welcome the return of their young Queen, heard
with wonder of the multitude and splendour of the dresses, the diamonds, the
plate, the furniture, and the tapestry which she was bringing with her. Fairer
or costlier gems, it was told, were nowhere to be seen in Europe ;! and such, it
was whispered among the followers of the Reformed faith, was the sumptuous-
ness of her apparel and household stuff, that her kinsman, the dreaded Cardinal
of Lorraine, would fain have hindered their leaving the banks of the Seine.?
It was easy to dazzle a people, the sight of whose poverty brought tears to
the eyes of their sovereign;® but the appointments of the rich Dowager of

1 ¢ Attour the Quenes Hienes fornitour, hingingis,
and appareill, quhilk wes schippit at Newheavin and
careit in Scotland, was also, in hir awin cumpanye,
transportit with hir Majestie in Scotland, mony cost-
lye jewells and goldin wark, precious stanis, orient
pearle, maist excellent of any that was in Europe,
and mony coistly abilyeamentis for hir body, with
meikill silver wark of coistlye cupbordis, cowpis,
plaite.’—(Bishop Lesley’s History of Scotland, p. 299.)

¢Shee brought with her als faire jewells, pretious
stones and pearles as wer to be found in Europe.’—
(Knox's History of the Reformation in Scotland, vol.
iL p. 267, note 4 Mr. David Laing’s edit. Calder-
wood's History of the Kirk of Scotland, vol. ii. p.
1422 Wodrow Society’s edit.)

* ¢Interea Carolus [Gusius] Cardinalis [Lotharin-

gus), inter tot publicas curas sui non oblitus, con-
sulebat Reginae, ut supellectiem, mundumque
muliebrem, magni precii, Regina velut in alium
orbem transitura, apud se deponeret, donec de sui
itineris eventu certius cognosceret. Illa facile intel-
lecta fraude, ut quae hominis ingenium probe nosset,
respondit, Cum se periculo committeret, non videre,
cur mundo magis quam sibi caveret.'—(G. Buchanani
Rerum Scoticarum Historia, lib. xvii. cap. 7; Opera,
vol i. p. 328, edit. 1715.)

3 ¢La Reyne y alla & cheval, et ses dames et seign-
eurs sur des hacquenées guilledines du pays, telles
quelles, et harmnachées de mesme: donc, sur tel
appareil, la Reyne se mist & pleurer et dire que ce
n'estoit pas les pompes, les apprestz, les magnifi-
cences, ni les superbes montures de la France, dont
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France' seem to have been admired by men who were familiar with the grandest

court of the age.?

Lists of the Queen’s ornaments and attire were drawn up for different

purposes at different periods of her reign ; and it is the object of this volume to

bring together such of these Inventories as are now known to exist.?

The first, in order of time, is of the summer of 1556, when Mary Stewart

in was a girl of fourteen at the court of France.

The jewels and plate left by the King her father had come, in 1542, into

elle avoit joiiy si long-temps ; mais puisqu'il lui falloit
changer son paradis en un enfer, qu'il falloit prendre
patience.’—(Brantdme, Vies des Dames Illustres,
disc. iii. Marie Stuart; Oeuvres, t. v. p. 95. edit
Paris, 1823.)

Mary had not been a month in Scotland before the
quick eye of the English envoy discovered that ¢ the
povertie of her subjectes greatlye advanceth whatsom-
ever she intendethe.’ — (Letter from Randolph to
Cecil, 12, Sept. 1561, in Selections illustrating the
Reign of Mary Queen of Scotland, p. 96. Maitland
Club.)

1 Her dowry, as settled by her marriage-contract in
April 1558, and by an ordinance of King Charles 1x.
in December 1560, was 60,000 livres a year.—(Acts
of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol ii. p. §12. M.
Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I’Histoire de I'Ecosse,
t. i pp. 734-739.)

It appears from a letter of Sir Francis Knollys to
Sir William Cecil (13. June 1568), that Queen Mary’s
French jointure was reckoned in sterling money at
L. 12,000 a year.—(Anderson’s Collections relating to
Mary Queen of Scotland, vol. iv. part i. p. 79.)

This was probably twice as much as the Crown
revenue of Scotland in that day. But, poor in one
respect as her kingdom was, Queen Mary brought no
mean portion to her French husband, as he was
reminded in the fine verses which the great Latin

poet of Europe wrote upon the match :—
¢ Ampla si dote moveris
Accipe dotales Mavortia p Scotos.

P

Hanc tibi dat conjux dotem, tot secula fidam
Conjunctamque tuis sociali foedere gentem,’ etc.
—(G. Buchanani Silvae, iv. ‘Francisci Valesii et

Mariae Stuartae, Regum Franciae et Scotiae, Epithal-
amium.’)

? ¢Estant habillée & la sauvage (comme je Pay
veiie) et & la barbaresque mode des sauvages de son
pays, elle paroissoit, en un corps mortel et habit
barbare et grossier, une vraye déesse. . Que
pouvoit elle donc parestre se representant en ses
belles et riches parures, fust & la Frangoise ou &
I'Espaignolle, ou avec le bonnet & I'Italienne, ou en
ses autres habits de son grand deuil blanc.’—(Bran-
tdme, t v. p. 85.)

% There are traces of several Inventories which ap-
pear now to be lost. .
A list of all the dresses which she had had since she
left Scotland in August 1548, was sent by the Queen
in France to her mother in Scotland, in December
1555 : ¢ Je vous envoye I'invantoire de tous mes habits
depuis que je suis en France.’—(Letter of Queen
Mary, printed by Prince Labanoff in his Lettres de

Marie Stuart, t. i. pp. 29-32.)

A marginal note on one of the Inventories of 1561,
refers to a list of the Queen’s linen, drawn up by the
keeper of the house of Fecamp, when she left France
(p. 47). Mary visited Fecamp in July or August
1561, to pay her last duty to the remains of her mother,
which then lay in state there, on their way from Scot-
land, where she died, to their last resting-place in
her sister’s abbey of St. Pierre at Rheims.

After the Queen was sent to Lochleven, on the
17th of June 1567, the Confederated Lords ¢ went
doun to the Palace of Halyrud hous, and tooke up an
inventar of the plait, jewells, and other movables.’—
(Calderwood’s History of the Kirk of Scotland, vol.
ii. p. 366.)



THE PREFACE. xi

the custody of the Earl of Arran, who, as next heir to the throne, was
appointed Governor of Scotland, and Tutor to the infant Queen. He gave up
these high offices in 1554, when he had royal and parliamentary discharges,'
in the amplest terms, of all the property of the crown which had been in
his keeping. But some jewels, tapestry, and cloths of state, were still left
in his hands; and these, in the summer of 1556, he sent to France, by Sir
James Hamilton, a gentleman of his household, who received an acquittance
from the Queen, which takes the first place in the following sheets.” Among
the articles which it enumerates, is a richly jewelled dagger, the gift, as we

learn elsewhere, of King Francis the First of France to his son-in-law, King

James the Fifth of Scotland.®

The Inventories made during the eighteen years of
Mary’s captivity do not fall within the scope of this
volume. Prince Labanoff has printed the most in-
teresting of them—the ¢ Inventaire de la Garde-Robe,’
made at Chartley in June 1586; the ¢Inventaire de
différentes Broderies et Quvrages,” made at Chartley
in July 1586; the ‘ Inventaire des Bijoux, de I'Argen-
terie et d'autres menus objets,” made at Chartley in
August 1586 ; and the ‘Inventarye of the Jewells
Plate Money and other goods found in the custody
of the severall servantes of the late Quene of Scottes,’
made at Fotheringhay, in February 1587.—(Lettres
de Marie Stuart, t. vii. pp. 229-274.)

! They acquit him of ¢all poisis sowmes of moncy
plait weschell of silvir or gold with all vthir gold and
silvir baith cunyeit and vncunyeit jowellis ringis tar-
gattis precius stanis baith sett in nngis targattis
and abilyementis or vthirwayis or yit vnsett in ony
thing arraymentis clething with all kynd of abilye-
mentis hornis buttonis of gold or silvir and all vthir
accowtrementis thairof all tappessaries hingaris orna-
mentis of housis and chalmeris bedding with all
maner of plennissing and insycht of palacijs hallis
chalmeris and houssis quhatsumeuir,’ and “all bannatis
coveringis of beddis claithis of estait veschellis capa-
risonis harnissingis sadillis and vtheris accoutrimentis
for horss with all gamissingis thairof veluote and all
vther kynd of silkis schaipin or vnschaipin with all
vthir guidis geir jowellis and thingis quhatsumeuer.’
—(Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 600-
604. Miscellany of the Maitland Club, vol. iv. pp.
112-115.)

It was brought back to Holyrood in 1561, and

The terms of this enumeration have obvious refer-
ence to the contents of the ‘Inventaris of the Silver
Werk Jowellis and Abilyementis’ of King James v.
in 1542, printed in the late Mr. Thomas Thomson’s
Collection of Inventories of the Royal Wardrobe and
Jewelhouse, pp. 55-106. Edinb. 1815.

! Pp. 3-6.

It is apparently to these jewels that the Queen
refers in a letter to her mother, conjectured by
Prince Labanoff to be of the year 1552, but more
probably of the year 1555 or 1556: ‘J’é entendu
par les gens de mon cousin le Conte de Chateleraut
[Arran], que son pére me vouloit envoier un gentil-
lome qui m’aporterait quelques bagues & ses paques,
toutesfois je n’en suis pas sertaine.’ — (Lettres de
Marie Stuart, t. i p. 6.)

The acquittance in the text is included in Mr.
Thomson's Collection of Inventories, pp. 116-120.

The original is in the charter-room of the Duke
of Hamilton, to whom it has descended with the
titles and estates of his ancestor, the first Duke of
Chatelherault, or, as he wrote himself during his
Regency, ¢ James, by the grace of God, Earl of Arran
and Lord Hamilton, Governor and Prince of Scot-
land.’—(Epistolae Regum Scotorum, vol. ii. pp. 154,
155, 159, 162, 164, 165, 176, 177.)

3 P. 6. It is described in the Inventory of King
James v. in 1542, as ‘ane quhinyear with ane scheith
of gold quhilk the King of France gaif to the Kingis
Grace set with ane gryt sapheir on the heid with xix
rubeis and thrie dyamonttis upoun the heft and upoun
the scheith twantic sevin rubeis gryt and small sex

Jewelled dagger
given by Francis 1.
to James v.



xii THE PREFACE.

is last heard of, five years afterwards, in the hands of that Lord Ruthven who
rose from his deathbed to play such a memorable part in the murder of Riccio.!

It does not appear how far the scanty list of 1556 is to be received as an
account of all that then remained in the Jewel-House and Wardrobe of Scotland.
We are told only that most part of the not inconsiderable treasures which they
contained at the death of the Queen’s father, had been sold to support the war
with England during the first years of the Regency.®* More than one object

Loss of historical Of note would seem thus to have been lost, such as the coat worn by King

jewel. .
emes ae James the Fifth when, receiving honours never before paid to any foreign
prince, he rode through the streets of Paris to seek the hand of the eldest

Daughter of France;* the little cups of gold, basin of agate, ewer of jasper,

amerantis greit and small sex dyamontis tablit with
ane gryt knop of gold and fass of gold wyre and
silver set with small rubeis and perle upoun the end
of the fass.”—(Mr. Thomson’s Collection of Inven-
tories, p. 70.)

1 P, 13: *Ledit poygnar a estez enuoye a Millor
Roven en Engleterre.’

Lord Ruthven fled to England immediately after
Riccio’s murder, *his conscience bearing him record,’
as he wrote to Cecil, that all that he had done was
¢ for the good of religion." He died there on the 13th
of May 1566. Morton, his companion in exile, de-
scribed his end as ‘so godly that all men that saw
it did rejoice.’—(Calendar of State Papers relating to
Scotland, volL i pp. 231-233, 838. Registrum Se-
creti Sigilli, vol. xxxvi. fol. 30. Ms. Register House.)

Lord Ruthven and his second wife, Janet Stewart,
were in such favour with the Queen, that, in order to
have them beside her, she gave them one of the con-
ventual buildings within the precinct of Holyrood.—
(Registrum Magni Sigilli, 1. Decemb. 1564, lib. xxxii.
no. 335 Ms. Register House.)

Lord Ruthven’s remarkable narrative of the assassi-
nation of Rizzio, reports a conversation between him
and the Queen, while she was yet ignorant of the fate
of the Italian: ¢ Remember ye not, said she, what the
Earl of Murray would have had me done to you for
giving me the ring? The said Lord Ruthven an-
swered that he would bear no quarrel for that cause,
but would forgive him and all others for God’s sake ;
and as to that ring, it had no more virtue than another,
and was one little ring with a pointed diamond in

it. Remember ye not, said her Majesty, that ye said
it had a virtue to keep me from poisoning? Yea,
madam, said he ; I'said so much that the ring had that
virtue, only to take that evil opinion out of your
head of poisoning, which you conceived that the
Protestants would have done.’—(Lord Ruthven’s Re-
lation of the Death of David Rizzi, in Scotia Rediviva,
Pp. 347, 348.)—Among Queen Mary's jewels at
Fotheringhay were two stones, one ¢medicinable
against poyson,’ the other ‘medicinable for the col-
licke.”—(Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart,
t. vil. p. 258.)

2 ¢The noble and mychtie prince James duke of
Chattellarawlt erle of Arrane lord Hammiltoun. . .
having fund . . . this . . . realme . . . vndir cruell
weris regnand betuix the samyn . . . and the realme
of Ingland . . . hes . . . expendit. . . all kynd of
jowellis ringis preciouss stanis abulyeamentis garnist
and vngarnist with stanis and vthirwayis hingaris
tapesreis . . . and all vthir thingis quhatsumeuer
quhilkis pertenit to vmquhile Oure Souerane Ladijs
fader . . . the tyme of his deceiss."—(Acts of the
Parliament of Scotland, vol. ii. p. 603.)

It is said that when the Regent Murray, after his
victory at Langside, seized Hamilton Palace, he found
in it some of the household stuff of King James v.—
(G. Buchanani Rerum Scoticarum Historia, lib. xix.
¢ 12.)—But we must not give too much trust to one
who, born a Lennox man, was the hereditary enemy
of the house of Hamilton.

$ ¢ Ane cott of sad cramasy velvott quhilk was the
Kingis Graces enterie coitt in Pareis reschit all our
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and flagon of rock-crystal, made for his fond bride when she was a child ;!
the church-plate and vestments, and the dresses which she brought with her to
the country where she was so soon to find a grave;® a mystical cap or diadem
blessed at Rome by the successor of St. Peter, on Christmas eve,—either
the cap which Pope Julius the Second sent to King James the Fourth, along
with what is now shown as the Sword of State of the Scottish Regalia,® or,
more probably, the cap which Pope Paul the Third sent to King James the
Fifth, along with a sword which he was vainly exhorted to draw against the
King, his near kinsman and neighbour, who had been too long allowed to
bear that title of Defender of the Faith which was now offered to the King of
the Scots. A loss still more to be regretted is that of the cup from which
Bruce was used to drink.® It was the last memorial of the great King which re-
mained in the Treasury. His four mazers® had disappeared in the previous reign,

with gold cuttit out on plane clayth of gold freinyeit
with gold and all cuttit out knit with hornis and lynit
with reid taffate.”—(Mr. Thomson's Collection of In-
ventories, pp. 80, 81. M. Teulet, Papiers d'Etat
relatifs 4 I'Histoire de I'Ecosse, t. i. pp. 132-125.
Bishop Lesley’s History of Scotland, p. 151.)

1 ¢Twa lytill small culppis of gold maid to Quene
Magdalene quhane scho was ane baime. Item ane
bassing and laver siclyk maid for hir in hir barne-
heid the tane of aget the uther of jespe sett in gold
with ane lytill flacone of cristalline of the samyne
sort.”—(Mr. Thomson's Collection of Inventories,

63.)

i 3 ?‘The Alter grayth quhilk wes Quene Magdalenis
. « . The Claythis quhilk pertenit to umquhill Quene
Magdalene quhome God assoilyic.'—(Mr. Thomson's
Collection of Inventories, pp. 58, 100, 101.)

3 ¢The Hatt that cam fra the Paipe of gray vel-
vett with the Haly Gaist sett all with orient perle.’
—(Mr. Thomson's Collection of Inventories, pp. 49,

6.)
7 ¢ Julius the Secound, Paip for the tyme, send ane
ambassadour to the King, declaring him to be Pro-
tectour and Defendour of Christen faythe, and in signe
thairof, send unto him ane purpour diadame wrocht
with flouris of gold, with ane sword, having the hiltis
and skabert of gold, sett with precious stains.’—
(Bishop Lesley’s History of Scotland, p. 75. Leslaei

De Rebus Gestis Scotorum, lib. viii. p. 345, edit. 1578,
Papers relative to the Regalia of Scotland, pp. 23,
44- Sir W. Scott’s Miscellanecus Prose Works, vol.
vii. pp. 307, 308, edit. 1834.)

In saying that the title of Defender of the Faith was
given to King James 1v., Bishop Lesley has appar-
ently confused the Papal Embassy of 1507, with the
Papal Embassy of 1536. The letter of thanks sent
by King James 1v. to Pope Julius 11. acknowledges
the cap and sword—‘ensem et pileum, sacratissima
Nativitatis Domini nocte, tuia felici manu benedictum’
—but is silent as to any gift of style or title.—(Epis-
tolae Regum Scotorum, vol i p. 82.)

¢ History of Scotland, by William Drummond. of
Hawthornden, pp. 304-306, edit. 1681 ; Works, pp.
101, 102, Edinb. 1711. Mr. Tytler's History of Scot-
land, vol. iv. p. 223, edit. 1845.

§ ¢Ane culp quhilk was King Robert Bruicis
gilt."—(Inventar of the Silver Wark in the Regis-
ter Hous within the Castell [29. November 1542],
in Mr. Thomson’s Collection of Inventories, pp. 73,
11L)

¢ ¢Foure Masaris callit King Robert the Brocis
with a cover . . . Item the hedc of silver of ane of
the coveris of masar.’—(Jowellis fund in the Castell
[17. June 1488), in Mr. Thomson’s Collection of In-
ventories, p. 8.)

The mazer was a bow! or drinking vessel of wood,
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together with his shirt,’ which had long hung in the Castle, and his sword,?
which had*been recovered from the battlefield on which King James the Third

lost his life.

The spoil of cloth of gold and silk won by that sword at

Bannockburn still clothed the priests, and glittered on the altars of many an

abbey and cathedral church ;’ but these trophies also were soon to perish in

the tumult of the Reformation, or the more fatal neglect which followed,

suffering even the sepulchre of Bruce himself to be swept away.

The two Inventories next in date belong to the first days of the Scottish

Queen'’s first widowhood.

generally the knotty - grained maple, often richly

mounted with silver or gold.—(Note by Mr. Albert
Way, in the Promptorium Parvulorum, vol. ii. p.
328.) Two or three mazers are mentioned among the
spoil taken by King Edward 1. from the Castle of
Edinburgh in 1296.—(Archzological Journal, vol. xiii.
p. 247. Lond. 1856.) ¢ The mazer of St. Erkenwald’
appears in an Inventory of the Dean and Chapter of
St. Paul's at London, in 1295. ¢The mazer of St.
Thomas of Canterbury’ was among the treasures of
King Charles V1. of France, in 1399. ¢ The mazer of
St. Louis’ was shown at St. Denis in 1470.—(M. le
Comte de Laborde, Notice des Emaux, Bijoux et
Objets Divers, exposés dans les galeries du Musée
de Louvre, par. ii, *Glossaire,’ pp. 371-377, edit.
1853.)

‘53‘ Item ressavit in the cloissat of Davidis Tour
. . . King Robert Brucis serk."—(Jowellis fund in
the Castell [17. June 1488], in Mr, Thomson’s Col-
lection of Inventories, p. 8.)

In the same way the shirt of King Lewis ix.—‘la
chemise Saint Loys, dont il fault une manche’—was
preserved among the treasures of France.—(Inven-
tory of King Charles vI. in 1420, quoted by M.
le Comte de Laborde, Notice des Emaux, par. ii.,
¢ Glossaire,” p. 481.)

The shirt of our own St. Margaret—* camisia Beate
Margarete Regine;’ ‘Sanct Margaretis sark’— was
kept beside her shrine in Dunfermline; and the
Queens of Scotland still continued, in the fifteenth
and sixteenth centuries, to clothe themselves in it
in their hour of travail — (Rotuli Scaccarii Regum

Scotorum, no. 211, A.D. 1450-1451. Ms. Register
House. Compotum Thesaurarii Regis Scotorum,
10. Martii 1511-1512. MS. Register House.)

In the fourteenth century, the Earls of Ross went
to battle in the shirt of St. Duthac, which hung in
one of the churches within his sanctuary at Tain.—
(J. Major De Gestis Scotorum, lib. v. cap. xii.)

So early as the close of the seventh century the
shirt in which St. Columba died—*tunica qua etiam
hora exitus ejus de carne indutus erat’—was believed
to be endowed with preternatural powers, and was
used by the monks of Iona, as a charm to bring down
rain upon their corn-fields.—(Adamnan’s Life of St.
Columba, pp. 175, 321-323. Dr. Reeves’s edit.)

$ ¢ Waltero Simsoun pro . . . recuperacione . . .
cuiusdam gladii quondam Regis Roberti Bruce in bello
prope Striueling in die Sancti Bamabe apostoli et
Domino Regi deliberati.’—(Compotum Camerarii de
Menteth, 1488-1489, Rotuli Scaccarii Regum Scot-
orum, no. 295. Ms. Register House.)

It was, perhaps, a sword of Bruce which was
shown in the armoury of the French King in 1499, as
¢ the sword of the Hardy King of Scots:’ ¢ Une espée,
la poignée de fouet blanc, au pommeau une Nostre
Dame d'un costé et Saint Michel de 'autre, nomme
I Espee du Roy d’ Escosse, qus fust fort Hardy, laquelle
fust donnée au feu Roy Loys quant il espousa Madame
la Dauphine.’—(Inventaire du Chédtean d’Amboise,
quoted by M. le Comte de Laborde in his Notice
des Emaux, par. ii., ¢ Glossaire,’ p. 482.)

3 ¢ Tapetes autem quos multos ex regio ceperat

St. Duthac's
shirt.

St. Columba's
shirt.

Bruce’s sword.

Spoils of Ban-

tentorio ex bysso pretiosissima auro intextos coenobiis Bockburn.
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Her sickly husband, King Francis the Second, died in December 1560 ;
and Mary, hastening to quit a court which was now under the sway of one
whom, in her brief day of power, she had taunted with being a merchant’s
daughter,' followed the Duke of Guise to Joinville in March 1561. On the
eve of her departure, she made over to Catharine of Medicis, the Queen
Mother, the crown jewels of France, as described in two lists, which set forth
the price at which each jewel was valued by a goldsmith of the French King,
and by two goldsmiths of the King of Navarre.? A diamond cross, it will
be seen, is reckoned at 50,000 crowns; a large diamond, which had been
bought by King Francis the First, at 65,000 crowns; a big ruby, known

as the Egg of Naples, at 70,000 crowns.

In all, the forty-two pieces enu-

merated are estimated to be worth 490,914 crowns.

It was stipulated in Queen Mary’s marriage-contract, that if she survived
her husband, she might either abide in France, or return to Scotland, at her

Praedicatorum per regnum diuisit, vt inde ad sacrorum
vsum ornamenta fierent : quae hac nostra adhuc extant
memoria.’—(H. Boethii Scotorum Historiae, lib. xiv.
fol. 303. edit. 1575.)

¢ The goldin and silkin claithis, of quhilkis King
Edwardis palyonis war maid, war distribut amang the
abbayis of Scotland, to be vestamentis and frontallis
to thair altaris ; of quhilkis mony yit remanis to our
days.” — (Archdean Bellenden’s Translation of H.
Boece’s History of Scotland, book xiv. chap. xi.)

¢ King Edwardis tent, all of ane clayth of gold, . . .

Wes consecrat to Halie Kirk, to be

Maid vestiment, quhilk yit is for to se

In sindrie places now of the Black Freiris,

And yit wilbe lang efter mony yeiris.’
—(Stewart’s Buik of the Chruniclis of Scotland, vol.
iii. pp. 237, 238)

¢Vna capella vetus ex auro textili dicta cherbulink
ex spolio conflictus de Bannokburne continens vnam
cappam:vnam casulam vnam tunicellam et dalmaticam
cum quindecim paramentis duobus antependijs ante et
retro pro summo altari longitudinis eiusdem.’—(In-
uentarium Omamentorum Summi Altaris Ecclesie

Cathedralis Aberdonensis A. D. 1549, in the Registrum
Episcopatus Aberdonensis, vol. ii. pp. 189, 190.)

Perhaps we should recognise tokens of Bruce’s
great victory in the chasuble, tunicles, and copes
described in one of the Inventories of 1569 as em-
broidered with the arms of ¢ King Edward’ (p. 184).

1 ¢La Regina di Scotia un giono gli disse che non
sarrebe mai altro che figlia di um mercante.’—(Letter
of the Pope’s Nuncio in France, quoted by M.
Cheruel in his Marie Stuart et Catherine de Médicis,
p. 17. Paris, 1858.)

¢ Our Quen, then Douagiere of France, retired hir
self be litle and litle farther and farther fra the Court
of France, that it suld not seam that sche was in
any sort compellit therunto, as of a treuth sche was,
be the Quen Mothers rygorous and vengeable deal-
ing; wha allegit that sche was dispysed be hir gud
dochter, during the schort regne of King Francis the
Secund hir husband, be the instigation of the house
of Guise.’—(Memoirs of his Own Life, by Sir James
Melville of Halhill, p. 88, edit. 1827.)

8 Appendix I and I pp. 191-205.

They are now printed for the first time from tran-

Inventory of
Queess Mary's
Jewels at her
leaving France,
in August1561.



xvi

THE PREFACE.

pleasure, taking with her such plate, rings, gems, apparel, and the like, as the
Queens of France had been accustomed to have, after the demise of the Kings
their consorts.' The next Inventory® appears to be of the jewels which fell
to her in this way, mixed up with others sent to her from Scotland,’® or acquired
in France by gift, inheritance, or purchase.* The list is without date, but it
must have been written after the fifth of December 1560, when King Francis
the Second died, for it speaks of the Queen as the Dowager of France;®
and before the fifteenth of August 1561,® when she set sail from the French
shore, for it describes, as still in her possession, a string of pearls which, as
we are told by a note on the margin, was afterwards taken for caps to her
cousins of Lorraine,” and a necklace of rubies, emeralds, and diamonds, which,
as another note informs us, was given to her aunt the Duchess of Guise, at

Calais®*—the port where Mary took ship for Scotland, and received the last

farewells of the brilliant escort of her French kinsfolks.®

scripts from the originals in the Bibliothéque Impériale
at Paris (Ms. Frangois, no. 10370), for which the
Editor is indebted to the courtesy of M. Teulet,
whose learned and accurate researches in the French
archives have done so much for the history of Scot-
land in its relations with France.

1 ¢Et si emportera ses derniers vaisselle bagues
joyaulx habillemens meubles pretieux biens et aultres
choses que les Roynes de France doiuent et ont ac-
coustume davoir apres le trespas des Roys de France
leurs marys.”—(Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland,
vol. ii. p. §12.)

*Pp. 7-17. ,

It is now printed, for the first time, from the origi-
nal in the Register House.

3 Compare p. 13 and p. 6; p. 15 and p. §. .

4+ ¢La Royne vostre fille, a desjd assez d'aultres
semblables bagues [émerauldes] ; et advenant qu'elle
se veuille parer, la cognoissant honneste comme je
faictz, je ne refuseray & luy prester des vostres; et
puis 'il vous plaist luy aulmosner de celles que vous
avez, ainsy qu'il vous a pleu nous promettre, nous
aurons moyen de la faire bien jolye quant il en sera
besoing.'—(Letter from the Cardinal of Lorraine to
his sister the Queen Dowager and Regent of Scotland,

25. February 1552-53, printed by Prince Labanoff, in
his Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. i p. 12.)

Queen Mary of Guise had a dowry in France of
10,000 livres a year, as Duchess Dowager of Longue-
ville.—(ms. Register House.)

SP.7 ’

¢ The Inventory may have been drawn up in March
1561, when the Queen passed a day or two in Paris to
¢ look upon such robes and jewels as she had there.’
—(Letter from Throckmorton to Queen Elizabeth,
31. March 1561, quoted by Miss Strickland, in her
Lives of the Queens of Scotland, vol. iii. p. 167.)

TP 1L

*P. 10,

? ¢ Estant acheminéde par terre & Calais, accom-
pagnée de Messieurs tous ses oncles, M. de Nemours,
et de la pluspart des grands et honnestes de la
Court, ensemble des dames, comme de Madame de
Guyse et autres, tous regrettans et pleurans A chaudes
larmes P'absence d’une telle Reyne.’ — (Brantéme,
t v. p. 92. Bishop Lesley’s History of Scotland,
P- 297.)

Mary was accompanied to Scotland by three of her
uncles (the Duke of Aumale, the Grand Prior of
France, and the Marquis of Elbeuf), by M. Danville,
son of the Duke of Montmorency, and by more than
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The Inventory enumerates one hundred and fifty-nine articles, of which
forty-three were in the Queen’s cabinet,' a piece of furniture which was then

only coming into use. Among its contents will be seen a large diamond set in

The Great Harry,
a jewel given by

gold, with a gold chain, and a large ruby attached, which, under the name of g::yf.y"-to Queen

the Great Harry, came afterwards to be regarded as one of the chief jewels of

the Scottish crown. It appears to have been a gift to the Queen from her boy

husband’s father, King Henry the Second of France, whose cypher it bore.?
A miniature of King James the Fifth, in a gold case shaped like an apple,® Miniature of King

would be doubly interesting if we could be assured that it was the work of Scottish
hands. Another article in the list, is one of the roses of gold yearly blessed by
the Pope, on the fourth Sunday in Lent, and sent by him to such Christian prince

or potentate as he wishes specially to honour.*

It seems to have been pre-

ames V.

sented by the dissolute Borgia to the noblest of the Stewarts,*—by Pope Alex- Golden Rose sent
by Pope Alexander

ander the Sixth, to King James the Fourth.® The marginal note which records

the gift of certain pearls to ¢ Merna’ or  Marnac,’” brings before us a humble
name, which yet has found a place in one of the sternest pages of religious his-

a hundred gentlemen, among whom were the ever
lively, self-satisfied Brantéme, and the kinsman of the
chivalrous Bayard, the hapless Chastellard. —(Bran-
téme, t. iil. p. 368; t. v. pp. 92, 122.)

1P 1s.

3Pp. 7, 75, 90, 93. Mr. Thomson’s Collection
of Inventories, pp. 196, 197, 200, 265, 291, 307,
318, 329.

' P, 16.

¢ Du Cange, Glossarium Mediae Latinitatis, tom.
v. col. 1497, voce ¢ Rosa Aurea,’ edit. 1733-6.

The usage, it would seem, still continues. It is but
the other day that the newspapers told us that the
Golden Rose had been sent by Pope Pius IX. to the
Queen of Naples.

Towards the close of the twelfth century, it would
appear that the Rose was a mark of tribute due to the
newly-restored Praefect of Rome, whose prerogative
had not yet been shom by Pope Innocent 11r. The
Archbishop of Lyons writes to the Bishop of Glas-
gow, between the years 1199 and 1202 : ¢ In Domi-
nica, qua cantatur Lacfare Ferusalem, expleta solemni

processione, in qua Rosam Auream idem summus
Pontifex circumportat, ipsum [Praefectum urbis
Romae) quasi pro debiti exequutione eadem Rosa
remunerat.'—(Mabillonii Vetera Analecta, pp. 478-9,
edit. 1723.)

$ A fortunate digression of Erasmus, on the ambi-
tion of princes, shows how high a place King James
1v. of Scotland held in the opinion of contemporary
Europe: ¢ Erat ea corporis specie, ut vel procul Regem
posses agnoscere. Ingenii vis mira, incredibilis rerum
omnium cognitio, invicta animi magnitudo, vere regia
pectoris sublimitas, summa comitas, effusissima libe-
ralitas. Denique nulla virtus erat quae magnum
deceret principem, in qua ille non sic excelleret, ut
inimicorum quoque suffmgio laudaretur.’— (Adagia,
woce * Spartam nactus es, hanc orna,’ col. 1634, edit.
Aurel. Allobrog. 1606.)

$ A.D. 1494. *The Paip Alexander the Sixt send
ane protonotar callit Forman in Scotland, with ane
roise and septour of gold to the King.'—(Bishop
Lesley’s History of Scotland, p. 63.)

7 Pp. 11, 82.

VL to James 1v.
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tory,—the French valet, who, as Knox writes, not without exultation, could
scarcely find handkerchiefs to dry the flood of tears to which the Queen gave
way under the vehemence of the Reformer’s rebuke.! We see no trace of the
diamond heart, which was sent by Mary, soon after her arrival in Scotland, to
Queen Elizabeth,’ along with some French verses, written, it has been said,
by the Scottish Queen herself, and turned into Latin in the courts of both
countries,—by Buchanan at Holyrood, and by Sir Thomas Chaloner at White-

hall.® It was, doubtless, bought or fashioned for the occasion.

The first
Inventory taken in Scotland * is of moveables left by Mary’s mother, the
Queen Regent, and delivered, in September 1561, to Servais de Conde, a
trusted valet of the Queen’s chamber, afterwards appointed keeper of her

Hitherto we have had to speak of Inventories made in France.

Palace of Holyrood.®

! ¢ And with these wordis, skarslie could Mar-
nock, hir secreat-chalmer boy, gett neapkynes to
hold hyr eyes drye for the tearis; and the owling,
besydes womanlie weaping, stayed hir speiche.’—
(Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. ii. p. 387.)

# Calendar of State Papers relating to Scotland,
vol. i. p. 185. Jebb, De Vita Mariae Reginae Scoto-
rum, t. ii. pp. 23, 24, 196.

3 ¢ Adamas in cordis effigiem sculptus, annuloque
insertus, quem Maria Scotorum Regina ad Eliza-
betham Anglorum Reginam misit.’—(G. Buchanani
Hendecasyllabon, xi.)—¢ Translatio quorundam car-
minum quae Gallico primum sermone conscripta, a
serenissima Scotiae Regina in mutuae amicitiae pig-
nus, una cum excellentis operis annulo, in quo insignis
adamas prominebat, ad serenissinam Angliae Reginam
Elizabetham missa fuerant.”—(Sir Thomas Chaloner,
De Republica Anglorum Instauranda, p. 353. Lond.
1579.)

The original French seems to be lost.

Buchanan wrote other two sets of Latin verses on
the same diamond. ¢ De adamante misso a Regina
Scotiae ad Reginam Angliae.” ¢ Loquitur adamas in
cordis effigiem sculptus quem Maria Elizabethae Anglae

Ninety-six articles are enumerated. There are five

misit.”’—(G. Buchanani Epigrammatum, lib. i. no. 59,
lib. iii. no. 8)

¢ Pp. 18-27.

It is printed from the original in the Register House.

Although it gives account of things received in
September 1561, it would seem to have been written
(probably from an older Inventory) after the Earl of
Murray had assumed the Regency in August 1567.
It is authenticated by the signature of his secretary,
Mr. John Wood of Tilliedavy, one of the Lords of
Session ; and may have been prepared, at the same
time with another Inventory likewise authenticated
by his signature, in November 1569 (pp. 179-187).

It is included in Mr. Thomson’s Collection of In-
ventories, pp. 123-132.

In judging of the appointments of Holyrood from
this Inventory, it is to be remembered that the Palace
had been in the hands of the Reformers in July
1569.—(Leslaei De Rebus Gestis Scotorum, p. 551I.
Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. i. pp. 364,
377, 378.)

¢ ¢ Ane lettre maid to Seruais de Condez warlett of
hir Hienes chalmer gevand to him the keiping of hir
Hienes Place of Haliruidhouss in oure absence indur-



. THE PREFACE.

Xix
palls or cloths of state, nine beds, two Turkey carpets, twelve suits of tapestry.
Six maps, and a pair of globes are mentioned. Five of the maps—one of
the world, and one of each of its four quarters—appear to have been in the Maps and globes.
Queen’s possession till within a few months of her death;! the globes were

found in her chamber after her execution at Fotheringhay.?
ten paintings, all it would seem on panel, one of the Muses, another of ¢ Gro- Paintings.

There are

tesque or Conceits,’ and eight of the German Doctors, or, as they seem else-
where to be called, the New Doctors.® Like most of the other lists, this has
a great many notes explaining how certain articles had been disposed of. These
notes in the original are written on the margin, for the most part in another
hand; they are here printed in smaller type under the articles to which
they refer.

We have next an Inventory of furniture in Holyrood in November suventory of the
s

1561.* It contains a hundred and eighty-six entries, or about twice as many ables in Holy-
rood, in Novem

1561.

ing oure will And the said Seruais to ansuer for all
thingis that is within the said Palice that be deliuerit
to him in keiping be Seigneur Frances superintendent
of oure biggingis And gife ony thing inlaikis that be
deliuerit to the said Serwais it salbe rebaittit in his
feall Thairfore it is hir Hienes will that all the keyis
of the Lordis chalmeris and Gentillwemen chalmeris
with office houssis and vthiris and yettis within oure
said Palice be deliverit to the said Serwais at hir
Hienes delugeing thairfra quhill hir hamecuming
And for vsing and keiping of the said Palice oure
Souerane Ladie gevis . . . to the said Serwais in
yeirlie feall . . . ane hundreth merkis money . . .
At Haliruidhous the twentie daye of Januare the yeir
of God j= ve Ixiiij yeiris Per signaturam.’—(Regis-
trum Secreti Sigilli, vol. xxxii. foll. 72, 73. Ms.
Register House.)

! P. 25, nn. 68, 69.

3 Inventaire des Bijoux, de I'Argenterie et d'autres
menus objets appartenant a Marie Stuart, made at
Chartley, in August 1586, printed by Prince Laban-
off, in his Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii. p. 249.

There seems to have been a map of Scotland at
Holyrood in 1565. The English envoy relates that
when Lord Darnley was shown *in the Scotch mappe’
the vast territories of which the Earl of Murray had
already possessed himself, he exclaimed, ‘It is too
much.’—(Letter from Randolph to Cecil, 20. March
1564-5, in Mr. T. Wright's Queen Elizabeth and her
Times, vol. i p. 195.)

Inventarye of the Jewells Plate money and other
goods of the Quene of Scottes, made at Fotheringhay,
20. February 1587, printed by Prince Labanoff, in
his Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii. p. 271.

* P. 25, nn. 70, 71 ; p. 186,

¢ Pp. 28-48.

It is printed from the original in the Register
House.

Although it gives account of things received in
November 1561, it would seem to have been written
(probably from an older Inventory) after the Earl of
Murray had assumed the Regency in August 1567.
It is authenticated by the signature of his secretary,
Mr. John Wood, and may have been prepared at the
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as the Inventory of the moveables of Queen Mary of Guise, made two months
before. There are ten cloths of state, forty-five beds, thirty-six Turkey car-
pets, twenty-three suits of tapestry. One of the embroidered cloths of state,
bearing the arms of Scotland and Lorraine,' seems to have followed the Queen
to the last but one of her many places of captivity.® Twelve of the beds are
described as embroidered, three as pasmented with gold or silver, five as plain,
thirteen as old, and twelve as wooden, that is, simple frames without hangings.
One of the suits of tapestry is spoken of as still in the embroiderers’ hands.’
Another, representing the Labours of Hercules, would seem to have lined the
walls of Holyrood since the marriage of the Princess Margaret of England with
King James the Fourth, in 1503.* A third figured the famous victory gained
by the French under the youthful Gaston of Foix, at Ravenna, in 1512.° This
appears to have been a favourite with the Queen; she had rooms at Chartley
and at Fotheringhay® hung with it. Five canopies are mentioned, one of them
in terms which show that it was used by the Queen as a parasol.” We find but

same time with another Inventory likewise authenti-
cated by his signature, in November 1569 (pp. 179-
187).

It is included in Mr. Thomson’s Collection of In-
ventories, pp. 133-152.

1 Pp. 28, 29, no. 4

% ¢<Un autre daiz de velloux viollet, faict en bro-
derie des armes d'Escosse et de Lorraine.”—(Inven-
taire de la Garde-Robe de Marie Stuart, made at
Chartley, 13. June 1586, printed by Prince Labanoff,
in his Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii. p. 236.)

At Tutbury, in April 1585, Sir Amias Poulet re-
moved the Scottish Queen’s cloth of state from hergreat
chamber, contending that there should be only one
cloth of state in England. But a small cloth of state
was suffered to remain in the room where the Queen
dined and supped : ‘It represented by letters the
names of the Queen's father and mother, with the
arms of Scotland in the middle quartered with the
arms of Lorraine’—(G. Chalmers’s Life of Mary
Queen of Scots, vol. ii. p. 144, edit. 1822. Calendar
of State Papers relating to Scotland, vol. ii. p. 969.)

At Fotheringhay, after sentence of death had been
given against her, Poulet ordered her cloth of state to

be torn down ; and some of the last letters which she
wrote complain of the act as a cruel indignity.—(Jebb,
De Vita Mariae Scotorum Reginae, t. ii. pp. 41, 91,
293, 294. Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart,
t. vi. pp. 464, 469, 470, 478, 479.)

3 P. 38, no. 74

¢ P. 39, no. 88. Mr. Thomson's Collection of
Inventories, pp. 51, 103. Relation of John Younge,
Somerset Herald, in Leland’s Collectanea, vol. iv.
PP- 295, 296, edit. 1774. Prince Labanoff, Lettres
de Marie Stuart, tom. vii. p. 236,

¢ P. 38, no. 78 Mr. Thomson'’s Collections of
Inventories, p. 212.

¢ Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii.
Pp- 236, 273.

7 P. 33, no. 33; p. 156. Mr. Thomson's Collec-
tion of Inventories, p. 208.

Recent research has discovered the parasol in the
paintings and sculptures of Egypt and Assyria. Du
Cange quotes Aristophanes and Claudian for its use
among the Greeks and the Romans. He finds the
word umbrella in the twelfth century, used apparently
to signify the modemn parasol. —(Glossarium Mediae
Latinitatis, tom. vi., coll. 1669-70, voce ¢ Umbellum.’)
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one table and one chair. The table is described as painted and gilt;' the
chair as high, covered with velvet and cloth of gold embroidered. It was
obviously a seat of state.? There are no more than two folding stools and
three low stools, all of them covered with velvet.® As many as eighty-one
cushions are enumerated ; eleven covered with velvet, thirty-three with cloth
of gold, fifteen with cloth of silver, thirteen with satin embroidered or brocaded,
six with needlework of silk, three with needlework of worsted.* Of four
table-covers, three are of velvet, one being embroidered with the lilies of
France in thread of gold.® There are twenty-four linen table-cloths, two of
them together measuring fourteen yards, other two, with a cloth for the cup-
board (or, as we should now call it, the sideboard), being of damask.® There
is mention of a litter,” covered with velvet fringed with gold and silk; and
we learn elsewhere that the Queen had a coach,® although she seldom used it,
choosing rather, in those early days, to ride on horseback, with a steel bonnet
on her head, and a pistol at her saddle-bow, in time of war, regretting only,
as she said, that she was not a man to know what life it was to lie all night

—Mr. T. Wright thinks that the umbrella, in our
sense of the word, was known to the Anglo-Saxons.—
(History of Domestic Manners in England, p. 75.)

1 P. 42, no. 115.

1 P. 34, no. 36.

* P. 34, nn. 37, 38.

¢ Pp. 36, 43-45.

* Pp. 35, 36.

¢ Pp. 46-48.

TP 41.

3 ¢To the smythis in Sanctandrois for thair labouris
in mending of the Quenis Graces coiche at the Maister
Stabillaris command xx schillingis.” — (Computum
Thesaurarii Reginae Scotorum, March 1561-2. Ms.
Register House. )

¢ Vpoun the ferd day of Maij [1562], my Lord
Arrane . . . come fra Sanctandrois . . . to Edin-
burgh . . . in the Quenis Graces cosche, becaus of
the frenasie.”—(Diurnal of Occurrents, p. 72.)

In 1550, there are said to have been but three
coaches in Paris, of which Catharine of Medicis had
one, Diana of France, another, and the unwieldy

lord of Bois-Dauphin, the third. They increased so
rapidly, that in 1563 the parliament of Paris petitioned
the King to forbid their use within the capital. —(M.
D. Ramée, Histoire des Chars, Carosses et Voitures,
pp. 68, 76. Paris 1856.) A coach of the reign of
Henry 11. (1547-1559), figured in this work, looks
exactly like a four-post bed on wheels.

There is mention more than once of the chariot of
Mary’s mother, Queen Mary of Guise. In July 1538,
there was a payment of 13s. from the Treasury ‘to
Alexander Naper for mending of the Quenis sadill
and hir cheriot in Sanctandrois;’ and in January
1540-1, a payment of L.7, 16s. ‘to Patrik Sklater iij
elnis blak veluet to mend the Quenis cheriot with,
price of the eln lij schillingis,’—(Computa Thesaura-
riorum Regis Scotorum. Ms. Register House.)

When the daughter of King Henry VIL came to
Scotland in 1503 to marry King James 1v., she tra-
velled for the most part on horseback, making her
entry into the towns in a litter borne by two horses.
— (Relation of John Younge, Somerset Herald, in
Leland’s Collectanea, vol. iv. p. 267.)

The Queen’s
Litter.

The Queen’s
Coach.
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in the fields, or to walk upon the causeway with a jack and a knapscull, a
Glasgow buckler, and a broadsword.!

The Inventory? next in order is of the household stuff of a great
Scottish Earl, who had ruled half the kingdom as Lieutenant of the North, and
held the office of Chancellor of the realm. Whatever may have been the
object of the Queen’s journey to Inverness in the autumn of 1562, it issued
in the utter overthrow of the Gordons. She had scarcely returned to her
capital, when two ships from Aberdeen, laden with fruits of her victory, dropped
anchor at Leith. One brought the dead body of the Earl of Huntly, rudely
embalmed, so that it might be placed at the bar of the Parliament, and arraigned
for treason, according to the custom which Scotland had borrowed from the law

of Rome.® The other brought the Queen’s share of the pillage of the Earl’s

! Letters from Randolph to Cecil, 18. September
1562, and 13. October 1565, quoted in G. Chalmers'’s
Life of Queen Mary, vol. i. pp. 133, 240, and Mr.
Tytler's History of Scotland, vol. v. pp. 223, 322
Cf. M. Teulet, Lettres de Marie Stuart, pp. 118, 125.

* Pp. 49-56.

It is printed from the original in the Register
House.

Although it gives account of things received in
December 1562, it would seem to have been written
(probably from an older Inventory) after the Earl of
Murray had assumed the Regency in August 1567.
1t is authenticated by the signature of his secretary,
Mr. John Wood, and may have been prepared at the
same time with another Inventory, likewise authenti-
cated by his signature, in November 1569 (pp. 179-
187).

It is included in Mr. Thomson's Collection of In-
ventories, pp. 153-158.

3 The Earl was slain at Corrichie on the 28th
October 1562. His body, which was very corpulent,
was disembowelled at Aberdeen and filled with spices,
by a physician, who received a fee of L.21. 10s. On
its arrival at Edinburgh, a sum of L.28. 3s. 4d. was
paid to a surgeon ‘for expensis maid be him vpoun
spicis vinagre aquauitie pulderis odouris and hardis

with sindrie vthiris necessaris and for his laubouris in
the handeling of the said Erle of Huntleis bodie that
it suld nocht putrefie.’—(Compotum Thesaurarii Re-
ginae Scotorum, Oct.—Dec. 1562. Ms. Register
House.

On the 28th of May 1563, the Earl's body was
brought to the bar of Parliament, and sentence of for-
feiture passed against it. It lay unburied in Edin-
burgh till April 1566, when it was carried north to
the tomb of the Gordons in the cathedral at Elgin,—
(Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 572-
576. Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 76, 98, 99. Knox’s
History of the Reformation, pp. 359, 380, 381.)

The right of the crown, in certain cases, to move
for doom of treason against a dead man, was unani-
mously affirmed by the Scottish Parliament in 1540,
and seems to have been the law of Scotland till the
Union. —(Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol. ii.
p. 356. Sir George Mackenzie’s Observations on the
Statutes, in his Works, vol. i. pp. 247, 248 ; and his
Laws of Scotland in Matters Criminal, part i. tit. vi
sect. xxii., in his Works, vol. ii. pp. 73, 74.) §%9% !

I have seen an unpublished letter from Queen Eliza-
beth to the Regent Morton, pleading for the exemp-
tion of the corpse:of Secretary Maitland from the
last indignity of the Scottish law : ¢ For the bodie of
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castle of Strathbogie, which, as already forfeited to the crown, was delivered
to the valet of the chamber in charge of the Palace of Holyrood.

The list recounts seventy-three articles. There are nine beds,* quite as
costly to appearance as the beds, no more in number, left by Queen Mary
The tapestry is not reckoned by suits, but there are fifty-six
pieces,® and we are told that six of them sufficed to hang the chamber in
which the King was murdered at the Kirk of the Field.* Eleven pieces were
of leather, stamped and gilt.* There is a cloth of state of satin figured
with gold, which afterwards served the Queen in her prison at Lochleven.®
Forty-eight table-cloths are mentioned, two of figured velvet, one of green
There are twenty-two cloths for
the cupboard or sideboard. There is no mention of plate, either the Earl’s
own, or that which we know had been intrusted to his keeping ; both, doubt-
less, had been carried off by friendly hands before the castle gates were flung
A velvet cushion for a book,” shows that letters were Book-cushion,

gilded and

‘We have still less doubtful tokens of taste coloured glass,
enamels,sculp-
ture, etc.

of Guise.

velvet, four of green cloth, twenty of linen.

open to the plunderer.
not wholly neglected at Strathbogie.

Liddington, who died before he was convict in judge-
ment, and before any answer by him made to the
crymes obiectid to him, it is mot our maner in this
contrey to shew crueltie vpon the dead bodies so
vnconvicted, but to suffer them streight to be buried,
and put in the earth. And so suerly we think it mete
to be done in this case, for (as we take it) it was God’s
pleasure he should by death be taken away from
thexecucion of iudgment, so we think consequently
that it was his divine pleasure that the bodie now
dead should not be laceratid, nor pullid in peeces, but
be buried like to one who died in his bed, and by
sicknes, as he did.” This was written at Croydon,
on the 19th of July 1573. Maitland died at Leith on
the gth of June, in the same year, ‘ some supponyng
he tok a drink,’ says Sir James Melville, ‘and died
as the auld Romanes wer wont to do.”—(Memoirs,
p- 256.)

Queen Elizabeth was moved to intercede with Mor-
ton by a touching letter to Lord Burleigh from Leth-
ington’s widow, who had been one of the Four Marys,
written from Edinburgh on the 21st of June 1573. It

is printed in G. Chalmers’s Life of Mary Queen of
Scots, vol. iii. p. 615. Efforts had been made in
other quarters to obtain leave to lay the Secretary’s
corpse in the grave,.—(Calendar of State Papers relat-
ing to Scotland, vol i p. 378.)

! In November 1562, a payment of L.30. 7s. was
made, by the Queen’s command, ‘to Maister Johnne
Balfour for expensis maid be him for inbringing of
George Erle of Huntleis geir this instant moneth of
Nouember to the toun of Abirdene putting the samyn
in pypis cariage and fraucht of Abirdene to the port
of Leith.'/—(Compotum Thesaurarii Reginae Scoto-
rum, Nov. 1562. Ms. Register House.)

* Pp. 49-51.

8 P.s1.

¢ P. 51, no. 18; p. 177.

¢ P. 51, no. 11.

¢ P, 50, no. 6.

Another pall, wrongly described as a cloth of
estate (p. 53, no. 34), was a canopy or tabernacle for
the procession on Corpus Christi day (p. 184).

7 P. 52, no. 20,
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and refinement in the list of ewers, basins, stoups, flagons, and cups of gilded
or coloured glass; enamelled plates, cups, glasses, dishes, saucers, basins, and
ewers ; gilded chandeliers ; figures of animals, and images of a monk, a nun,
and the Earl’s patron St. George; a white vase; a bust of a man, sculptured
in marble; and the Woman of Samaria drawing water from the Well of Jacob,
carved in wood.!

All this was but a part, although no doubt a large one, of the spoil of
Strathbogie.
and courage it had been won.

The Queen divided the prey with her brother, by whose wisdom
She gave him possession, in the hall of Darna-
way, of the long-coveted Earldom of Murray ; and he seems to have found
furniture for the forsaken chambers of Randolph’s forest castle, in a share of
the Earl of Huntly’s moveables. There is, unfortunately, no list of what thus
fell to his lot.

the Gordons was once more rising in the north, Murray was careful to guard

We know only that, some years afterwards, when the star of

himself against all claim for restitution of the jewels, furniture, and chattels of
the Earl, whose lifeless body he had led away with him from the glen of Corrichie.?

It must not be supposed that Scotland could show many castles like Strath-
bogie. The pile had been newly enlarged and adorned in such a way, it is said,
as to move the envy of the Queen Regent and her French retinue, whom it

! Pp. 54-56.

Some of these articles are found in the King’s
Jewel-house in 1578 : ¢ Ane gilt basine of glas ; tua
blew flaconis garnist with tyn ; ane uther blew flacon ;
foure gilt chandilleris ; ane Samaritane Woman and
hir Well maid of trie ; fyve pleittis of quheit anama-
ling ; ane pleitt hollit as gif it wer wandis; thre
uther pleittis of divers cullouris; thre pleittis cul-
lourit plane; aucht blew salceris ane brokin; tua
litle barrellis and ane litle thre futtit pott ; ane blew
lawer with ane gilt coupe ; ane litle lawer blew gilt ;
ane quhite vais ; ane coup of jasp with the cover;
thre heich gobblettis tua coverit and ane without a
cover; aucht couppis of sindrie fassionis ; sax litle
culing fannis of litle wandis."—(Mr. Thomson’s Col-
lection of [nventories, p. 241.)

2 By a deed, dated at Holyrood, on the 18th of April

1567, George Earl of Huntly, binds himself, his
mother, his brothers, and his sisters, ¢ to warrand re-
leve and keip skaithles James Earl of Murray and
Maister Johnne Wod Johnne Stewart and vtheris his

serwandis of quhatsumeuir gudis geir jowellis and

vthir grayth quhatsumeuer intromettit with be thame
pertening to our [the Earl of Huntly’s] vmquhile

fader the tyme of his deceis or that wes than in his’
possessioun. . . and neuer to move pley call nor per-

sew the said Erle of Murray nor his saidis serwandis
thairfoir,” confessing ¢ that thair intromissioun with the
saidis gudis procedit be our Soueranis commande-

ment.’—(Register of Deeds, vol. vii. foll. 406-408.

Ms. Register House. Compare Malcolm Laing’s Dis-

sertation on the Murder of Darnley, in his History of
Scotland, vol. ii. p. 98, edit. 1804.)
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received as guests in 1556." More recently, the English envoy to the court of
Holyrood, who spent two nights within its walls, described it asa fair house, the
best furnished that he had seen since he passed the Tweed, and of marvellous
great cheer.? Buchanan speaks of the Earl as by far the wealthiest noble in the
land.* Knox tells how he was reputed the wisest, the richest, and the most
powerful man in Scotland ; and adds that, in the world’s estimation, the realm
had not, for three hundred years, produced such another, under the degree of a
prince.*

We might be surprised that even this great chief, the head of the Roman
Catholic power in Scotland, should have so much and so sumptuous church fur-
niture. But a little consideration enables us to discover that the articles of this
sort enumerated in the Inventory ape but a portion of the ornaments and vest- Omaments and
ments of the neighbouring Cathedral of Aberdeen, which the bishop, with his gg‘e“m_ of
dean and chapter, hastened to commit to the safe keeping of the Earl, in the

summer of 1559, onhearing that the Reformershad sacked the monasteries of the

Power of the

! ¢Inuernessam urbem proficiscenti erat in itinere

Strathbogia arx, comitatus caput, amoeno situ ad con- -

fluentes Bogii et Duuerni fluminum posita, quam
Huntlaeus, adjectis veteri arci novis structuris, omnia,
nulli sumptui parcens, magnifice extruxerat. Hic illa
[Regina Gubernatrix]) liberaliter cum magno comitatu,
Gallorum praesertim, excepta est. Post aliquot dies
transactos, ne pregravaret hospitem, digredi parat:
Huntlaeus, ad omnia illi semper obsequentissimus,
et partibus firmus, demississime rogat longiorem
moram ; nihil defuturum ad eam laute excipiendam,
vult inspici cellas penusque copiose instructas, tanta
autem volatilium et ferinae copia ejusque recentis ut
mirum videri posset. Quaerentibus Gallis, unde tanta
et tam recentis abundantia, refert ille habere se in
aviis, in montibus, locisque sylvestribus magno numero
venatores aucupesque, unde ad se referatur quotidiana
praeda, quamvis locis longe distantibus. Henricus
Clutinius Oisellius, e nobilitate Gallica, qui Guber-
natricis consilia moderabatur, apud eam ‘exclamat,
Hunc hominem in tam angusto regno non ferendum ;
illum sic aequales excedere, ut potuit Regi Scoto
formidini esse; revocandum in memoriam Duglas-
siorum nefandam audaciam, quae quas turbas dederit,
quamque regibus formidolosas superiori saeculo, non-

dum animis hominum excidisse ; demetendas Hunt-
laeo alas, ne nimium superbiat.’—(Origo et Progressus
familiae illustrissimae Gordoniorum in Scotia, Roberto
Gordonio a Straloch auctore [circa A.D. 1650]. Ms,
Advocates’ Library, Edinburgh. C. A. Gordon’s
History of the House of Gordon, pp. 85-88. Aberd.
1754. Cf. Leslaei De Rebus Gestis Scotorum, p. 528.)

Little or nothing of the Strathbogie of Queen Mary’s
time now remains, It was demolished by her son in
1594, at the instance chiefly of Mr. Andrew Melville,
who was present at the work of destruction, clad in
a cuirass, as his nephew exultingly tells us, adding,
that on another occasion, he marched, for great part
of a day, with a spear in his hand. —(Mr. James
Melville’s Diary, p. 210. edit. 1829.)

? Letter from Randolph to Cecil, written from
Spynie on the 18th of September 1562, quoted in G.
Chalmery’s Life of Mary Queen of Scots, vol. i. p. 129.

% G. Buchanani Rerum Scoticarum Historia, lib.
xvii. ¢ 27. .

¢ Knox's History of the Reformation, vol ii p.
358

¢ Registrum Episcopatus Aberdonensis, vol. i
appendix to the preface, no. 11. pp. Ixxxvi,-xc.

The Cathedral plate put in the Earl's keeping
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Friars in Edinburgh and other towns, had laid the beautiful priory of the Carthu-
sians at Perth in ruins, and given the ancient abbey of Scone to the flames. The
Bishop’s great mitre,! since it was worn by the munificent and saintly Elphin-
stone, had fallen into evil hands, from which it was not rescued until it had been
Robes and al- stripped of several of its gems.? The Cathedral could show robes and hang-

tar cloths made

?Etﬁém::p:f ings made from the cloth of gold taken in the English tents at Bannockburn,
vilions at Ban-

bt g or woven in the looms of Bruges and Arras, of Venice and Florence.® The

meagre descriptions in the Inventories do not allow us in every case to follow
the history of the vestments which were sent from Aberdeen to Strathbogie,
and from Strathbogie to Holyrood. But there is at least nothing to forbid
the suspicion that the copes, chasubles, and tunicles of cloth of gold which
the Queen profaned to secular uses in March 1567, were relics of the proudest
triumph ever gained by Scottish arms;* and that the spoils which Bruce had
set apart, in the service of religion, to nerve the hearts of his people in their
struggle for national life, were given by her who inherited his throne and held
his faith, to make a showy doublet for the needy, vainglorious, profligate

Bothwell.®

weighed 843 ounces. No part of it is known to An inventory of the Cathedral plate in January Silver cross

be preserved. But an image of the Blessed Virgin,  1549-50 describes a cross of silver gilt as of Irish Irish work.

committed to the care of Queen Mary’s devoted  work, ‘opere Ibernicorum,” meaning, probably, the

servant, Bishop Lesley of Ross, is still to be seen  knotted or interlacing pattem so common in Irish

in Brussells, It is the subject of a recent religions art.—(Registrum Episcopatus Aberdonensis, vol. ii.

tract (bearing to be taken from F. A. Wichmans' p. 182.)

Brabantia Mariana) : ¢ Histoire de la Statue Miracu- ¢ See above, pp. xiv., xv., note 3.

leuse de la Tres-Sainte Vierge Marie, honorée dans ¢ P. 53, no. 32. Registrum Episcopatus Aber-

I'eglise de Notre-Dame de Finisterrae, a Bruxelles,  donensis, vol. i. app. to pref, p. Ixxxix. ; voL ii. pp.

sous le titre de Notre-Dame de Bon Succés. Bruxel- 189, 190,

les, 1854.° Bothwell would seem to have been noted for his P"‘"“"’"
1 P, 54, no. So. love of finery. One who must have known him 70"

# Registrum Episcopatus Aberdonensis, vol. ii. pp.
162-166, 179, 180, 186, 187, 195, 196 ; vol i. app.
to pref. p. Ixxxix.

? Registrum Episcopatus Aberdonensis, vol. ii. pp.
189, 190, 191, 194.

Barbour, the father of our Scottish poetry, was a
canon of the Cathedral of Aberdeen, and so may have
served at the altar in the vestments made from the tro-
phies of the victory which he has sung in his ¢ Bruce.’

well, compares him to an ape in purple, ¢tanquam
simius in purpura.’—(G. Buchanani Actio contra
Mariam Scotorum Reginam.) The same great scholar
speaks elsewhere of the gorgeousness of the apparel
in which Bothwell figured at the Prince’s baptism at
Stirling : ¢ Regina, non modo pecunia, sed opera
etiam et industria, contendit ut Bothuelius, inter cives
et hospites, singulari cultus magnificentia conspice-
retur.’—(Rerum Scoticarum Historia, lib. xviii. c. §;
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. , . Iventori
The Inventory of what came into the Queen’s possession on the forfei ’mmf;?ﬁg,’:;

ture of the Earl of Huntly, is followed by lists* of a few things which seem to Jz2 7 7o

have belonged to Mary of Guise, brought from France, by Maitland of Leth- z,,‘"ﬁ‘{;‘gf,",;‘f;f
ington,* the Queen’s secretary, in the summerof 1563 ; of three cloths of state :Z.ymmy lssz',
and a table-cover of cloth of gold, portions of a gift made to the Queen in the '

summer of 1564, by the wife of the Lord Ruthven who bore the chief part in

the murder of Riccio; and of the rich vestments of the Chapel Royal of

Stirling, delivered to the valet in charge of the Queen’s wardrobe in 1562.

Among the articles brought from France by Lethington, was a portrait of fﬁ'ﬁ;’i‘f‘é Queen

Opera, p. 349). Again, in another work, but still
referring to the same occasion : ¢ Ut Bothuelius inter
proceres conspicuus esset, ipsa [Regina] partim ei ad
vestimenta coemenda pecuniam erogabat, partim de
mercatoribus emebat ; omnibusque conficiundis tanta
diligentia praeerat, quam si, non dico uxor, sed ne
ancilla quidem foret.”—(G. Buchanani Detectio Mariae

Reginae Scotorum.)
The simius in purpura would appear to imply that

;

Bothwell's person was such that his gay garments
hung awkwardly upon him. Buchanan has other ex-
pressions to the same effect ; and they are more than
justified by the unmistakeable language of Brantdme :
¢ Ce Bothwell estoit le plus laid homme, et d’aussi
mauvaise grace qu'il se peut voir.” Lord Hailes tried
to get rid of Brantdme's evidence, by pleading that * he
never saw Bothwell,’ and ‘got his information from
one de Cros, an officer of Queen Mary's household.’
—(Remarks on the History of Scotland, chap. xi., in
Annals of Scotland, vol. iii. pp. 80, 81, edit. 1819.)
But a reference to Brantdme (t. v. pp. 98, 99) will
show that Lord Hailes has misapprehended his mean-
ing, and that all that he had from de Cros was an
account of Mary’s brief campaign between her escape
from Lochleven and her flight into England, ata time
when Bothwell was a prisoner in Denmark. Bran-
tome tells us that his own visit to Scotland was made
in the train of Mary’s uncle, the Grand Prior of
France (t. v. p. 122). He must thus have spent
nearly two months at Holyrood (from the 19th of
August to the gth of October 1561) ; and itis scarcely
reasonable to suppose that, during all that time, he
had no opportunity of seeing one already so conspi-
cuous at Mary’s court as the Earl Bothwell.

But if not good-looking, neither does Bothwell seem
to have had the gift of a winning tongue.  ‘Qui andi-

erint,’ says Buchanan, ¢ hominis infantiam et hebetu-
dinem non ignorent ;' or, as it is rendered in the
contemporary translation of the ‘Actio contra Mariam?
¢ thay that haue hard him ar not ignorant of his rude
utterance and blockishness.’—(Anderson’s Collections
relating to Queen Mary, vol. ii. p. §3.) When he
was the Queen’s husband, we have the evidence of
Sir James Melville that his ¢ speaking sic filthy lan.
guage’ drove that gentleman from the supper table at
Holyrood. —(Memoirs, p. 178.)

! Pp. 57-59.

They are printed from the originals in the Register
House. They are without date, but are written in
the same hand, and apparently at the same time, with
the Inventory of the Moveables of the Earl of Huntly,
to which they seem to have been attached. They
may be referred, therefore, to some period between
August 1567 and January 1570,

They are included in Mr. Thomson's Collection of
Inventories, pp. 159-161.

? Lethington'’s mission to the French court is re-
ferred to by the Queen of Scots in a letter to Catha-
rine of Medicis, of the 18th of May 1563.—(Prince
Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii pp. 3-5.)
He returned to Scotland about the end of June 1563.
—(Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol ii. p.
390.)

8 Another and somewhat fuller list of the vestments
of the Chapel Royal of Stirling delivered by the Sac-
ristan to Servais de Conde, on the r1th of January
1561-2, will be found in the Appendix to the Preface,
No. . It is reprinted, with a few corrections, from
Robertson’s Topographical Description of Ayrshire,
p. 431. Irvine, 1820. The original is in the Craw-
furdland charter chest.
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Mary’s mother, which appears to have accompanied her, from prison to prison,
to the fatal hall at Fotheringhay.!

The next Inventory is of the Queen’s dresses.? It was made at Holy-
rood in February 1562, and has a hundred and thirty-one entries. There are
sixty gowns, for the most part of cloth of gold, cloth of silver, velvet, satin,
and silk. Of fourteen cloaks, five are described as of the Spanish fashion, and
two as royal mantles, one being of purple velvet, the other furred with ermine.
There are thirty-four vasquines or basquines, and sixteen devants, chiefly of
cloth of gold, cloth of silver, and satin. There is mention of the fardingale, and
we learn elsewhere that it was expanded by girdles of whalebone,® into some-

thing like the vast circumference of the hoops of our great grandmothers,* or

the ample volume of the crinoline of our own day.

1 P. §7, no. 1. Prince Labanoff, Lettres de
Marie Stuart, t. vii. pp. 248, 254.

The Inventory made at Fotheringhay, in February
1587, mentions only *certen pictures of the late
Quene’s auncestors.” But we have a list of them in
the Inventory made at Chartley, in August 1586.
There are five Kings and one Queen of Scots, namely,
James 11., James 1iL, James Iv., James v., Mary, and
James V1. (of whom there are two portraits). The
others are the Queen's mother, Mary of Guise ; two
of the Queen’s uncles, Charles, Cardinal of Lorraine,
and Francis, Duke of Guise (old / Balafr€); her
cousin, Henry, Duke of Guise (the younger /e Balafre¢);
King Charles 1x. of France; King Henry nr. of
France ; and Jeanne d’Albret, Queen of Navarre.

An Inventory of Jewels, etc., in the Castle of Edin-
burgh in 1578, adds to this list, King Francis 11, of
France ; Anne, Duke of Montmorency, Constable of
France; and a little old picture of King James v.
of Scotland.—(Mr. Thomson’s Collection of Inven-
tories, p. 238.)

All these seem to have been oil-paintings on panel
or on canvas. The inventories made at Chartley and
Fotheringhay enumerate miniatures of the Queen her-
self, her second husband King Henry, and their son
King James ; of her first husband, King Francis IL of
France, and his mother Catharine of Medicis ; of the

Queen’s mother, Mary of Guise ; of the Queen’s mother-
in-law, the Countess of Lennox; of Margaret of France,
wife of Emmanuel Philibert, Duke of Savoy (7 éte~
de-Fer) ; of King Henry 111. of France, and his Queen,
Louise of Lorraine ; of Queen Mary of England ; of
Queen Elizabeth of England, and of two ladies not
named. —(Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t.
vil. pp. 243-245, 247, 255, 257.)

The inventories in this volume mention miniatures
of the Queen herself ; of Queen Elizabeth of England ;
of King Henry 11 of France ; and of King James v.
of Scotland. —(Pp. 11, 16, 85, 112, 119, 123.)

I am tempted to think that the portrait of Louise of
Lorraine is sometimes mistaken for the portrait of
Mary Stewart. Their features were much alike, and the
dress and name of /z Reysne Blanche were common to
both. —(Brantéme, t. v. p. 334.)

* Pp. 60-74.

It is printed, for the first time, from the original in
the Register House.

% ¢Item xij bowtis of quhaill horne to be girdis to the
vardingallis the bowt v schillingis summa iij pundis . . .
Ane verdingale iij pundis x schillingis Item v balling
of quhaill xxxv schillingis.’—(Compotum Thesaurarii
Reginae Scotorum, Oct.—Dec. 1562. Ms. Register
House.)

¢ The Cameronian Martyrologist writing between

La Reyne
Blanche.
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The Inventory of the Queen’s jewels which follows is without date, but Inventory of the
would appear to have been made at the same time with the Inventory of mﬂd%wz
the Wardrobe at Holyrood, which immediately precedes it.! It has a
hundred and eighty entries, or twenty-one more than the Inventory of the
Among the articles thus Jewelled cross

added, we may recognise a cross of gold set with diamonds and rubies, which Fro00 Scots.

Queen’s jewels made at her departure from France.

Mary had lately redeemed from the hands in which it was pledged by her
mother for a thousand pounds.®? Another acquisition is of pearls, which, as they
were bought from an Edinburgh goldsmith, we may perhaps presume to be

Hoops 27 l’eet in

Scottish.?

1725 and 1728, instances ‘hoops or farthingales,
nine yards about, some of them in three stories,’ as
one of seven proofs ‘that Scots blood has gone out
of our veins, honesty out of our hearts, zeal off our
spirits, - and the English abominations drunk in as

sweet wine with pleasure.’—(Patrick Walker’s Life -

and Death of Mr. Alexander Peden, in the Biographia
Presbyteriana, vol. i p. 138.)

If England set the fashion of hoops to Scotland in
the beginning of the eighteenth century, Scotland
seems to have set the fashion of fardingales to Eng-
land in the beginning of the seventeenth century.
The *Scottish farthingale’ is commemorated among
the luxuries of London ladies, in Eastward Hoe,
printed in 1605, and in Westward Hoe, printed in
1607.—(Dodsley’s Old Plays, vol. iv. pp. 194, 196.
edit. 1825.)

! Pp. 75-92.

It is printed, for the first time, from the original in
the Register House.

As it makes reference to the Queen’s visit to St
Johnstown (Perth), it must have been drawn up after
the 17th of September 1561, when Mary made her first
entryinto the Fair City.—(Diurnal of Occurrents, p.69.)

2 P, 76.

*Item the ferd day of Februare [1561-2] be the
Quenis Grace speciale command to Johne Hwme of
Blacader for ane croce of gold sett with dyamondis
and rubeis as his acquitance schewin vpoun compt
beris quhilk lay in plege to him be the Quenis Grace
Regent of 1000 pundis j® pundis.’ — (Compotum
Thesaurarii Reginae Scotorum, Feb. 1561-2. Ms.
Register House. )

* P, 8.

Scottish topazes and pearls appear among Queen
Mary’s jewels at Chartley in 1586.—(Prince Labanoff,
Lettres de Marie Stuart, tom. vii. p. 246.)

Scottish pearls are often named in inventories of
jewels in the Middle Ages.—(M.le Comte de Laborde,
Notice des Emaux du Louvre, parii. * Glossaire,” pp.
310, 349, 350, 437, 480. Comptes de I'Argenterie
des Rois de France au xiv® Siécle, pp. 26, 395.)

We have mention of them early in the twelfth cen-
tury. About the year 1120, an English churchman begs
the Bishop of St. Andrews to get him as many pearls
as possible, especially large ones, even if the Bishop
should have to ask them from the King of the Scots,
who has more than any man living.— (Wharton’s
Anglia Sacra, vol. ii. p. 236.)

Aeneas Sylvius, afterwards Pope Pius IL, who
visited Scotland in 1435, speaks of Scottish pearls as
one of the four commodities which the country ex-
ported : ‘ex Scotia in Flandriam corium, lanam, pisces
salsos, margaritasque ferri’— (Pii Secundi Pontificis
Commentarii Rerum Memorabilium quae temporibus
suis contigerunt, p. 5.) In 1498, we find a Scottish
merchant at Middleburg remitting a small sum * to by
perll in Scotland.’—(Account Book of Andrew Haly-
burton, Conservator of the Privileges of the Scottish
Nation in the Low Countries, fol. 159. Ms. Register
House.)

The pearls of Scotland seem to have shared with
those of Bohemia the reputation of being the best
found in Europe. But both were regarded as very
far inferior to the pearls of the East.—(Anselmi Boetii
de Boodt Gemmarum et Lapidum Historia, pp. 85,
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The jewels which were in the Queen’s cabinet in 1561 are not included
in the list of 1562. But added to it, in a different hand, is a note of certain
jewels which were then with the crown, the surcoat, and the coiff.!

Testamentary In-

Latamentary b On the nineteenth of June 1566, Mary gave birth in the Castle? to the
% s d{ “"";"; prince who was to unite, under one sceptre, kingdoms which had been too long
o 74" divided. She seems to have had uneasy forebodings of her hour of travail.

Before ¢ taking her chamber,’?® she gathered her nobles round her, made her

will, and otherwise provided for the government of her realm. Her will was

written in three copies ; one she kept in her own hands, another she left under

go. Du Cange, Glossarium Mediae Latinitatis, t. v.
col. 393, voce ¢ Perlae.’)

Some notices of Scottish pearls are given in the Des-
crittione del Regno di Scotia di Petruccio Ubaldini,
PP- 44-51, and in Collections for a History of the
Shires of Aberdeen and Banff, pp. 80, 81. One or
two Scottish streams are still fished for pearls ; and the
newspapers tell us that the fishing of 1861 was singu-
larly successful, especially in the Teith. In theseven-
teenth century the Ythan was in most repute ; and I
am informed that during the last ten years its pearl
fishery has again become a source of profit.

! Pp. go-92.

* On the sth of April 1566, there was a meeting of
Privy Council at Edinburgh, attended by the Earls of
Huntly, Bothwell, Atholl, Marischal, Crawford, Caith-
ness, and Mar ; the Bishop of Galloway (Alexander
Gordon), the Commendator of Lindores (John Les-
ley, afterwards Bishop of Ross), Sir John Maxwell of
Terregles, knight, and Sir James Balfour of Pitten-
dreich, knight, Clerk of the Register. The following
Act was passed : ‘The Lordis of Secreit Counsall
thinkis it maist commodious for the commoun weill of
this cuntre gif it may stand with the Quenis Maiesteis
plesour and with the helth of hir body that hir Ma-
jestie remane in the Castell of Edinburgh till hir
Grace be deliuerit of hir birth. And in cais hir Ma-
iestie pas to ony vther part to remane the Counsall to
remane still in Edinburgh and sum forceis with thame
dureing the said space and sum nobill men to remane
with the Quenis Maiestie quhair hir Grace remanis.’
—(Registrum Secreti Concilii : Acta 1563-1567, p.
191. Ms. Register House.)

Having discovered that there was no wine in the
Queen’s cellais, the Privy Council sent to Leith for
eleven tuns and a half, at the price of £50 Scots a tun.
—(1d. p. 201).

% This was a solemn ceremony in that age, as we

- may learn from the contemporary account of what

passed when Elizabeth of York, the wife of King Henry
VIL of England, was about to give birth to Queen
Mary's grandmother: ¢ Upon Allhalow even [31st Oc-
tober 1489] the Quene tooke her chamber at West-
mynster, gretely accompagned with ladyes and gentil-
women. . . and . . . havyng befor hir the greate parte
of the nobles of thys royalme being present at this Par-
lement. And she was ledde by therle of Oxenforde
and therle of Derby ; and the reverent fader in God,
the Bishop of Excestre, songe the masse, s gontifi-
calibus, and after the Agnus Dei; and whan the
Bishop had done, the Quene was lede as bifore. And
therles of Shrewsbury and of Kente hylde the towelles
whan the Quene toke her rightes [that is, received the
Eucharist], and the torches ware holden by knightes.
And after mass, accompayned as before, and when
she was comen into hir great chambre, she stode
undre hir cloth of estate. Then their was ordeyned a
voide of espices and swet wyne. That doone, my
lorde the Quenes Chamberlain, in very good wordes,
desired, in the Quenes name, the pepul there pre-
sent to pray God to sende hir the goode oure. And
so she departed to her inner chambre, which was
hanged and sceyled with riche clothe of arras of blew,
with flour de lisis of gold, without any other clothe of
arras of ymagerye, whiche is not convenient about
wymen in such case. And in that chambre was a

Ceremonial of
a Queen taking
her chamber.
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seal to those who were to have the chief trust in Scotland, the third she sent to

her kinsfolks in France.!

preserved, nor is it certainly known what their terms were.

No one of these copies would seem to have been

All that can now

be learned of the Queen’s feelings and wishes is to be gathered from the Tes-

tamentary Inventory of her jewels, printed in the text.,

It appears to have been drawn up in the end of May or in the beginning of

June 1566, by Mary Livingston,® the lady of honour in charge of the Queen’s

jewels, and by Margaret Carwod, the bedchamber woman in charge of the

riche bedde and palliet, the which palliet had a mar-
viellous riche canope of clothe of gold . . . also ther
was a riche auter well furnyshed with reliques, and a
riche cupborde well and richely garnyshed. And
then she recomanded hir to the goode praiers of the
lordes, and then my lord her Chamberleyn drew the
travers. And frome thens forthe, no maner of officers
came within the chambre, but ladies and gentelwomen
after the old coustume.’—(Strutt’s Horda Angel-Cyn-
nan, vol. iii. pp. 157, 158.)

A relic of this formal seclusion still lives in one
of the senses in which we use the word ¢ confinement.’
The ceremony with which it began has long been
forgotten, but the rite which marked its end survives
in ¢ the Churching of Women.’

1 Letter from Randolph to Cecil, 7th June 1566,
quoted in G. Chalmers’ Life of Queen Mary, vol. L
p. 269, vol. iii. pp. 30, 31; Mr. Tytler’s History of
Scotland, vol. v. p. 354 ; Miss Strickland's Lives of

the Queens of Scotland, vol. iv. pp. 338, 339; Calen-

dar of State Papers relating to Scotland, vol. i. p.
235

3 It is here printed, for the first time, from the
original in the Register House, where it was discovered
in August 1854, among some unassorted law papers.

Itis in two parts or gatherings, which have been
tied together by a ribbon, secured by a seal, of which
the mark is still to be seen.

The first gathering (pp. 93-115 of the text) con-
tains ten leaves, numbered consecutively in a hand
of the time. The first leaf, which is not counted
in the numbering, is inscribed, Jnwentayre des Bro-
dures de la Royne. The first page of the tenth
leaf is subscribed by the Queen and Mary Livingston
(as at p. 115 of the text). On the second page of the
tenth leaf, being the last page of the gathering, is
written in the Queen’s hand (as at p. 115 of the text),

Tentands que cestuissi soyt execule au cas que lanfant ne
me sursiue mays si il vit e le foys Aeritier de tout
MARIE R

The second gathering (pp. 116-124 of the text)
contains six leaves, of which the first four are num-
bered consecutively in a hand of the time. The
second page of the second leaf is subscribed by the
Queen and Mary Livingston (as at p. 121 of the text),
and the second page of the third leaf, by the Queen
and Margaret Carwod (as at p. 123 of the text),
The facsimile shows that the latter was but a poor
pen-woman ; it would seem, indeed, that it was only
on great occasions that she attempted to write at all,
A writ by her, in the Register House, dated in April
1566, is subscribed in set phrase, Mergurt Caruod
with my hand at the pen led be the notar vaderwrittin
at my command. The postscript in the Queen’s hand
(printed at p. 124 of the text) begins at the foot of
the second page of the third leaf, and fills the first
page of the fourth leaf. On the second page of
the fourth leaf, the Queen had begun what would
seem to have been some conditional instructions, but
broke off abruptly after writing the two words, .S
mon.  The fifth leaf and the first page of the sixth
leaf are blank. On the second page of the sixth leaf,
being the last page of the gathering, is written in
the Queen’s hand (as at p. 124 of the text), Jantands
que cestuisss sorte acflect MARIE R

Both gatherings are stained with water, and wom
at the edges, especially towards the foot of the page.
The accompanying facsimile is of the first and second
pages of the third leaf, of the first page of the fourth
leaf, and of the second page of the sixth leaf of the
second gathering. The curved line towards the head
and foot of each page represents the slit through which
a ribbon was passed so as to fasten the two gather-
ings together under a seal.

8 Pp. 115, I121.
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Queen’s cabinet.! On the margin, opposite to each of the two hundred and
fifty-three articles enumerated, the Queen has written, with her own hand, the
name of the person to whom she bequeaths it, adding at the end a note that the
bequests are to take effect only in the event of her infant dying with herself’;
for if he lives she makes him the heir of all. Both the Inventory itself, and the
Queen’s bequests, are in the language of the country where her happier days
were passed ; indeed it was not until seven years after she left France, when she
had crossed the Solway in her flight from her last battlefield, that she ventured
on the attempt to write in English.? It will be seen from the accompanying
facsimile, that it was not altogether without reason that her letters about this
time contain apologies for her handwriting,® which, at the best, was perhaps a
little too masculine.

Bequests to the Her first bequest is for the honour of the Crown which she inherited.
TOWn Ot dcot-

land. She leaves to it the Great Harry, another jewel of the same fashion, a grand dia-

1 Pp. 119, 123, 124. ye sal persayue command my to our bruder Zour

Ef&::’l; * What Queen Mary describes as her first letter  richt gud sister MARIE R.’—(Letters to the Argyll

English. in English, was written to Sir Francis Knollys, from  Family, pp. 5, 6, Maitland Club, 1839).  Other ex-

Bolton, on the 1st of September 1568: ¢Mester
Knollis, y heuu har sum neus from Scotland ; y send
zou the double off them y vreit to the Quin my gud
sister, and pres zou to du the lyk, conforme to that y
spak zesternicht vnto zou, and sut hesti ansur y refer
all to zour discretion, and wil lipne beter in zour gud
delin for mi, nor y kan persuad zou, nemli in this lan-
gasg ; excus my iuel vreitin for y neuuer vsed it afor,
and am hestet . . . Excus my iuel vreitin thes furst
tym.”—(Sir H. Ellis’ Original Letters illustrative of
English History, first series, vol. ii. pp. 252-4, edit.
1825.)

When Mary called this her first English letter, she
forgot that she had written in English to the Com-
mendator of St. Colm’s Inch six weeks before (on
the 23d of July 1568).—(Miss Strickland’s Lives of the
Queens of Scotland, vol. vi. p. 390.)

There are a few letters of still earlier date, written
in the Queen’s name, which have an English sentence
or two added to them in her own hand. The first of
these postscripts which I have observed, is in aletter to
the Earl of Argyll, of the 31st of March 1566 : ¢ Wat
euer bis sayed bi sur off my gud mynd and that

amples will be found in the same volume, pp. 10-12;
and in the Miscellany of the Spalding Club, vol. iii.
p. 212.

% On the 15th of March 1566, Mary, after her
escape to Dunbar from the short captivityin which she
was held by the murderers of Rizzio, writes to Queen
Elizabeth : ¢ We thocht to haue writtin to zow this
letter with oure awin hand . . . bot of trewth we ar
so tyrit and ewill at ease, quhat throw rydding of
twenty millis in fiue houris of the nycht, as with the
frequent seiknesses and ewill dispositioun be the oc-
casioun of our chyld, that we could nocht at this time.’
On the 4th of April 1566, still writing to the Eng-
lish Queen, she says : ¢ Excusés moy si j'escris si mal;
car je suis si grosse, estant en mon septiesme moys.’
Again, in May 1566, she writes to her aunt, the
Duchess of Guise: *Je bayse aussi les mayns i la
Mignone, et la prie m’excuser ; car, tant que je seray
si empeschée de ce fardeau, je ne lui escriray point,
qui ne sera plus que six semaines.’—(Prince Labanoff,
Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. i pp. 337, 355, t. vii p.
302. Calendar of State Papers relating to Scotland,
vol. i p. 233.)



—//f]A/;






ewelled dial,

1)
5

Lennox
Queen.

THE PREFACE.

xxxiii

mond cross, a chain enriched with rubies and diamonds, a necklace of diamonds,

rubies, and pearls, and a large diamond set in an enamelled finger-ring. These

seem to have been among her choicest gems; and she desires that an act

may be passed annexing them to the Crown of Scotland in remembrance of
herself, and of the Scottish alliance with the house of Lorraine.! Seven jewels

containing what appear to have been her largest diamonds, she bequeaths for g:‘qm  eciand s

ornaments to the Queens of Scotland, under injunctions neither to change the
setting, nor to give the pieces away, but to keep them with the Crown for

evermore.?

There are as many as twenty-six bequests to her husband the King.? to the King.

Among them are a watch studded with diamonds and rubies; a little dial * set
with diamonds, rubies, pearls, and turquoises ; a St. Michael, containing four-

teen diamonds; a chain of gold enamelled in white, containing two hundred

links, with two diamonds in each link; and, of more interest than all, a The Queen’s mar-
riage-ring.

diamond ring, enamelled in red, against which the Queen writes, < It was

with this that I was married ; I leave it to the King who gave it me.’®

Nor are the King’s kindred forgatten. Mary leaves a large diamond Beq
ring, enamelled in black, to his father the Earl of Lennox,® and two dia- °f Lennox;

mond rings, one of them enamelled in black, to his mother, her own aunt, the

Countess of Lennox.’
The Queen’s kinsfolks in France

! Pp. 93, 94, 97, 98, 112, .

* Pp. 94, 95.

* Pp. 109, 110, 112, 114, 115, 122, 123.

¢ P. 123. Itdoes not appear in the Inventories of
1561 and 1562, and may therefore, perhaps, be iden-
tified with the ‘dial curiously wrought and set with
stones,” which was given by the Earl of Lennox to the

Queen in the autumn of 1564, along with ¢ a marvellous-

fair and rich jewel, whereof there is made no small
account ; a clock ; and a looking-glass, very richly
set with stones, in the four metals.’—(Letter from
Randolph to Cecil, 24th October 1564, in Mr. Tytler'’s
History of Scotland, vol. v. p. 256.)

have more affectionate or more costly !9 the house of

¢ P o112

The English envoy at Edinburgh, in his contempo-
rary account of the Queen’s marriage, writes : ¢ The
words were spoken ; the rings, which were three, the
middle a riche diamonde, were put upon her finger,
theie kneel together, and manie prayers saide over
them.”—(Letter from Randolph to Leicester, 3ist
July 1565, printed in Mr. T. Wright's Queen Eliza-
beth and her Times, vol. i p. 202 ; and in Principal
Robertson’s History of Scotland, appendix, no. xi.,
Works, vol. ii. p. 333, edit. Oxf. 1825.)

¢ P. 112: * A mon beau pere.’

" P. 112: ¢ A ma belle mere.’

e
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remembrances. The house of Guise has a legacy of great rubies and great pearls,
to be handed down from generation to generation as the inheritance of its first-
born.! A large ruby is left to its chief,® the Queen’s cousin, the Duke after-
wards known as the second /e Balafré, then only in his sixteenth year, but
already distinguished in arms against the Turks. There are bequests to his
mother,’ then on the eve of her second marriage; to his sister,* conspicuous
in after years for her devotion to the League; and to his brothers Charles,®
afterwards Duke of Mayenne, the conqueror of many a Huguenot town
before he was vanquished at Ivry; Lewis,’ afterwards Cardinal of Guise;
and Francis,” who died before he had risen above the rank of a Canon
of Reims. He was the godson of the Queen’s first husband ; and it will be
observed that she remembers him before his elder brothers, Charles and Lewis,
and gives him a richer jewel than either.

' Pp. 96, 97, 101, 102.’
8 P. 94: ‘Ie le laysse a mon cousin de Guise.’

Henry of Lorraine, third Duke of Guise, born in
1550, was the eldest son of the Queen’s uncle (her
mother’s eldest brother), Francis of Lorraine, second
Duke of Guise, the first 2 Balafré, assassinated by
the Huguenot Poltrot de Méré, at the siege of Orleans,
in 1563. He himself was assassinated, by order of
King Henry IIL, on the threshold of the king’s cabi-
net at Blois, in 1588.—(L'Art de Vérifier les Dates,
t. ii. pp. 606, 607, edit. 1784.)

3 P.g3: ‘Ie la laysse a ma tante Madame de
Guise.’

Anne, daughter of Hercules of Este, Duke of Fer-
rara, was bomm in 1§31. She married, in 1549,
Francis second Duke of Guise, and, after his mur-
der, in 1566, James of Savoy, Duke of Nemours.
She died in 1607.

¢ Pp. 94, 95:
Guise.

Catharine of Lorraine, the only daughter of Francis
second Duke of Guise, was born in 1§52, and in 1570
became the second wife of Lewis of Bourbon, Duke
of Montpensier. She died in 1596, and was buried
in the choir of the conventual church of St. Peter at
Reims, beside her aunt, the Queen Dowager of Scot-
land. ‘Elle fut Ligueuse outrée,’ says Father An-

¢Je le laysse a ma cousine de

selme.—(Histoire Généalogique de France, t. iii. p.
486, edit. 1728.)

$ P. 114: * A Charles.’

Charles of Lorraine, second son of Francis second
Duke of Guise, was born in 1554. The young Queen
of Scots was present at his baptism, along with King
Henry 11. and Catharine of Medicis.—(Prince Laban-
off, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. i. pp. 19-22.) He was
created Duke of Mayenne in 1573. A successful cam-
paign in Dauphiny gained him the title of % Premeur
de Vills. He became the chief of the League on
the assassination of his elder brother, the second %
Balafré, in 1588. He died in 1611.

¢ P 114: ‘A Loys.’

Lewis of Lorraine, third son of Francis second
Duke of Guise, was born in 1556. He became Arch-
bishop of Reims and Cardinal of Guise, being the
second of his house who had the latter titlee He
was put to death at Blois in 1588, on the day after
the murder of his brother, the younger % Balafré.

7 P. 114: ‘Au filleul du feu Roy.’

Francis of Lorraine, fifth son of Francis second
Duke of Guise, was born in 1559. He became a
Canon of Reims, where he died in 1573, before his
uncle the Cardinal of Lorraine could fulfil the in-
tention of making him Archbishop-Coadjutor of
Reims,



THE PREFACE. XXXV

The house of Aumale,! and the house of Elbeuf (or, as Mary calls it, llgequestﬁtothe

¢ the house of the Marquis’),* have each a legacy of pearls to be kept, it would i Elbeal
seem, as family heirlooms, like the rubies and pearls left to the parent house of

Guise. There is a bequest to the eldest daughter of the Duke of Aumale,®

Catharine, the Queen’s cousin, afterwards Duchess of Mercoeur, then in her

sixteenth year. There is a still larger bequest to the eldest daughter of the Eueg Queen's god-
Marquis of Elbeuf,* Mary, afterwards Duchess of Aumale, the Queen’s cousin

and goddaughter.

To her mother’s sister, the Abbess of St. Peter’s at Reims,® Mary be- Bequest to the
Queen’s aunt, the
Abbess of Reims.

1 P, 102: ‘A celle Daumalle ;* p. 98: ‘Le reste
de cest acoustremant aux esnez Daumalle.’

* Pp. 102, 103: ‘A celle du Marquis ;* pp. 100,
101 : “ A laisne fils le la mayson du Marquis.’

3P, g3: ‘Ie la laysse a ma cousine Daumalle
lesne ; p. 96: ¢ A ma cousine Daumalle.’

Catharine of Lorraine, the eldest daughter of Claude
second Duke of Aumale, by his marriage in 1548 with
Louise, daughter of Louis of Brezé, grand steward
of Normandy, was born in 1550, and in 1569 became
the third wife of Nicholas of Lorraine, Count of Vau-
demont, created Duke of Mercoeur in 1576. She
died in 1606.

Her father, the Queen’s uncle, was the third son of
Claude of Lorraine, first Duke of Guise. He was
bomn in 1§26, and became Duke of Aumale in 1547.
It was at his marriage, as we learn from a letter of
King Henry 11, that Queen Mary, after her arrival in
France in 1548, first danced with the Dauphin. The
Duke of Aumale accompanied the Queen to Scot-
land in 1561. He was killed at the siege of Rochelle
in 1573.—(L’Art de Vérifier les Dates, t. il pp. 794,
795. Miscellany of the Maitland Club, vol. i pp.
210, 219.)

¢ P. 93: ‘le le laysse a ma filleule fille du Mar-
quis;’ p. 94: ‘A la fille du Marquis ma filleule,” ‘A
ma filleule;/ p. 97: ¢ A ma cousine la fille du Mar-
quis ma filleule.’ :

Mary of Lorraine, the only daughter of Rene, Mar-
quis of Elbeuf, by his marriage in 1554, with Louise
of Rieux, Countess of Harcourt, married in 1576 her
cousin Charles third Duke of Aumale. She died
about the year 1616.—(L’Art de Vérifier les Dates,
t ii. p. 796. Brantéme, t. v. p. 68.)

Her father, the Queen's uncle, was the eighth son

of Claude of Lorraine, first Duke of Guise. He was
born in 1536. In December 1559, he had a commis-
sion from Francis and Mary, King and Queen of
France and Scotland, appointing him their Lieutenant-
General in Scotland during the absence of the Queen
Dowager. But it never took effect. In August 1561,
he accompanied Queen Mary to Scotland, where he
remained till the end of February 1561-2, giving such
scandal to the Reformed in Edinburgh, that it drew
from them a formal remonstrance to the Queen. He
had an allowance from her of fifty shillings sterling a
day for his table ; the payments made to him in all
amounting to L.1500 Scots. He died in 1566.—(Li-
ber Responsionum in Scaccario 1546-61, Ms. Register
House. Bishop Keith’s History of Scotland, vol
ii. p. 101, edit. 1845. Compotum Thesaurarii Regi-
nae Scotorum, Oct. 1561—Jan. 1563, Ms. Register
House. Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 66, 67, 71. Booke
of the Universall Kirk of Scotland, vol. i. pp. 11, 12.
Knox's History of the Reformation, vol ii. pp. 4,
268, 315-321. Anselme, Histoire Généalogique de
France, t. iil. pp. 492, 493. Calendar of State Papers
relating to Scotland, vol i pp. 122, 127, 131, 132,
139, 140, 142, 178, 179 ; vol ii. p. 823. Prince La-
banoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii. pp. 282-287.)
$ Pp. 112, 124: ‘A ma tante de St. Pierre.’
Renee of Lorraine, the third daughter of Claude
first Duke of Guise, was born in 1522, and became
Abbess of St. Peter's at Reims in 1546. She died in
1602, and was buried in the choir of her own abbey
church, beside the stately tomb which showed her
sister, the Queen Dowager of Scotland, figured in
bronze, clothed in her royal vestments, holding the
sceptre and the sword of justice. —(Anselme, Histoire
Généalogique de France, t. iii. pp. 485, 486.) A
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queaths, with other things of less note, a great mirror in a frame of white
and black enamel, containing a miniature of the Queen of England.

She leaves an emerald ring to her mother’s brother, the Cardinal of Lor-
raine,! that able but unscrupulous minister, ¢the Tiger of France,’” as so many
regarded him, but the man, of all her kinsfolks and friends, whom Mary loved

best and trusted most.?

The Queen had bequeathed an emerald ring to one who had been her
companion at the court of King Henry the Second, the wife of that flower of
French chivalry, the Seigneur de Damville, afterwards Duke of Montmorency

prayer-book which Mary Stewart is said to have be-
queathed to the abbey of St. Peter’s at Reims, is still
shown in the public library of that city.—(M. Fran-
cisque-Michel, Les Ecossais en France, t. ii. p. 27.)

1 P. 114: ¢ A mon oncle le Cardinal.’

Mary had two uncles Cardinals, both brothers of
her mother.

Her bequest is to the elder and more famous,
Charles, second son of Claude first Duke of Guise.
He was born in 152§, became Archbishop of Reims
in 1540, Cardinal of Lorraine in 1555, and died in
1574. He was the chief minister of France during
the reign of King Francis IL

His younger brother Lewis, fourth son of Claude
first Duke of Guise, was born in 1527, and was made
Bishop of Troyes in 1545, and Cardinal of Guise in
1553. He appears in our Scottish records, in March
1560, as Commendator of the Abbey of Kelso.—(Re-
gister of Deeds, vol. iv. fol. 93, Ms. Register House.)
He died in 1578, with the character of a good, easy
man, who seldom troubled himself with any more
serious affairs than those of the table.

2 ¢ Eh bien!’ said Mary, when she heard of his
death, ‘je suis prisonniére, et Dieu prend I'une des
créatures que j’aimoys le mieux.’—(Prince Labanoff,
Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. iv. p. 267.)

Other eyes, such as, in her better days, had bright-
ened as they looked upon her, saw in him only the
shadow of her evil genius :

¢ Ni mihi tam foedus, tam dirus avunculus esset,
Secli hujus Marie foemina prima forem.
Sed vitiis, quibus evertit regna omnia, famam
Polluit ille suam, polluit ille meam.’
—(G. Buchanani Epigrammatum, lib. ii. epp. 20,
21: ‘Maria Regina Scotiac puella ;' ¢ Eadem
adulta.’)

The influence of the Cardinal of Lorraine on Mary’s The King and
career was no doubt malign upon the whole ; but his '-hl e C.‘";““‘ of

counsels, if listened to, would have saved her from at
least one mistake which drew others in its train. His
searching eye had early seen through Darnley, and
he warned his niece against marrying a great girl-
ish nincompoop wholly unworthy of her hand : ¢que
ce n'estoit pas party pour elle . . . que cestoit ung
gentil hutaudeau,’ that is, as M. Teulet glosses it,
‘un étourneau, un jeune homme léger et inconsidéré.’
—(Papiers d’Etat relatifs 3 I'Histoire de I'Ecosse, t.
ii. p. 42.) Old Cotgrave interprets ¢hutaudeau’ to
signify a ¢ cockerell, or great cocke chicke, also a ca-
ponet, a big well-grown pullet.” The word, like not a
few other household terms, found its way from France
to Scotland, where, with some slight change of its pri-
mary meaning, it long survived (if, indeed, it be yet
extinct) in the shape of ¢ howtowdy.’

Catharine of Medicis had formed an equally con- The King and

temptuous estimate of Damley’s character : ¢ Ce jeune ﬁ’
fou n'a pas été longtemps Roi,” she wrote, when she
heard of his murder ; ‘s'il efit été plus sage, je crois
qu'il seroit encore en vie."—(M. Chéruel, Marie Stuart
et Catherine de Médicis, p. 51.)

I have already spoken (p. xii., note 2) of Buchanan’s The King and
devotion to the house of Lennox, the chiefs of his Buchanan.

race, the lords of his paternal strath. It carried him
so far as to hail the worthless Damley as ‘the best
of kings :’
¢ Optime Rex, opto, sit tibi certa salus.’

He seems, on reflection, to have seen that the bestowal
of such an epithet on such a man, was beyond even
a poet’s license ; and the line was afterwards silently
changed into

¢ Unum opto id, Princeps, sit tibi certa salus.’



Bothwell
and Knox.

M. Damville.

THE PREFACE.

and Constable of France.!
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But, upon second thoughts, the bequest was can-

celled, and the ring is left to Riccio’s brother, to be delivered to one whose

name the Queen had imparted to him in secret.

The only French legacies

beyond the circle of her family, are to Mary of Beaucaire, who, as we learn from B,%..m to Madame

Brantdme, had been the Scottish Queen’s great favourite at the court of &
She was now the wife of the Viscount of Martigues,® a gallant

France.?

soldier, who had commanded the French forces sent to Scotland to sustain the

falling power of the Queen Regent, and, when he heard in Paris that Mary

—(G. Buchanani Epigrammatum, lib. iii. ep. 1, edit.
T. Ruddimanni.)

The same feudal feeling which attracted Buchanan
to Darnley, manifested itself still more remarkably in
drawing the great Reformer of Scotland to the most
dissolute and flagitious of her nobles. ¢ Wold to
God,’ said Knox to Bothwell in 1562, ¢ thatin me war
counsall or judgement that mycht conforte and releave
you. For albeit that to this hour it hath nott chaunsed
me to speik with your Lordship face to face, yit have
I borne a good mynd to your house ; and have bene
sorry at my heart of the trubles that I have heard
you to be involved in. For, my Lord, my grand-
father, goodsher, and father, have served your Lord-
shipis predecessoris, and some of thame have died
under thair standartis ; and this is a part of the obli-
gatioun of our Scotish kyndnes.’—(Knox’s History
of the Reformation, vol. ii. pp. 323, 324.) Knox
throughout speaks of Bothwell with obvious tender-
ness.

1 P. 113 : ‘A Madame Danuille.’

Antoinette, eldest daughter of Robert de la Marck,
Duke of Bouillon, by his marriage with Frances of
Breze, Countess of Maulevrier, was born in 1542, and
married the Seigneur de Damville in 1559. She died
in 1591.—(Anselme, Histoire Généalogique de France,
t. iii. p. 605. Brantbme, t. v. p. 68.)

Her husband, Henry of Montmorency, the second
son of Anne, Duke of Montmorency, Constable
of France, was bom in 1534, and was known
during the lifetime of his father and elder brother
as the Seigneur de Damville. In 1561, having the
unfortunate Chatellard in his train, he accompanied
Queen Mary to Scotland, and, with the rest of her
French escort, was entertained at a banquet by the
city of Edinburgh, on Sunday the 31st of August, in
the house which had been Cardinal Beaton’s in the

Blackfriars’ Wynd. He took his departure with the
Queen’s uncle, the Grand Prior of France (who had
Brantdme in his train) on the gth of October ; three
of their retainers being presented by the Queen with
gold chains, one of 150 crowns, and two of 50 crowns
each. The Seigneur de Damville was made a Mar-
shal of France in 1567, succeeded his brother Francis
as Duke of Montmorency in 1579, and became Con-
stable of France in 1597. He died in 1614.—(L’Art
de Vérifier les Dates, t. il. p. 656. Diumnal of Occur-
rents, pp. 66, 67, 69. Brant0me, t. v. pp. 92, 121-
125. Compotum Thesaurarii Reginae Scotorum, Oct.
1561—Jan. 1562, Ms. Register House. M. Teulet,
Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I'Histoire de I'Ecosse, t. iii
PP- 3, 4 Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart,
t. i pp. 111, 112, 118.)

* Pp. 93, 98, 99, 108.

¢ Madame de Martigues, dite avant Madamoiselle de
Villemontays, grande favorite de la Reyne d’Escosse.’
—(Brantdme, t. v. p. 68.)

She was the daughter of John of Beaucaire, Sei-
gneur of Puy-Gillon, and Seneschal of Poitou—
(Anselme, Histoire Généalogique de France, t. iii
p. 738)

$ Sebastian of Luxembourg, second son of Francis
second Viscount of Martigues, succeeded his brother
as fourth Viscount of Martigues, in 1553. He was
sent to Scotland in command of the French forces in
1559. He was made Duke of Penthievre in 1569,
and was killed at the siege of St. Jean-d’ Angeli in the
same year.—(L'Art de Vérifier les Dates, t. ii. pp.
921, 922. Diumal of Occurrents, pp. 55, 57, 272,
274. Bishop Lesley’s History of Scotland, 280, 282.
Knox's History of the Reformation in Scotland, vol.
ii. pp. 8, 12, §7. G. Buchanani Rerum Scoticarum
Historia, lib. xvi., Opera, pp. 322, 325. Brantme,
t. iv. pp. 397-413.)

artigues, etc.



Bequests to the
Countess of Argyll ;

to the Commendator
of Holyrood.

THE PREFACE.

XXXviii
was a prisoner in Lochleven, undertook, if the French king would grant him
but three thousand harquebussiers for three months, either to deliver her in
spite of all opposers, or never to set foot in France again.' The Queen,
it will be seen, makes two bequests to his infant daughter,’ afterwards
Duchess of Penthievre in her own right, and Duchess of Mercoeur by
marriage.

The first Scottish legacies, after those to the Crown, are to the Queen’s
kinsfolks, the offspring of her father by various concubines,—Lady Jane
Stewart, Countess of Argyll,® a wayward and unloving wife, who had forsaken
her husband’s home for the court of Holyrood, and was sitting at supper with
the Queen when the murderers of Riccio burst into her cabinet ; Lord Robert
Stewart, Commendator of Holyrood,* afterwards Earl of Orkney, the only

! Letter from Sir Henry Norris, the English Am-
bassador at Paris, to Queen Elizabeth, 23d July 1567,
in Selections illustrating the Reign of Mary Queen of
Scotland, pp. 242, 243.—(Maitland Club.)

* Pp. 100, 103.

Mary of Luxembourg, born in 1562, succeeded
to her father's Duchy of Penthievre in 1569, and
married in 1576 Philip-Emmanuel of Lorraine, Duke
of Mercoeur. She died in 1623. —(Anselme, Histoire
Généalogique de France, t. iii. pp. 738, 795. Bran-
téme, t. iv. pp. 91-95, t. V. p. 70.)

3 Pp. 99, 100: ‘A Madame Darguilles;’ p. 103:
‘A ma sceur ; pp. 103, 104: *A ma sceur Darguilles ;’
Pp- 106-108 : ¢ Aus dames dArguilles,’ etc. ; p. 108:
¢ A Madame dArguilles ; p. 113: ‘A ma sceur.’

Lady Jane (or Janet) Stewart, daughter of King
James v. by Elizabeth Betoun (daughter of the Laird
of Creich, afterwards wife of John fourth Lord Inner-
meath), married in 1554 Archibald fifth Earl of Argyll.
As proxy for Queen Elizabeth, she stood godmother to
the Prince at his christening at Stirling in December
1566. This was regarded by the General Assembly
as a falling away from the Reformed faith, and the
Countess was sentenced to make public repentance in
the Chapel Royal at Stirling. She had left her hus-
band in 1564, and persisting in her refusal to return,
was divorced from him in 1573. There seems to
have been considerable hesitation in pronouncing the
sentence, which was the first sentence of divorce given
on such a ground in Scotland ; and its validity, which

was challenged by the Countess, would appear not to
have been beyond question. The Earl, who im-
mediately married again, died in the same year. The
Countess (for she kept the title to the last) survived
till January 1587, when, dying in the Canongate, she
was buried in the royal vault at Holyrood. —(Regis-
trum Magni Sigilli, lib. xxxv. no. 275. Ms. Register
House. Calendar of State Papers relating to Scot-
land, vol. i pp. 239, 241. Booke of the Universal
Kirk of Scotland, vol. i. pp. 114, 117, 148, 149, 262,
263. Letters to the Argyll Family, pp. 59, 71, 78.
Mr. Riddell’s Peerage and Consistorial Law of Scot-
land, vol i pp. 547-552. Knox’s History of the
Reformation, vol. i. pp. 375, 376.)

¢ P. 122: ‘A mon frere de St. Croyx.’

Lord Robert Stewart, bastard son of King James v.
by Eupheme, second daughter of Alexander first Lord
Elphinstone, was born in 1§32, and made Commenda-
tor of Holyrood in 1539, and Commendator of Charlieu
(in France) before 1557. He joined the Reformers
in 1559, and married, in 1561, Janet Kennedy,
daughter of Gilbert third Earl of Cassilis. He had
a grant from the Queen, in 1565, of the crown lands
of Orkney and Shetland, and in 1568, exchanged his
Commendatorship of Holyrood for the lands of the
Bishopric of Orkney. In 1§75, he was imprisoned
on the charge of procuring a charter from the King
of Denmark as sovereign of the Orkneys, and was not
released until 1579. He was made Earl of Orkney
about 1581, and died before the close of the year 1592,
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other guest at the Queen’s table on that memorable night; and Lord James Boguests to the Earl
urray, etc.;

Stewart, Earl of Murray,' afterwards Regent of Scotland, his wife,? and their

eldest daughter.?

Stewart,” and to Jane Stewart,® all apparently illegitimate inheritors of

There are bequests to Master John Stewart,' to James

the royal blood, although, perhaps, it might not be easy now to identify
them.

There is no difficulty in recognising the nephew Francis,” on whom to Francis Stewar,
g
othwi

In her incompleted will, made at Sheffield in Febru-
ary 1577, Queen Mary declared his title to the Ork-
neys to be null and void : ¢ Je déclare que mon frére
bastard, Robert abbé de Sainte-Croix, n’a eu que par
circonvention, Orknnay, et que se ne fut jamays mon
intention, comme il apert par la révocation que j’en
ay fayte depuys, et a été aussi fayte d’avant P'asge de
xxv ans, ce que j'aurois délibérez, si il ne m’eussent
prévenu par prison, de défayré aux Estats. Je veulx
donc que Orkennay soit réuni 4 la couronne.’—(Prince
Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. i p. 44, t. iv. p.
361. Registrum Magni Sigilli, lib. xxv. no. 334. Ms.
Register House. Liber Cartarum Sancte Crucis, pp.
xxxv. xxxvi. Mr. Balfour's Oppressions in Orkney
and Zetland, pp. xlvi.-lvi 3-11. Historie of King
James the Sixth, pp. 157, 182.)

'P. 112: ‘A mon frere de Mora;’ p. 122: ‘A
mon frere.’

Lord James Stewart, as every one knows, was the
bastard son of King James v. by Margaret, daughter
of John, fourth Lord Erskine, afterwards wife of Sir
Robert Douglas of Lochleven. He was born about
1531, made Commendator of the Priory of St. An-
drews in 1538, Commendator of the Priory of Pitten-
weem, and Commendator of the Priory of Mécon (in
France), in 1555, joined the Reformers in 1556, was
made Earl of Mar in February 1561-2, and Earl of
Murray in September 1562. He became Regent of
Scotland in August 1567, and was assassinated at
Linlithgow in January 1569-70.

Mary, it will be observed, spells most Seomsh
names as they were pronounced in her court, and
as they have continued to be pronounced by the
commonalty almost to our own day. *Mora,’
‘ Boduel,” and ¢ Hontelay,’ are pronunciations of
‘Murray,” ¢ Bothwell,’ and ¢ Huntly,” not yet, per-
haps, altogether obsolete in every part of Scotland.
The fidelity with which the ancient form of a name
has been preserved among the people is sometimes

very remarkable. ¢Cathcart,’ for example, has long
been an historical name in that shape; but the
Clydesdale peasant still calls the place ¢Carkert,
the very form in which it was written in the twelfth
century.—(Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol
i pref p. 82; Registrum Episcopatus Glasguensis,
vol. i p. 47.)

* Pp. 104, 105, 108: ¢ A Madame de Mora.’

Agnes, Annas, or Anna Keith, daughter of William
fourth Earl Marischal, married the Earl of Murray
in February 1561-2. After his death, she married
Colin sixth Earl of Argyll, who died in 1584. She
survived till 1588, —(Letters to the Argyll Family,
pp- 61-70, 79-88.)

3 P. 100: ‘A la fille de mon frere de Mora.’

The Earl of Murray had two daughters, but only
one of them, Elizabeth, was born at the date of Queen
Mary’s bequest, in May or June 1566. In 1580, she
married James Stewart (the eldest son of Sir James
Stewart, Commendator of St. Colm’s Inch), who, in
her right, became Earl of Murray. In her incom-
pleted will, made at Sheffield in February 1577, Queen
Mary declared that the daughters of the Earl of Mur-
ray had no right of succession in his earldom: ¢ Les
filles de Mora ne peuvent aussi hériter, ains revient la
conté 4 la couronne.’—(Prince Labanoff, Lettres de
Marie Stuart, t. iv. pp. 361, 362.)

¢ P. 118: ‘A Maystre Ien Stuart.’

8 P, 120: ‘A Iame Stuart.’

¢ Pp. 105, 124: ‘A Iene Stuart; p. 109: ‘A
Ien Stuart.’

She was perhaps the daughter of the Commendator
of Holyrood, who afterwards married Patrick Leslie,
Commendator of Lindores, and, on his death, Robert
Lord Melville of Raith,

7 Pp. 110, 111: ‘A Francoys mon nepueu; pp.
III, 112: ‘A mon nepueu;’ p. II14: ‘A mon
nepuueu ;' p. 123: ¢ A mon nepuiew.’
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Mary heaps so many tokens of her regard. He was the only son of Both-
well’s sister’ by her marriage with the Queen’s bastard brother, Lord John
Stewart, Lord Darnley, better known as Commendator of Coldingham.*
Mary witnessed the sports and pastimes of their wedding at Crichton,® and
stood godmother to their child, giving him, it would seem, the name of her
first husband. The infant was still at his mother’s breast when his father died,
bequeathing him to the Queen’s protection. Mary was no careless guardian.
Before the boy had completed his fourth year, she made him Commendator of
Coldingham. When he was stripped of his father’s lordship of Darnley,
by the restoration of the Earl of Lennox, she made him Lord of Badenoch ;
and when he lost that lordship by the restoration of the Earl of Huntly, she

made him Commendator of Culross, and gave him a large grant from the

Earl of Morton’s forfeited rents of Aberdour and Dalkeith.*

! Lady Jane Hepbumn, only daughter of Patrick,
third Earl Bothwell. She was thrice married, first
(in January 1561-2) to Lord John Stewart, Commen-
dator of Coldingham ; next (before May 1567) to John
Sinclair, Master of Caithness, eldest son of George,
fourth Earl of Caithness; lastly (before February
1581) to Archibald Douglas, a kinsman of the Regent
Morton.  She is the ¢ Madame de Cotiquant,’ to
whom the Queen gives a mourning robe in Novem-
ber 1563, and the ¢ Maistresse Catenay,’ or ¢ Cadenay,’
to whom the Queen gives a mantle and a vasquine
in May 1567 (pp. 68, 71, 73), when she seems to
have been the reigning female favourite at Holyrood.
—(Letter from Drury to Cecil, 15th April 1567, in
Mr. Tytler's History of Scotland, vol. v. p. 520. M.
Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I Histoire de I'Ecosse,
t il p. 433.)

1 Lord John Stewart, natural son or King James
v. (it is said by Elizabeth, daughter of Sir John Car-
michael, the Captain of Crawford), was made Com-
mendator of the Priory of Coldingham in 1541, when
he seems to have been in his eighth or ninth year.
In February 1550-1, he had letters of legitimation
under the great seal. He renounced the old faith
and joined the Reformers in 1560. He married Both-
well's sister in January 1561-2, and soon afterwards
had a grant of part of the forfeited domains of the
Earl of Lennox, together with the title of Lord Damn-

Her dethrone-

ley. Under that style (which has been overlooked by
the peerage writers, although it appears in the public
records) he had grants, in June 1563, of the lordship of
the Enzie, the Forest of Boyne, with the tower of
Bogygeich (now called Gordon Castle), and other
lands forfeited by the Earl of Huntly in the previous
year. He died at Inverness, probably in October or
November 1563, certainly before the close of January
1563-4.—(Registrum Magni Sigilli, lib. xxx. no. 688 ;
lib. xxxii. no. 367. Ms. Register House. Registrum
Secreti Sigilli, vol. xxxi. foll. 102, 103, 105, 106,
130, 131; vol xxxii. foll. 26, 71-73, 121. Ms.
Register House. Knox’s History of the Reformation,
vol. ii. pp. 88, 271, 293, 315, 320, 389, 391, 392.
Epistolae Regum Scotorum, vol ii. pp. 115-120.)

8 ¢On Sunday the 11th of January 1561-2, the
Lord John, a bastard brother of the Queen, the Com-
mendator of Coldingham, married Jane, the sister
of Bothwell, at Crichton Castle, the Queen being
present ; and much good sport and many pastimes
there were, said Randolph to Cecil.’—(G. Chalmers’s
Life of Queen Mary, vol. iii. pp. 16, 17. Calendar
of State Papers relating to Scotland, vol. i. p. 177.)

¢ In March 1563-4, ‘Francis Lord Darmley, only
lawful son of the deceased John Lord Darmley, the
Queen’s brother, and of Dame Janet Hepburn his
wife,” has charters of the lands of the lordship of the
Enzie, the Forest of Boyne, Cruickstoun, Inchinnan,
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ment left her helpless to serve him further; but her affection still survived,
and in her will, made at Sheffield, in the tenth year of her captivity, she
‘entreated her son to befriend her nephew, godson, and ward.! King James
had almost anticipated her request that the stripling might have his uncle’s
inheritance. If the new Earl Bothwell proved strangely ungrateful to the
King, he was at least not unmindful of Mary’s kindness. He told James
to his face that if he gave his consent to her trial by Queen Elizabeth, he
deserved to be hanged;* and when tidings reached Scotland that she had
been put to death, Bothwell exclaimed that a steel coat was the only mourn-
ing weed which he should wear, and raised the Middle Marches in arms for

the invasion of England.®

Neilstoun, and others. In December 1564, the Queen
makes a grant to him in liferent, and to his mother in
fee, of the lordship of Badenoch, in recompense of
the lordships and baronies of Darnley, Inchinnan,
Neilstoun, and others restored to Matthew Earl of
Lennox, on the recall of his forfeiture. In January
1564-5, Francis Stewart, son of the deceased John
Lord Darnley, has a grant of the lordship of Loch-
aber. In March 1564-5, the Queen makes a grant to
Francis Lord Badenoch, her nephew, of the escheat
of a lease. On the 25th of March 1565, Francis
Lord Badenoch, with consent of Mary Queen of
Scots, his tutrix, makes a grant of the lands of Roth-
makenzie and others to Alexander Innes of Cromby.
The charter (which is in the Innes charter-chest at
Floors) is subscribed by the Queen; her nephew’s
seal shows the arms of Scotland, with a bend,
and the legend SIGILLVM - FRANCISCI* DNI - DE - BAD-
ZENACH ' ET - LYNGZES. In July 1565, the Queen
makes a grant to her nephew, Francis Stewart, of the
Commendatorship of the Priory of Coldingham. In
October 1565, the King and Queen order the grant
of the lordship of Lochaber, made in January 1564-5,
to Francis Stewart, son of the deceased John Lord
Damley, to be deleted from the register. In April
1566, the King and Queen grant to Francis Stewart,
son of the deceased John, Commendator of Colding-
ham, 28 chalders of victual, and £240 of money,
from the rents of the baronies of Aberdour and Dal-
keith, in recompense of the rents of the barony of the
Enizie restored to the Earl of Huntly. In May 1566,
the King and Queen appoint James Earl Bothwell to
be tutor dative to Francis Stewart, son of the deceased

John, Commendator of Coldingham. In February
1566-7, the Queen grants the Commendatorship of
Culross and the Commendatorship of Kelso to her
nephew, Francis Stewart, in lieu of the Commendator-
ship of the Priory of Coldingham, which he had re-
signed at her request.—(Registrum Secreti Sigilli,
vol xxxii. foll. 71-73, 121, 130; vol. xxxiii. fol 3 ;
vol xxxiv. fol. §54; vol xxxv. foll 76, 115, 116;
vol. xxxvi. foll. 21, 101. Ms. Register House. Com-
potum Thesaurarii Reginae Scotorum. Jan. 1564—
Jun. 1566. Ms. Register House. Books of Sede-
runt of the Lords of Council and Session, vol. ii.
foll. 139, 140. Ms. Register House.)

1 ¢Je recommande mon nepveu Frangois Stuart
mon filz, et luy commande le tenir prés de luy et s’en
servir, et lui laisser le bien du Comte de Boduel son
oncle, en respect qu'il est de mon sang, mon filleul,
et m'a esté laissé en tutéle par son pére.'—(Prince
Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, vol. iv. p. 361.)

* On the 4th of October 1586, ‘the Earle Both-
well, beinge asked his advise by the Kinge what he
should doe, the Queene of England requiringe his
consente to proceed againste his mother, said, yf he
did suffer it, hee were worthie to be hanged the nexte
daye after ; wherat the Kinge laughed, and said he
would provid for that.’—(Despatches of M. Courcelles,
French Ambassador in Scotland, 1586-1587, pp. 8,
22, 23, 43. Edinb. 1828 : Bannatyne Club.)

# Mr. Tytler's History of Scotland, vol. vii
p. 127. M. Teulet, Papiers d'Etat relatifs 4 I'His-
toire de I'Ecosse, t. iii. p. 568.

A few years afterwards, Bothwell plunged into that
strange career of secret conspiracy and open tumult
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There are legacies, of more or less value, to the Countess of Mar,’
and her daughter;” denounced by Knox as a Jezebel fit for the maw of Satan, but chosen with

the general approval of the nation to be the governess of two generations

of its princes; to her daughter, afterwards Countess of Angus;® to the

Countess Dowager of Huntly,® the widow of the Earl who fell at Corri-

chie, as her enemies affirmed, a trafficker with witches;* to her daughter,

against the King, which, in 1594, ended in his forfei-
ture and flight from Scotland. After wandering
through Europe, earning a precarious and disreput-
able livelihood by practising feats of arms, telling
fortunes, and professing the art of necromancy, he
died at Naples in 1612, of grief, so it was believed,
for the death of Prince Henry. His grandson, who
served as a trooper in the wars of the Covenant,
suggested the Bothwell of Old Mortality.—(Sir W.
Scott's Prose Works, vol. vii. pp. 181-186.)

Unless I misread the mouldering cyphers on Crich-
ton Castle, they tell that Francis Stewart, Earl Both-
well, and his wife, Dame Margaret Douglas, built the
finest portion of the pile—the arcade, the grand stair-
case, and the eastern gallery—

¢ The court-yard’s graceful portico,
Above whose cornice, row on row,
Of fair hewn facets richly show
Their pointed diamond form.’
Its date, therefore, must lie between 1580 and 1594.

1 Pp. 105, 106, 108, 119: ‘A Madame de Mar;
PP. 106, 107 : * Aus dames de Mar,’ etc.

Annabella Murray, daughter of Sir William Murray
of Tullibardine, married, in 1557, John fifth Lord
Erskine, who in 1565 became Earl of Mar. She
is mentioned, in August 1566, as one of the Queen's
three favourites who excited the King’s jealousy ; the
others being the Countess of Argyle and the Countess
of Murray. She survived till 1603.—(Letter from the
Earl of Bedford, August 1566, in Principal Robert-
son's History of Scotland, app. no. xvii; Works,
vol. ii. p. 343.)

Knox calls her a verray Jesabell,” ¢a sweatt mor-
sall for the devillis mouth.” On the other hand, Sir
James Melville describes her as ‘wyse and schairp.’
Mr. James Melville speaks of the young King ¢ walk-
ing vpe and down in the auld Lady Marrs hand,’
discoursing of knowledge and ignorance, as ‘the
sweitest sight in Europe that day’ [October 1574].
Another orthodox divine, in recording her death,
writes : ¢ Feliciter vitam cum morte commutavit, omni-

bus grata, nemini exosa.’ The King’s own sense of
her services to himself was such that he chose her
to be governess to Prince Henry, and placed upon the
record of the statute-book a grateful acknowledge-
ment that, in her charge as well of himself as of his
son, ‘she hes done his Maiestie and the haill cuntrie
trew thankfull worthie and guid service without spott
negligence or reproche.’ — (Knox’s History of the
Reformation, vol. ii. pp. 128, 380. Sir James Mel-
ville's Memoirs, p. 262. Mr. James Melville's Diary,
p- 38. Archibald Simson’s Ms. Annales, quoted in
the Countess of Mar’s Arcadia, p. 9. Edinb. 1862.
Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol. iv. pp.
186, 187.)

* P. 105.

Mary, only daughter of John fifth Lord Erskine,
Earl of Mar, by his marriage with Annabella Murray,
became, in 1573, the wife of Archibald eighth Earl

: ¢ A Madame de Hontelay.'

Elizabeth Keith, sister of William fourth Earl
Marischal, married, about 1535, George fourth Earl
of Huntly. We learn from her daughter’s marriage-
contract that she could not write. Her niece was the
wife of the Regent Murray.

¢ ‘The Erle [of Huntly], immediatlie after his
tacken, departed this lyiff without any wound . .. .
and so, becaus it was laitt, he was cassen over-thorte

a pair of crealles, and so was caryed to Abirdene, and

was laid in the tolbuyth thairof, that the response
whiche his wyffis wyttches had gevin mycht be fulfilled,
whay all affirmed (as the most parte say) that that
same nycht should he be in the tolbuyth of Abirdene
without any wound upoun his body. When his lady
gatt knowledge thairof, sche blamed hir principale
witche, called Janet ; but sche stoutlie defended hir
self (as the devill can ever do), and affirmed that she
geve a trew answer, albeit she spack nott all the
treuth ; for she knew that he should be thair dead:
but that could nott proffeit my lady. Scho was angrye
and sorye for a seassone, but the devill, the messe,
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the young and comely wife who, a few months afterwards, was divorced from

Bothwell with such scandalous haste ;' to her daughter-in-law, the Countess of

Huntly,” the only Hamilton to whom the Queen vouchsafes a token of regard,
with the exception of Lady Seton,® the wife of the ever loyal First Master
of the Household; and to the Queen’s bastard cousin Lady Livingston,* the

and wyttches have als great credyte of hir this day
(12 Junij 1566) as thei had sevin yearis ago.'—(Knox's
History of the Reformation, vol. ii. pp. 357, 358.)

Imputations of witchcraft and sorcery were among
the commonplaces of controversy in that age. The
Reformer himself had his full share of them: ‘Qua-
cumque iter faceret secum aliquot mulieres circum-
ducebat . . . donec magicis artibus allectam filiam
Conmitis Ochiltriae pro vxore habuit. Erat enim magus,
vt in multis per totam vitam apparuit.’—(Davidis
Camerarii De Scotorum Fortitudine, pp. 276, 277.
Paris. 1631. Cf. Nicol Burne’s Disputation, foll. 102,
144, 175. Paris, 1581. R. Bannatyne’s Journal, pp.
309, 310.) The accusation, it is said, was firmly be-
lieved by King James : ¢ Knoxium (quem Beza Apos-
tolum Scotiae vocat) non impium modo fuisse, sed
magum, serenissimus Britanniarum Rex saepe magnis
argumentis asseruit.’—(Joannis Barclaii Paraenesis ad
Sectarios, p. 38. Romae, 1617.)

In Knox’s case, the charge of sorcery may have re-
ceived credit the more easily that he made public claim
to the gift of foretelling future events. His belief
that he himself possessed miraculous powers must,
at the same time, have disposed him to believe more
readily in the supernatural powers ascribed to others.

1 P. 110: ‘A Madame de Boduel.’

Jane Gordon, daughter of George fourth Earl of
Huntly, was born in 1545, and married, in February
1566, James fourth Earl Bothwell. She was divorced
from him in May 1567, and in 1§73 married Alex-
ander eleventh Earl of Sutherland, after whose death
(in 1594) she married the widowed husband of one
of the Four Marys, Alexander Ogilvy of Boyne. She
died in 1629.

Her son, the Knight of Gordonston, has drawn her
character with an affectionate hand : ¢ Shoe wes vertu-
ous, religious, and wyse . . . comlie . . . judicious, of
excellent memorie, and of great vnderstanding above the
capacitie of her sex. . . . Shoe alwise managed her effairs
with so great prudence . . . that the enemies of her
familie culd never prevaile against her, nor mowe. . .
the cheiff ruellers of the state . . . to doe anything to
her prejudice. . . . Amidstall these troublesome stormes

. » . shoe still injoyed the possession of her joynture
. out of the Earldome of Bothwell, and keiped
the same vntill her death, yea although that earldome
hath fallen tuyse into the King's hands by forfaltur.
. « . Shoe wes the first that caused work and labour
the colehugh besyd the river of Broray, and wes the
first instrument of making salt ther . . . And as shoe
lived with great credit and reputation, so shoe dyed
happelie, and wes (according to her own command)
bureid by her sones . . . in the cathedrall church of
Domogh, in the sepulchre of the Earles of Souther-
land.’—(Sir R. Gordon’s Genealogical History of
the Earldom of Sutherland, pp. 145, 168, 169, 409.)

Her portrait, painted in old age, is at Dunrobin, -

and was engraved for private circulation by the
late Duke of Sutherland. The features, large but
well-shaped, have a firm, thoughtful, and placid ex-
pression. The cross and rosary which she holds in
her hand, show that she kept her first faith to the end.
One of her books—a beautiful copy of the Legenda
Aurea, printed in 1470—is still preserved.

3 P. 119: °A la ieusne Contesse de Hontelay.’

Lady Anne Hamilton, daughter of James second
Earl of Arran, and first Duke of Chatelherault, mar-
ried, in 1558, George Lord Gordon, afterwards fifth
Earl of Huntly. Her marriage contract shows that
she could not write,

? P. 113: ‘Aus dames de Ceston,’ etc.

Isabel Hamilton, the daughter of Sir William
Hamilton of Sanquhar, married, about 1552, George
fifth Lord Seton. She died in 1606, having outlived
her husband by twenty years.

¢ Pp. 106, 109, 120: ¢ A Madame de Leuinston ;'
Pp- 106, 107, 113 : * Aus dames de Leuinston,’ etc.

Agnes Fleming, second daughter of Malcolm third
Lord Fleming, married, about 1553, William sigth
Lord Livingston.

She was the elder sister of Margaret Fleming,
Countess of Atholl, one of the Queen's ladies of
honour ; and of Mary Fleming, one of the Queen’s
Four Marys, the wife of Secretary Lethington.

Their father fell at Pinkie in 1547. Their mother,
Janet Stewart, an illegitimate daughter of King James
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wife of a noble not less eminent for his fidelity, and with herself in after
years the companion of the Queen’s captivity.!

The Privy Councillors, not already named, to whom the Queen makes
bequests are, the Earl of Argyll,’ the husband of her bastard sister; the
Earl of Mar,® regarded by the extreme Reformers as the leader of a
reaction, which, in the enjoyment of the spoils of the Reformation,
laughed at its policy and diécipline as a pious dream;' the Earl of

IV. appears, with three of her daughters, in the earliest
roll of the Queen’s servants which I have seen. She
accompanied Mary to France in 1548, and there had
an intrigue with King Henry 11, by whom, in 1551,
she became the mother of Henry of Angouleme (or,
as he was sometimes called, Henry of Valois), Grand
Prior of France.—(M. Francisque-Michel, Les Ecossais
en France, t. i pp. 474, 503-6, L ii. pp. 2, 3. Mr.
Riddell's Stewartiana, pp. 48-51.)

There was another Lady Fleming (p. 71), to whom
the Queen gave a devant of cloth of gold, etc., for her
wedding-dress, in May 1562. This was Elizabeth
Ross, the wife of John fifth Lord Fleming. They
held their marriage feast in the open air : * The ban-
kett was made in the Parke of Holyroudhous, under
Arthur’s Seatt, at the end of the loche, quher grate
triumph wes made, the Quein’s Grace being present,
and the King of Suethland’s embassador, with many
other nobles.’—(G. Marioreybanks, Annals of Scot-
land, p. 14. Diumal of Occurrents, p. 72.)

! Lord and Lady Livingston shared the Queen’s
prison at Carlisle and at Bolton in 1568, and at Tut-
bury in 1569. The name of ‘ My Lady Leuiston,
dame of honour to the Queen's Majesty,’ is the first
on the roll of Mary’s servants at Sheffield in 1571,
It contains also the name of her husband, ¢ My Lord
Leuiston.” They seem to have been separated from
the Queen in September 1571.—(G. Chalmers’ Life of
Queen Mary, vol. i. pp. 441, 442. Mr. T. Wright's
Queen Elizabeth and her Times, vol i pp. 311, 394,
395. Lodge’s Illustrations of British History, vol. i.
p- 520, edit. 1838. Bishop Lesley’s Diary, in the
Miscellany of the Bannatyne Club, vol. iii. p. 153.) -

Lord Livingston’s father was one of the two lords
specially intrusted with the keeping of the young
Queen from 1544 to 1548.—(Registrum Secreti Sigilli,
vol. xxii. fol. 15. Ms. Register House.)

8 P. 113: ¢ Au Conte dArguilles.’

Archibald Campbell, fifth Earl of Argyll, succeeded

his father the fourth Earl, in 1558, became Lord
Chancellor in January.1573, and died in September
1575. He commanded the Queen’s forces at Lang-
side. His wife was the sister of the Regent Murray,
who, with his brothers, the Commendators of Kelso,
Holyrood, and Coldingham, contributed to the pay-
ment of her dowry of 5000 merks.

3 P. 112: ¢ Au Conte de Mar.

John, fifth Lord Enskine, succeeded his father, the
fourth Lord, in 1552, was made Earl of Mar in 1565,
and Regent of Scotland in 1571. He died in October
1572.

His father was one of the two lords intrusted
with the keeping of the young Queen from 1544 to
1548.

His sister was one of the concubines of King James
v., by whom, about 1531, she became the mother of
the Regent Murray.

¢ ¢Some approved it, and willed the samyn have
bene sett furth be a law. Otheris, perceaving thair -
camall libertie and worldlie commoditie somewhat to
be impaired thairby, grudged, insomuche that the
name of the Book of Discipline became odious unto
thame. Everie thing that repugned to thair corrupt
affectionis was termed in thair mockage ¢devote ima-
ginationis.” . . . The cheaf great man that had pro-
fessed Christ Jesus, and refuissed to subscrive the
Book of Discipline, was the Lord Erskyn ; and no
wonder, for besydis that he has a verray Jesabell to
his wyffe, yf the poore, the schooles, and the mini-
sterie of the Kirk, had their awin, his keching
wald lack two parttis and more of that which he in-
justlie now possesses. Assuredlye some of us have
woundered how men that professe godlynes could of
so long continewance hear the threatnyngis of God
against theavis and against thair housses, and knowing
thame selfis guyltie in suche thingis as war openlie
rebucked, and that thei never had remorse of con-
science, neather yitt intended to restore any thingis
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Atholl,! one of the three nobles who had raised a voice in Parliament

against the new doctrines, protesting that he would believe as his fathers had

believed ; ? the turbulent, licentious Earl Bothwell, the worst man in the court,

but the loudest in professions of zeal for the purer faith;* his wife’s brother,
the Earl of Huntly,* now Lord Chancellor of the realm; Bishop Lesley
of Ross,’ already distinguished by his defence of the old religion, and soon
to be more widely known for the admirable devotion with which he gave

of that whiche long thei had stollen and reft.’—(Knox's
History of the Reformation, vol. ii. p. 128,)
Buchanan draws a very different character : —
*Si quis Areskinum memoret per bella ferocem,
Pace gravem nulli, tempore utroque pium ;
Si quis opes sine fastu, animum sine fraude, carentem
Rebus in ambiguis suspicione fidem ;
Si quod ob has dotes saevis jactata procellis
Fugit in illius patria fessa sinum ;
Vera quidem memoret, sed non et propria : laudes
Qui pariter petet has unus et alter erit.
Illud ei proprium est, longo quod in ordine vitae
Nil odium aut livor quod reprehendat habet.’
(Miscellaneorum Liber, xxv.: *Joanni Areskino,
Comiti Marriae, Scotorum Proregi.’)

1 P. 113: ‘A Conte dAtel’

John Stewart, fourth Earl of Atholl, succeeded his
father the third Earl in 1542, became Lord Chancel-
lor in March 1578, and died in April 1579, as was
suspected, of poison. He was the brother-in-law of
Secretary Maitland of Lethington. The French am-
bassador describes him, in 1565, as ¢ trés grand Catho-
lique, hardy et vaillant et remuant, comme 'on dict, mais
de nul jugement et expérience.”—(M. Teulet, Papiers
d’Etat relatifs & 'Histoire de 'Ecosse, t. ii. p. 76.)

3 ¢ Qur Confessioun was redd . . . and the vottis
of everie man war requyred accordingliec. Of the
temporall estate onlie voted in the contrair, the Erle
of Atholl, the Lordis Somervaill and Borthwick ; and
yit for thair disassenting thei produced no bettir reas-
sone, but ¢ We will beleve as oure fatheris beleved.’—
(Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. ii. p. 121.)

3 Pp. 113, 122: ‘ Au Conte Boduel.

¢ Upon Sonday [10th February 1565-6], the Order
[of the Cockle] is [to be] given [to the King.] . . .
Divers Lords have bene . . . requyred to be at the
masse that daye. Some have . . . refused. . . .
and of them all Bothwell is the stoutest but worst
thought of.’—(Randolph to Cecil, 7 February 1565-6,
in Mr. T. Wright's Queen Elizabeth and her Times, vol.
i p. 220. Cf. Calderwood’s History, vol. ii. p. 325.)

¢ Soon after [24th February 1565-6] the Earle Both-
well was married unto the Earle of Huntley his sister.
The Queen desired that the marriage might be made
in the chappell at the masse ; which the Earle Both-
well would in no wise grant.’—(Knox’s History of
the Reformation, book v. vol. ii. p. 520.)

We have mention of Bothwell’s refusal_to attend
mass, ‘albeit in great favour with the Queen,’ in
November and December 1565. His intercourse with
Knox has already been referred to (pp. xxxvi., xxxvii.,
note 2.) He was among the lords who would not enter
the Chapel Royal at Stirling, at the Prince's baptism,
in December ‘1566, ¢ becaus it was done against the
poyntis of thaif religioun.’ And, not even to secure
the grand prize of his ambition and reward of his
crimes, would he consent to be married to the Queen
otherwise than by a Reformed minister after the Re-
formed rites : ‘toda la cerimonia fue 4 la Calvinista.’
—(M. Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I'Histoire de
PEcosse, vol. iii. p. 31; Lettres de Marie Stuart, p.
1. Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. ii. pp.
514, 539, 555. Diumnal of Occurrents, pp. 104, I11.
Miss Strickland’s Lives of the Queens of Scotland, vol.
V. p. 291. Sir James Melville’s Memoirs, pp. 178, 179.)

¢ P. 113: ‘Au Conte Hontelay ;’ p. 123: ‘A
Monssieur de Hontelay.’

George Gordon, son of George fourth Earl of
Huntly, was restored to the forfeited honours of his
father in 1565, held the office of Lord Chancellor from
March 1566 till August 1567, and died suddenly at
Strathbogie in October 1576.

8 P. 113: * A 1Esuesque de Lendors.’

John Lesley, the illegitimate son, it would seem,
of Gavin Lesley, parson of Kingussie, commissary
general of Murray, was born in 1527, became parson of
Oyne in 1559, a Lord of Session in 1564, Commen-

dator of the Abbey of Lindores in 1565-6, Bishop -

of Ross in 1566, and Bishop of Coutances (in France)
in 1593. He died at Brussels in May 1596. Itis a
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Queen ; and Sir James Balfour,! the most cor-

rupt person, as some have judged him, of that corrupt age,’ but so scrupu-
lous in his regard for the creed of Luther that he could not hold communion

with the disciples of Calvin.®

Each gets a finger-ring; and there are further

legacies of a jewel, containing eleven diamonds and a ruby, to Bothwell, and
of a jewel, containing five diamonds and a pearl, with an enamelled chain,

to his brother-in-law, Huntly.

The Queen is careful to remember her attendants and servants of all

ranks.

There are costly bequests to her Four Marys‘—ladies of her own name

melancholy token of the general immorality of his age
that such a man—the most estimable of the Scottish
prelates—appears to have been the father of three
illegitimate children.—(Genealogy of the Leslies, in
Macfarlane’s Genealogical Collections, Ms. Advocates’
Library, Edinburgh. James Gordon’s History of
Scots Affairs, vol. i. p. [xiii.], note . Extracts from
the Council Register of the burgh of Aberdeen, 1570-
1625, pp- 192, 193.)

The Queen, it will be seen, mistakes the name of
his abbey for the name of the see to which he had just
been presented. He sat in the Privy Council as
Commendator of Lindores on the 1r1th, and as Bishop
of Ross on the 15th of April 1566. He describes him-
self as still only Bishop Elect on the 12th of March
1566-7, and would seem never to have been conse-
crated to the see of Ross.—(Registrum Secreti Con-
cilii : Acta, 1563-7, pp. 192, 196. MS. Register House.
Register of Deeds, vol vii. foll 263, 398, 399. Ms.
Register House.)

1 P, 113: ‘A Iemes Balfour.’

Sir James Balfour, son of Michael Balfour of
Montquhany, became parson of Flisk about 1560, a
Lord of Session in 1561, a Privy Councillor in 1565,
Clerk Register in 1566, Governor of Edinburgh
Castle in the spring or summer of 1567, and Lord
President of the Court of Session in December of the
same year. He was forfeited for his adherence to the
Queen's cause in 1§71, and passed the latter years of
his life in exile or obscurity, dying, it is supposed,
about the year 1583.

% ¢ Sir James Balfour, the most corrupt man of that
age.'—(Principal Robertson’s History of Scotland,
book vi. vol. ii. p. 40.)

# Knox, who had been chained to the same galley
with him in France, writes : ¢ We have heard that the
said Maister James [Balfour] alledgeis that he was never
of this our religioun ; but that he was brought up in
Martine’s opinioun of the Sacrament, and tharefoir he
can nott communicat with us.’—(History of the Re-
formation, vol. i. pp. 202, 228.)

¢ P. 113: ‘Aux quatre Maries;’ p. 124: ‘Aus
quatre Maries.’

A.D. 1548. “The Quene being as than betuix
fyve and sax yearis of aige ... wes embarqued in
the Kingis awin gallay, and with her the Lord Erskyn
and Lord Levingstoun quha had bene hir keparis, and
the Lady Fleming hir fader sister, with sindre gentil-
wemen and nobill mennis sonnes and dochteris, al-
moist of hir awin aige ; of the quhilkis thair wes four
in speciall, of whome everie one of thame buir the
samin name of Marie, being of four syndre honorable
houses, to wyt, Fleming, Levingstoun, Setoun, and
Betoun of Creich ; quho remanit all foure with the
Quene in France, during her residens thair, and re-
turned agane in Scotland with hir Majestie in the yeir
of our Lorde im ve Ixi yeris.’—(Bishop Lesley’s His-
tory of Scotland, pp. 209, 297. Cf. Leslaei De Re-
bus Gestis Scotorum, p. 494.)

The Four Marys have a place in the roll of the
beauties of the court of King Henry 1. and Queen
Catharine of Medicis : ¢ Mesdamoiselles de Flammin,
de Ceton, Beton, Leviston, Escossoises.’—(Brantéme,
t. v. p. 74)

Nor are they forgotten in the verse of Buchanan :—

¢ Alma Salus, reduci tibi Nymphae haec vota ded
Quattuor.’
(Miscellaneorum Liber, xxxv. : ‘Ad Salutem in Nup-

The Four
Marys.
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and age, who, having been chosen to accompany her to France, had re-

turned with her to Scotland, and lingered in her court to the last,

even after they had found other homes—the lovely Mary Livingston,!

whose marriage with a younger son of the Lord Sempill, conspicuous for his

grace or vigour in dancing, had disturbed the equanimity of Knox;? Mary

tiis Reginae.’) Elsewhere, in his Masque of the
Gods, he makes Jupiter extol to Diana the charms
and virtues of Five Marys, counting the Queen as
one of them :—
¢ Quinque tibi Mariae fuerant, sed quinque Dearum
Instar erant forma, moribus, ingenio.
que Deum dignae thalamis, si jungere tacdas
Mortali superos ferrea fata sinant.’
(Epigrammatum lib. iii. : ¢ Pompa Deorum in Nup-
tiis Mariae.’)

! Pp. 111, 120, 121 : * A Lesuiston lesnee ;' pp.
116, 117 : * A Leuinston laysnee.’

Mary Livingston—or, as she herself writes her name,
‘Marie Leuiston’ (pp. 11§, 121)—the daughter of Alex-
ander fifth Lord Livingston, married, on Shrove Tues-
day (6 March) 1564-5, John Sempill of Beltreis, son of
Robert third Lord Sempill. The Queen is a party to
the marriage contract, names the marriage day, and
gives a dowry of L.500 a year in land. The bride’s
brother, Lord Livingston, adds 100 merks a year in
land, or 1000 merks in money. The bridegroom
gives as a jointure the Place of Beltreis, with lands and
fishings taxed to the crown at L.18, 16s. 8d. a year.
The marriage contract, dated at Edinburgh on the 3d
of March 1564-5, is subscribed by the Queen, and
witnessed by John Lord Erskine, Patrick Lord Ruth-
ven, and Secretary Maitland of Lethington. The
Queen, beside other gifts (pp. 31, 70, 72), gave the
bride her wedding-dress, and furnished the bridal
masque. It was the first marriage among her Four
Marys, and as such seems to have attracted unusual
attention. ‘Elle a commencé 3 marier ses Quatre
Maries,’” so the French ambassador wrote to Catha-
rine of Medicis, ¢ et dict qu'elle veult estre de 1a bande.’
Mary Livingston—or, as she was frequently called
after her marriage, ¢ Madamoiselle de Sempill,” or
¢ John Sempill’s wife’—seems to have been alive in
April 1592. Her husband died in April 1579.—(Re-
gister of Deeds, vol. xix. foll. 359-361, vol. xL fol. 268,
Ms. Register House.  Registrum Secreti Sigilli, vol.
xxxiii. foll. §, 6, 14, 15. MS. Register House. Acts
of the Parliaments of Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 559, 560;
vol. iii. pp. 245, 246. Compotum Thesaurarii Reginae
Scotorum, Mar. 1564-5. Ms. Register House. M.

Teulet, Papiers d'Etat relatifs & I'Histoire de I'Ecosse,
t il pp. 32, 121, 167.)

# ¢It wes weill knawin that schame haistit mariage
betwix Johne Sempill, callit the Danser, and Marie
Levingstoune, surnameit the Lustie.’—(Knox's His-
tory of the Reformation, vol. il pp. 415, 416.)

I must believe this aspersion to be as groundless as
any of the aspersions made on Knox’s own chastity
by his theological adversaries. See the Register of
the Town Council of Edinburgh, 18th June 1563, in
Kirkton’s History of the Church of Scotland, pp. 22 ;
Nicol Burne’s Disputation, foll. 102, 143, 144 ; Dr.
John Hamilton’s Facile Traictice, p. 60, Lovaine,
1600 ; Davidis Camerarii De Scotorum Fortitudine,
p- 276.

So little haste was there in Mary Livingston's
marriage, that the despatches of the French and
English ambassadors speak of preparations for it
two months before it was celebrated. I need not
add that they give no countenance to the scandal
reported by Knox, and, so far as I can discover,
reported by no one else. — (Letter from Randolph
to Cecil, 9 January 1564-5, in Calendar of State
Papers relating to Scotland, vol i. p. 204. Letter
from Randolph to the Earl of Bedford, in Miss
Strickland’s Lives of the Queens of Scotland, vol. iv.
p. 95. Letter from Paul de Foix to Catharine of
Medicis, January 1564-5, printed by M. Teulet in his
Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I'Histoire de I'Ecosse, t. ii.
p. 32)

If there had been any blot on Mary Livingston’s
marriage, in March, we may be assured that Buch-
anan would not, in July, have made it the turning
point of a masque at Holyrood, in which the God-
dess of Chastity plays the chief part. The first lines
of the piece are spoken by Diana to Jupiter :—

¢ Quinque mihi fuerant Mariae, pater alme, ministrae,
Et decus, et nostri gloria prima chori.
Hoc numero comitum coelo caput alta ferebam :
Sumque aliis nimium visa beata Deis.
Nam Venus et Juno successibus invida nostris,
Unam de numero surripuere meo :

Et nunc orba cohors numero sibi displicet, uno
Pleiadum languet ceu minor igne chorus.’ . . .
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Beton,! the wife of Alexander Ogilvy of Boyne, the daughter of a house dis-

tinguished for its ability, and, it would seem, the scholar of the court,

since it is to her that Mary bequeaths her French, English, and Italian books ;*

Mary Fleming,® one of the Queen’s bastard cousins, the betrothed of Secre-

Apollo breaks in :
¢ Juno vocat, Mariasque tuas jubet esse maritas
Castaque legitimi jura subire tori.’
The answer of Jupiter has been already quoted (pp.
xlvi, xlvii., note 4). The pageant closes with a speech
from the herald Talthybius :
¢ Alter Hymen laetis jam vocibus aethera pulset,
Sit Maria ut taedis altera juncta novis.
Connubio quantum sociat Venus aurea, tantum
Detrahitur numero, casta Diana, tuo.’ . . .
—(Epigrammatum lib, iii. : ¢ Pompa Deorum in
Nuptiis Mariae.’)

! Pp. 117-119, 124: ‘A Beton.

Mary Beton—or, as she herself wrote her name,
¢ Marie Bethune'—was the niece of the Lady of Brank-
some of the ¢ Lay of the Last Minstrel,’ and the daugh-
ter of Robert Beton of Creich, one of the Masters of
the Queen’s Household, by his wife Dame Jeanne de
la Runvelle. She married, in May 1566, Alexander
Ogilvy of Boyne. The Queen named the marriage
day. The bride had a dowry from her father of 3000
merks, and a jointure from her husband of lands yield-
ing 150 merks and 30 chalders of grain yearly. The
marriage contract is signed by the Queen, the King,
and the Earls of Huntly, Bothwell, Argyll, Murray,
Angus, and Atholl. The bridegroom and the bride’s
father subscribe themselves, after the fashion of the
time, by their territorial styles of ‘Boyne’ and
¢ Creycht)—(Miscellany of the Maitland Club, vol. i.
PP. 39-49. Register of Deeds, vol. viii. foll. 322-324.
Ms. Register House.)

The worth and beauty of Mary Beton are com-
memorated by Buchanan in four sets of verses on her
election as Queen of the Twelfth Night revels at Holy-
rood :—

¢ Regno animus tibi dignus erat : tibi regia virtus :
Et poterant formam sceptra decere tuam.
Fortuna erubuit sua munera sola deesse :
Quae tibi nunc plena dat cumulata manu.’

\(Epignmmatum lib. iii., Valentiniana, 6-9: *‘Ad

Mariam Betonam pridie Regalium Reginam sorte duc-
tam.’) It need scarcely be added that Buchanan’s
¢ pridie Regalium’ is the eve of the Epiphany, or
Twelfth Day—*les Rois,’ or ‘1a féte des Rois,’ as it was
called by the French,—* Uphaliday,’ as it was glossed

in the Scottish calendar of that age, ¢ when Christ vas
reueled first to the Gentiles be the starre whilk guydit
the Thre Kingis to Bethleem.” ¢ Habits de Masque
faicts en la veille des Roix' appear in the Inventory
of the Queen's wardrobe at Chartley in 1586. Selden
speaks as if the *chusing kings and queens on
Twelfth Night’ was still in uscin England in his day.
The choice was made by a bean hidden in a cake,
whence the person chosen was called King or Queen
of the Bean.—(Adam King's Cathechisme, kalend.
6. Jan. Paris, 1588. Prince Labanoff, Lettres de
Marie Stuart, t. vii. p. 236. Selden’s Table Talk, zoce
¢ Christmas ;* Opera, vol. iii. col. 2018.)

Mary Beton—or, as she was commonly called after
her marriage, ‘the Lady Boyn,’ or ‘Madame de
Bouyn'—would seem to have survived to the year 1606.
A painting at Balfour House in Fife, shown as her
portrait, figures a very fair beauty, with dark eyes and
yellow hair. A letter, written by her in June 1563 to the
wife of Sir Nicholas Throckmorton, the English am-
bassador to France, and afterwards to Scotland, is in the
State Paper Office. Her wit and charms seem to have
fascinated his predecessor in the Scottish embassy,
Sir Thomas Randolph, who writes to Queen Elizabeth
and the Earl of Leicester how, for four days, he sat
next her at the Scottish Queen’s table at St. Andrews,
tells the Earl of Bedford how he had her for his part-
ner at biles against Mary and Darnley, and, in describ-
ing the Twelfth Night reign of another of the Four
Marys, assures the Earl of Leicester that, ¢if Beton
had lyked so short a tyme, so worthie a rowme,
Flemyng to her by good right should have given place.’
Mary Beton’s husband outlived her, and married in
his old age the wife whom Bothwell had divorced,
the venerable Countess Dowager of Sutherland. —
(Mr. T. Wright's Queen Elizabeth and her Times,
vol i. p. 188. G. Chalmer’s Life of Queen Mary,
vol. i p. 191. Calendar of State Papers relating to
Scotland, vol. i. p. 208, vol. ii. p. 825. Miss Strick-
land’s Lives of the Queens of Scotland, vol. iv. p. 106.)

* P. 124.

* Pp. 116, 120: ‘A Flamy.’

Mary Fleming—or ¢ Marie Flemyng,’ as she herself
wrote her name —was the fourth daughter of Malcolm
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tary Maitland of Lethington,! and still in favour at Holyrood, although
her lover was proscribed for his share in the death of Riccio; and Mary

third Lord Fleming (by his wife Janet Stewart, a
natural daughter of King James 1v.), and the youngest
sister of Lady Livingston, and of the Countess of
Athole.

A letter from the English envoy in Scotland gives
a glimpse of her as mistress of the Twelfth Night
sports at Holyrood in 1563 : ¢ You. . . should have
seen . . . here upon Tuesday [s. January] . . . the
great solemnity and royall estate of the Queen of the
Beene. Fortune was so favourable to faire Flemyng
that, if shee could have seen to have judged of her
vertue and beauty, as blindly shee went to work and
chose her at adventure, shee wold sooner have made
her a Queen for ever, then for one only day, to exalt
her so high and the nixt to leave her in the state shee
found her . . . That day yt was to be seen, by her
princely pomp, how fite a match she wold be, wer
[shee] to contend ether with Venus in beauty, Minerva
in witt, or Juno in worldly wealth, haveing the two
former by nature, and of the third so much as is con-
tained in this realme at her command and free dispo-
sition. The treasure of Solomon, I trowe, was not to
be compared unto that which hanged upon ber back

. . The Queen of the Been wes in a gowne of cloath
of silver ; her head, her neck, her shoulders, the rest
of her whole body, so besett with stones, that more
in our whole jewell house wer not to be found. The
Queen herselfe [was] apparelled in collours whyt and
black, [no other] jewell or gold about her, bot the
ring that I brought her from the Queen's Majestie
hanging at her breast, with a lace of whyt and black
about her neck.’—(Letter from Randolph to Lord
Robert Dudley, 15th Jan. 1563, in the Miscellany of
of the Maitland Club, vol. ii. pp. 390-393.)

Buchanan laid the rady tribute of his verse at the
feet of the mimic sovere:g'n of a night :

¢ Regia, Flaminia, ,
Si genus aut virtus regm scepm daret.
Si det sceptra decus, d fc
Non decor aut forma est dignior ulla tua.
Si studiis hommumque favent bona numina votn.
Jam tibi regna homi vota p
—(Epigrammatum, lib. iii., Va.lenhma.m, 2-§:
Mariam Flaminiam sorte Reginam.’)

When the Queen, after Chastellard’s™ outrage in
February 1563, deemed it unsafe to sleep alone, she
chose her kinswoman Mary Fleming for her bedfellow.

1 Lethington’s courtship of one of the Four Marys
began as early at least as the autumn of 1564, when she

‘Ad

was about two-and-twenty, and he a widower of about
forty. ¢ The Secretary’s wife is dead '—so Kirkcaldy
of Grange writes to Randolph, in September—* and he
is a suitor to Mary Fleming, who is as meet for him as
Iam to be a page.” A month afterwards Randolph
tells Cecil that Lethington is now believed to favour
the Earl of Lennox, *for the love he beareth to Mary
Fleming.’ In February 1564-5, we have Lethington
himself confessing his passion in the grave ear of
Cecil : ¢ The common affairs do never so much trouble
me but that at least I have one merry hour of the four-
and-twenty. . . . Those that be in love are ever set
upon a merry pin’ A month later, the English
envoy in Scotland writes to Sir Henry Sidney, who
had himself been an admirer of Mary Fleming : ¢She
hath found another whom she doth love better.
Lethington now serveth her alone, and is like for her
sake to run beside himself. Both day and night he
attendeth, he watcheth, he wooeth, his folly never
more apparent than in loving her, where he may be
assured that, how much soever he make of her, she
will always love another better.” In June, Randolph
tells Leicester that Riccio is in such favour with the
Queen that ¢ Lethington hath now both leave and
time to court his mistress, Mary Fleming.’ He seems
to have made use of his opportunity, for, in October,
we find Randolph writing to Cecil : *My old friend
Lethington hath leisure to make love ; and in the end,
I believe, as wise as he is, will show himself a very
fool, or stark, staring mad.” The murder of Riccio
separated the lovers for six months, from March till
September 1566, when Lethington was restored to the
Queen’s favour. In December he had a gift of one
of her dresses of cloth of gold (p. 69). He was mar-
ried to Mary Fleming on the 6th of January 1566-7,
at Stirling, where the Queen kept the last Twelfth
Tide she was to see beyond the walls of a prison.
~—(Calendar of State Papers relating to Scotland,
vol. ii. p. 825, vol. i pp. 201, 207, 212, 223, 238,
242. Bishop Keith’s History of Scotland, vol. ii.
P. 241. Miss Strickland’s Lives of the Queens of
Scotland, vol. iv. pp. 107, 131. Mr. Tytler's His-
tory of Scotland, vol. v. pp. 495-496.)

However her husband might waver or fail in bis
loyalty, Mary Fleming—or, as she was often called
after her marriage, ‘ Madame de Lethington,’ or ¢ the
Secretary’s wife'—remained unshaken in her devotion
to her mistress. When Mary was a prisoner in Loch-
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Bequest to Mary Seton,! extolled by the Queen as the finest dresser of hair in Christendom,’ and
oeton.

the only one of the Four Marys who never married. She had vowed herself to a

Ring sent to leven, means were found to convey to her a ring A letter in French from Mary Fleming to her sister-
the Queenin with a motto encouraging her to hopes of escape.  in-law, Isabel Maitland, wife of James Heriot of

Buchanan, in his Chamaeleon, says, that it came from
Lethington. He may have been in the secret, but
the token would appear to have been sent by Mary
Fleming. *The Quene said scho gat anering and thre
wordis of Italianis in it'—so one of her attendants de-
poned on his examination after her flight—*I iudget
[it cam fra the] Secretar, becaus of [the] langage.
Scho said, ¢ Na, it was ane woman.” All the place
saw hir weyr it. . . . Cursall’ [one of the Queen’s bed-
chamber women] ‘show me the Secretaris wiff send
it, and the vreting of it was ane fable of Isop betuix
the Mouss and the Lioune, hou the Mouss for ane
plesour done to hir be the Lioun, efter that, the
Lioune.being bound with ane cord, the Movss schuyr
the corde and lut the Lioune louss.  This far I hard
suirlye ; and that the Quene said plainlye scho lipnit
in him’ [Lethington] that he fauorit hir and lamentit
hir cace.’—(Ms. Fragment in the Register House.) In
May 1581, we find the Queen in her prison at Sheffield
longing for the society of Mary Fleming.—(Prince
Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. v. p. 222.)
Lethington died in June 1573. His widow, by her
moving appeal to his old friend Burleigh, rescued his
corpse from the shame and ignominy with which it
was threatened by the Scottish law of treason. See
above, pp. xxii. xxiii., note 3. In February 1583-4
she obtained a reversal of his forfeiture ; and in May
1584, the Parliament extended the benefits of the
pacification of Perth in 1572, to her and to her chil-
dren, whom she seems to have brought up in the old
faith. Her only son is last heard of at Brussels in
1620, when he writes a Latin letter to Camden in vin-
dication of his fathe’s memory. The extinction of
Lethington’s male issue by the death of this son, in
poverty and exile, was believed by many to fulfil the
prophetic imprecations to which Knox gave way when
stung by the jeers of that remarkable man who, in diplo-
macy, had held his own against Cecil and the Cardinal
of Lorraine, and, in theology, had shown himself as for-
midable in dispute with the preachers of Geneva as with
the doctors of the Sorbonne.—(Knox's History of the
Reformation, vol. ii. pp. 89, 363, 421, 460. Scot of
Scotstarvet’s Staggering State of Scots Statesmen, pp.
56-57. Kirkton's History of the Church of Scotland,

Trabroun, is printed in Letters from Lady Margaret
Burnet to John Duke of Lauderdale, p. 83.  Edinb.
1828 : Bannatyne Club. It is without date, but shows
itself to have been written between 1567 and 1581.

1 P, 118: ¢ A Ceston.’

Mary Seton—or, as she herself wrote her name,
¢ Marie de Seton’—was the only daughter of George
fourth Lord Seton, by his second wife Mary Pyeres or
Pieris, a Frenchwoman who came to Scotland in the
train of the Queen’s mother in 1538.

When the Queen, after her surrender at Carberry,
was hurried on foot, in her night-gown, through the
streets of Edinburgh, her steps were supported by
Mary Livingston and Mary Seton. We find her at.
tended by Mary Seton in her captivity at Carlisle and
at Bolton in 1568, at Chatsworth in 1570 and 1572,
and at Sheffield in 1570, 1574, 1577, and 1582. They
seem to have been separated before 1584, when Mary
Seton retired to France. In October 1586, she is
found at Reims, whence she writes to the French
ambassador at Holyrood, of her long absence from
Scotland, and of her sorrow to hear that new troubles
had befallen the Queen her mistress. The allusion
is to Babington's conspiracy.—(Sir Richard Mait-
land’s History of the House of Seyton, p. 42. Glasg.
1829 : Maitland Club. M. Teulet, Papiers d’Etat
relatifs & I'Histoire de IEcosse, t. ii. p. 167. Prince
Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vil p. 123,
t iii. p. 116, t. iv. pp. 215, 239, 341-344, 377-381,
389, 390, 401, 402, t. V. pp. 436, 437. M. Laing’s
History of Scotland, vol. ii. p. 114. G. Chalmers’
Life of Queen Mary, vol. i pp. 441, 442. J. Hun-
ter’s History of Hallamshire, p. 66. Calendar of
State Papers relating to Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 933,
1014. Miss Strickland’s Lives of the Queens of
Scotland, vol. vii. pp. 266-271, 441.) A French letter
by Mary Seton, without date or address, is printed in
Letters from Lady Margaret Bumet to John Duke of
Lauderdale, pp. 81, 82.

Mary Seton had an elder sister Marion—one of the
three daughters of her father’s first marriage with
Dame Elizabeth Hay—who appears among the attend-
ants of Queen Mary of Guise in 1548, and became th
wife of John Earl of Menteith. :

Mary Seton,

p-23. Registrum Magni Sigilli, lib. xxxvi. no.571. Ms. * Sir Francis Knollys writes to Cecil, from Carlisle, * ¢he finest
Register House, Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland,  on the 28th June 1568: ‘Now here are six waiting bu.sk?n ’ Eof
hair u-

vol. iii. p. 313. G. Camdeni Epistolae, pp. 305, 306.) ~ women, although none of reputation, but Mistress Mary rope.
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life of celibacy, and when, about the age of thirty-five, she reluctantly consented
to seek release from her vow, her suitor, the Queen’s Master of Household,

suddenly died.!

Not long afterwards, when she had shared her mistress’s

prison for more than fifteen years, she withdrew to France, and entering the
convent of St. Peter's at Reims, then under the rule of the Queen’s aunt,

ended her days there.

- There are legacies of less price to three elder ladies of honour, the
Countess of Atholl,? another of the Queen’s bastard cousins, believed by the

Seaton, who is praised by this Queen to be the finest
busker, that is to say, the finest dresser of a woman’s
head of hair that is to be seen in any country;
whereof we have seen divers experiences, since her
coming hither. And, among other pretty devices,
yesterday and this day, she did set such a curled hair
upon the Queen, that was said to be a perewyke, that
showed very delicately. And every other day she
hath a new device of head dressing, without any cost,
and yet setteth forth a woman gaylie well.’ — (G.
Chalmers’ Life of Queen Mary, vol. i. pp. 443, 444-)

! The story is told by the Queen in two letters,
from her prison at Sheffield, to the Archbishop of
Glasgow, her ambassador at Paris, the one written in
January, the other in November 1577. Mary Seton’s
lover was the Archbishop's brother, Andrew Beton.
He was the younger son of a younger son of the house
of Balfour ; and although Brantéme (t. v. p. 98) tells
us that it was regarded as a * fort bonne maison’ — it
had recently given a cardinal and two archbishops
to the church—there was question if he were a fit
match for a daughter of the proud house of Winton.
¢On g'arréte beaucoup a la différence des tiltres et
qualités,"—so Mary wrote to the Archbishop—jus-
ques 3 m’alléguer pour exemple la faulte qu'elle a
oui trouver au mariage des deux soeurs Levingston,
seulement pour avoir espousé les puinés de leurs
semblables ; et craint on que les parens, au pays
olt telles formalités se gardent, n'en aient pareille
opinion, comme elle dit qu’ils ont eue par ci-davant.
Mays, comme Royne de Pun et de 'autre, jay offert
de prendre la charge sur moy pour y remédier de tout
ce que je pourray.’—(Prince Labanoff, Lettres de
Marie Stuart, t. iv. pp. 341-344, 377-381, 389, 390,
401, 403.)

The Livingston sisters, to whom allusion is made,
were Mary Livingston, who married a younger son

of the Lord Sempill, and Magdalene Livingston, who
married a younger son of the Lord Erskine.

* P. 108: ‘A Madame dHatel.’

Margaret Fleming, third daughter of Malcolm
third Lord Fleming, married, first, Robert® Master
of Graham (or Montrose), slain at Pinkie in 1547 ;
second, Thomas, Master of Erskine, who died in
1551 ; third, John fourth Earl of Athol. Her last
marriage contract, dated on the 1st April 1557, stipu-
lates that the Earl shall instantly ¢ wed and handfast’
Margaret Fleming, Mistress of Montrose and Erskine ;
shall send to Rome, with all possible despatch, for
dispensation for their marriage, notwithstanding the
impediment of consanguinity ; shall, within forty days,
seise her for life in lands yielding 300 merks a year
(reckoning the boll of grain at 13s. 4d.) ; and shall,
before Martinmas next, marry her solemnly in face of
the church. The bride’s brother, James Lord Flem-
ing, gives her a dowry of 2000 merks.

She appears as a lady of honour in the earliest
as well as in the latest roll of the Queen’s household
which I have seen.

She was the sister of Agnes Fleming, wife of
William, sixth Lord Livingston, and of Mary Flem-
ing, wife of Secretary Maitland of Lethington. A
letter from her to Lady Livingston, written from
Blair, in September 1560, is printed in Law’s Memo-
rialls, pp. xxv. xxvi. It shows that the Countess
was a diligent worker in embroidery, and that Athol
whisky was then in request in good houses in Lothian.

Knox's secretary records an instance of her power
as an enchantress : “ On Tuysday the 3 of Julij 1571,
Andro Lundie beand at dener with my maister, in a
place of the lard of Abbotthalls, called Falsyde,
openlie affirmet for treuth, that when the Quene was
lying in ieasing of the King, the Ladie Athole, lying
thair lykwayis, bayth within the Castell of Edin-

Countess of Atholl.
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Reformers to be endowed with strange powers of enchantment ; Madame de
Briante,' the French mother of Mary Seton, and herself grown grey in the
service of the Queen and her mother; and Madame de Cric,’ as Mary calls

burgh, that he come thair for sum busines, and called
for the Ladie Reirres’ [Margaret Beton, daughter of
the Laird of Criech, aunt of Mary Beton, and wife
of Arthur Forbes of Reres], ‘whome he fand in hir
chalmer, lying bedfast, and he asking hir of hir
disease, scho answrit that scho was never so trubled
with no barne that ever scho bair, flor the Ladie
Athole had cassin all the pyne of hir childbirth vpon
hir.’—(R. Bannatyne’s Journal, p. 238.)

Atholl would seem at all times to have been in bad
repute for its witches : ¢ maleficiis mulierum semper
Atholia erat infamis.’—(G. Buchanani Rerum Scoti-
carum Historia, lib. x. cap. 58.)

1 P, 106: ‘A Madame de Briante.’

Dame Mary Pyeres (or Pieris), a Frenthwoman
who came to Scotland with Queen Mary of Guise in
1538, married, first, George fourth Lord Seton, who
died in 1549 ; second, before 1555, Pierre de Cluise,
Seigneur de Briante, who died in 1570. She con-
tinued, after her second marriage, to write herself
¢Lady Seytoun,’ but was, perhaps, more commonly
known as Madame de Briante. She appears under
that name in the list of the Queen’s ladies of honour,
in July 1562, and in February and March 1567.

In the deposition of French Paris, we have a
glimpse of her in the Queen’s chamber on the morn-
ing after the King’s murder : ¢ Le Lundy matin, entre
neuf et dix heures, ledict Paris dict qu'il entra dans
1a chambre de la Royne, laquelle estoyt bien close,
et son lict tendu du noyr en signe de dueil, et de la
chandelle allumee dedans la ruelle, la ou Madame
de Bryant luy donnoyt & desieusner d'ung oeuf frais,
1a ou aussy Monsieur de Boduel arryve et parle 4 elle
secretement soubz courtine.’—(Anderson’s Collections
relating to Mary Queen of Scots, vol. ii. p. 202. M.
Laing’s History of Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 287, 288
M. Teulet, Lettres de Marie Stuart, p. 102.)

In August 1570, we find her writing to the Queen
from Dunkeld, where she had gone to be present,
with the Countess of Atholl and Mary Fleming, at
the council of the Queen’s friends, which became
known as the gathering of the witches of Atholl’
Her letter, which shows her anxious about the health of
her daughter, Mary Seton, was intercepted ; and its
reflections on public affairs subjected the writer and
her son to a brief imprisonment and an abortive trial

—(Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 185, 186. Pitcaim's
Criminal Trials, vol. i. p. 14. R. Bannatyne’s Jour-
nal, pp. 37, 53- M. Francisque-Michel, Les Ecossais
en France, t. ii. pp. 68, 70, where her name is mis-
printed ¢ Pyeses.’)

She returned to her own country in 1574, with letters
from the Queen commending her to the favour and
protection of the Archbishop of Glasgow and the
Cardinal of Lorraine: ¢ Madame de Briante est re-
tournée en France ol elle pourra avoir beaucoup
d'affayres, spécialement avesques son beau-frére, pour
son douayre, . . . C'est une bonne et vertueuse dame
et ancienne servante de la feue Royne, ma mére, et
de moy ; et sa fille, qui tous les jours me fayct service
trés-agréable, vous sgavez assez sa vertueuse vie et
ses merites,’—(Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie
Stuart, t. iv. pp. 238, 239.) Three months after-
wards, the Queen renews her recommendations, in &
letter to the Archbishop of Glasgow : ¢ J’avoys oublié
de vous dire que je vous avoys écrit par ci-devant
pour vous prier d’aider la bonne dame de Seyton, en
toutes ses affaires, de ma faveur et de mon nom.’—
(Id. p. 269.) She died within two years after her
return to France.

' P. 106: ‘A Madame de Cric;’ p. 113: ‘Aus
dames de Cric,’ etc.

¢Jene de la Runuelle,’ as she wrote her name,
married, first, Robert Beton of Criech, who died in
1567 ; second, John Hay, Commendator of the Abbey
of Balmerino, who died in 1573. She continued,
after her second marriage, to write herself ¢ Lady of
Creicht.” She appears as one of the Queen’s ladies of
honour in the rolls of the household in July 1562, and
in February and March 1567. She died in 1576,

Her first husband is said to have accompanied the

Queen to France in 1548, and to have returned with °f

her to Scotland in 1561. He was in attendance as
one of the Masters of the Household, when the
murderers of Riccio burst into the Queen’s cabinet.
His last will bequeaths his wife and children to
the Queen’s protection: ¢that scho be haill man-
tenare of my hous as my houpe is in hir Maiestie
vndir God.” His family was peculiarly a court one,
Its founder, his grandfather, was first Comptroller,
then Treasurer to King James 1v. His aunt was one
of the concubines of King James v., by whom she
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the French mother of Mary Beton, and wife of the Laird of Criech, one of her

Masters of Household.

The younger Mary Erskine,! although not counted

among the Four Marys, receives as much as any of them. Her kinsman, Alex-

ander Erskine of Gogar,® one of the Queen’s equerries, or Masters of the
Stables, gets a gold heart, garnished with three diamonds, a ruby, and a pearl.

A jewel, containing a sapphire and a pearl, is left to his younger brother and

colleague in office, Arthur Erskine of Blackgrange,® the equerry behind whom

Mary took her seat when she made her midnight escape on horseback from the

murderers of Riccio.*

was the mother of the Countess of Argyll. His
sister, the wife of Arthur Forbes of Reres, was
a favourite of Queen Mary, and wet-nurse to her son.
His wife was one of her ladies of honour ; his eldest
daughter one of her Four Marys ; his second daughter
one of her maids of honour. He himself was one of
her Masters of Household, Keeper of her Palace of
* Falkland, and Steward of her rents in Fife.

1 P. 118: ‘A Marie Ersquin;’ pp. 120, 124: ‘A
Marie Arsquin.’

The name of ¢ Madamoiselle dAsquin’ appears in
lists of the Queen’s ladies of honour in February and
March 1567. I have not observed it in any earlier
roll. She may have been the Mary Erskine, after-
wards Countess of Angus, daughter of John fifth Lord
Erskine, Earl of Mar; or the Mary Erskine, after-
wards, it is said, wife of Sir Dugald Campbell of
Auchinbreck, daughter of Alexander Erskine of Gogar,
Master of Mar. In the former case, she could not have
been more than eight or nine ; in the latter, not more
than ten or eleven years of age at the date of the
Queen’s bequest.

$ P. 123: ¢ A Alexandre Ersquin.’

Alexander Erskine—styled ¢of Cagnor,’ ‘of Gogar,’
and ‘Master of Mar’—was the second son of John
fourth Lord Erskine. He was born about 1521, and
married in 1555 Margaret, daughter of George fourth
Lord Home, who brought him a dowry of 2000
merks.

On the death of his brother, the Regent Mar, in
1§72, he was placed in charge of the young King.
Sir James Melville describes him as ‘a nobleman of
a trew, gentill nature, weill loued and lyked of euery
man for his good qualities and gret discretion, in na
wayes factious nor enuyous, a lover of all honest men,
and desyred euer to haue sic as wer of gud conuersa-

tion to be about the Prince, rather then his awen
nerer frendis gif he thocht them not sa meit.'—
(Memoirs, p. 262. Calendar of State Papers relating
to Scotland, vol. i. pp. 367, 371.)

8P. 123: ‘A Artus Asquin.’

Arthur Erskine of Blackgrange was the son of John
fourth Lord Erskine, and the brother of John fifth
Lord Erskine, Earl of Mar, of Alexander Erskine of
Gogar, Master of Mar, and of Margaret Erskine,
mother of the Regent Murray.

He was in attendance on the Queen when she made
her first entry into Edinburgh, in September 1561.
Along with the silver keys of the city, a bible and a
psalm-book, bound in purple velvet, were delivered
to her. ‘But when the bible was presented,’ says
Knox, ‘sche began to frown: for schame she could
not refuise it ; but she did no better, for immediatelie
sche gave it to the most pestilent Papist within the
realme, to wit, to Arthure Erskyn.’—(History of the
Reformation, vol. ii. p. 288.)

He had grants from the Queen of the lands ot
Blelak and others in Cromar, in December 1564,
and of part of the escheat of Robert Lord, Boyd, in
November 1565. In January or March 1566, he
married Magdalene Livingston, one of the Queen’s
¢filles damoiselles,’ the sister of one of the Four
Marys, and the daughter of Alexander fifth Lord
Livingston. He died before July 1570.—(Registrum
Secreti Sigilli, vol. xxxii. foll. 127, 128; vol. xxxiii.
fol. 132; vol xxxv. fol. 14. Ms. Register House.
Registram Magni Sigilli, lib. xxxvi. no. 2. Ms. Re-
gister House.)

¢ ¢ All men beinge gone to their lodgings, and no
suspicion taken of anye that ether she wolde departe
or not performe the promes to the Lords, abowte xij.
of the clocke at nyghte she convoide her self a privie

Bﬂm,f.?k‘x:’.

toAnlmr Erslune.
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Riccio’s brother, Joseph'—a lad of eighteen, with little or none of his
brother’s ability, although the Queen had promoted him to his brother’s place—

waye owte of the howse. She, her howsbonde, and
one gentlewoman came to the place whear Arthur
Ersken and the captaine of her garde keapte the
horses, and so roode her waye behynde Arthur
Ersken untyll she came to Seton. Ther she tooke a
horse to her self, and roode to Dombarr to the castle,
wheather resorted unto her the Lords Huntlye and
Bothewell, and so divers of the whole countrie.’—
(Letter from the Earl of Bedford, and T. Randolph,
to the Privy Council of England, 27th March 1566,
in Sir H. Ellis' Letters illustrative of English His-
tory, vol ii. p. 214.)

Arthur Erskine was in attendance on the Queen
when Riccio was dragged from her cabinet and mur-
dered. He was about to lay hands on Lord Ruthven
when the rest of the assassins crowded into the room,
and made resistance hopeless. Fifteen months after-
wards, he was in waiting in an ante-chamber with Sir
James Melville, when the Queen, being alone in her
cabinet with Bothwell, ‘was so disdainfully handled,
and with such reproachful language,’ that she cried
out for a knife to kill herself. It was on the second
day after their marriage.—(Lord Ruthen’s Relation
of the Death of David Rizzi, in Scotia Rediviva, pp.
341, 342. Sir James Melville's Memoirs, p. 180.
Letter from Du Croc to Queen Catharine of Medicis,
18th May 1567, printed by Prince Labanoff, in his
Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. vii. pp. 110-112.)

! Pp. 113, 122, 123.

Joseph Riccio is said to have come to Scotland in
the train of the French envoy, Michel de Castelnau,
siear de Mauvissitree. He was made the Queen’s
private secretary within ten days after his brothers
murder. ‘The appointment was ill taken, as we
learn from the despatch of the French ambassador :
¢Et non contante de cela, a faict desterrer le corps
dudict David du cimetierre ot il estoit, et I'a remis
dedans P'esglise en une sépulture honorable, au rang
des Royss. Dol les malveillans prennent occa-
sion de mesdire, comme aussi pour avoir receu en
Pestat de Secrétaire son frére, monstrant le vouloir
beaucoup advancer, encores qu'il ne soit que un jeune
homme de xviII ans et de nulle suffisance.’—(Letter
from Paul de Foix to Catharine of Medicis, printed by
M. Teulet, in his Papiers d’Etats relatifs & 1"Histoire
d’Ecosse, t. iil. p. 119. Letter from Randolph to
Cecil, 25th April 1566, in Principal Robertson’s His-
tory of Scotland, app. no. xvi ; Works, vol. ii. p.
342.)

He is spoken of by the English envoy as growing
apace into favour with the Queen, in June 1566, about
the date of the bequests in the text. But he seems,
not long afterwards, to have fallen under suspicion of
purloining a pair of the Queen’s bracelets, and of
borrowing money on false pretences from his country-
man Timotheo Cagnioli, the court banker.—(Mr.
Tytler's History of Scotland, vol. v. pp. 374-376,
387, 388, 509-513, where a letter from him is printed.
Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. i. pp.
392-394. Miss Strickland's Lives of the Queens of
Scotland, vol. v. pp. 107-110, 195, 196.)

¢ Joseph, Davy’s brother,’ as he is called, was de-
nounced by the Earl of Lennox as one of the King’s
assassins,. He might not unnaturally be thought desir-
ous of avenging his brother’s murder upon the chief
murderer, whose last hours, it was said, were troubled

by the recollection which the Queen brought to his

mind that it was about that time twelvemonth that her
secretary was butchered. But I have not seen any
evidence of Joseph Riccio's presence at the tragedy
of the Kirk of the Field, in the judicial examina-
tions which have been preserved. On the contrary,
they seem to show that there was some difficulty
in persuading him to leave Scotland before the meet-
ing of the Parliament in April 1567. One of the
last questions put to French Paris was about his
flight : “Estant interrogué, S'il savoyt pourquoy
Joseph s’en alla de ce pays? Respond, Que la Royne
lui dict : ¢ Paris, il fault que tu controuves quelque
chose en ton esprite pour faire peur & Joseph, affin
qu'il s'en aille.” Et voyant qu'il ne pouvoyt rien faire,
elle luy dict : ¢ Je feray faire une lettre que tu per-
deras derrier luy pour luy faire peur.” Mais luy ne
pouvant ce faire, elle le feist dire par le Justice Clerk,
comme il peust, qu'il eust & comparoistre au Parle-
ment ; chose qu'il I'affroyast grandement, et courut ¢a
et la demandant son congé. Enfin la Royne baille
neuf vingtz escus & Paris, pour les bailler & Joseph,
affin qu’il s’en allast, ce qu'il feist; et ainsy ayant
receu la dict somme, il s'en alla.’—(M. Laing’s His-
tory of Scotland, vol ii. p. 289. M. Teulet, Lettres
de Marie Stuart, p. 104.)

One of the letters said to have been addressed by
Mary to Bothwell—the earliest of the series, supposed
to have been written from Glasgow about the 24th of
January 1§67—would seem to show that the King was
anxious about Joseph Riccio’s dismissal : ¢ The King
send for Joachim yisternicht, and askit at him. . . gif I

The King and
Joseph Riccio.
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has three bequests. One is of a jewel, containing ten rubies and a pearl, which Jewel given to the

Queen by David

Mary had accepted as a gift from the murdered Italian.

had maid my estait? gif I had takin Paris and Gilbert
to wryte to me ? and that I wald send Joseph away?
I am abaschit quha hes schawin him sa far ; yea, he
spak evin of the marriage of Bastiane.’—(Goodall's
Examination, vol ii. pp. 4, 5. M. Teulet, Lettres
de Marie Stuart, pp. 6, 7.)

Joachim, Paris, Gilbert, and Bastian were valets of
Ouse the Queen’s chamber. Bastian's marriage took place

by oeeph Ric- on the gth of February 1567. The question which,

in the Scottish translation (the French original is
not extant), is rendered, ‘gif I had maid my estait?’
runs in the Latin version by Buchanan, ‘an familiae
catalogum fecissem ?’ It was the subject of a contro-
versy in which Lord Hailes, Whitaker, and Malcolm
Laing took part. M. Teulet, without observing its con-
clusive bearing on the dispute, has recently published,
from the original in the Imperial Library at Paris,
what is obviously the very ‘estait ' referred to—* Estat
des gaiges des dames, damoiselles, gentilzhommes et
autres officiers domesticques de la Royne d’Escosse,
Douarié¢re de France, pour une anneé commengant le
premier jour de Janvier M v° LXVI et finissant le der-
nier jour de Décembre ensuivant, mil cinq cens soix-
ante-sept.” It is dated at Edinburgh, on the 13th of
February 1567, and is authenticated by the sign-manual
of the Queen and by the subscription of Joseph
Riccio, showing that, on this occasion at least, neither
Paris nor Gilbert had been called in to play the secre-
tary’s part, and that Joseph Riccio had not yet been
sent away. The ‘estat’ was transmitted to France
for payment from the Queen’s French dowry, and
thus found its way to the Imperial Library.—(M.
Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs 4 1'Histoire de I'Ecosse,
t. ii. pp. 121-137.)

Joseph Riccio is named in another of the letters said
to have been addressed by Mary to Bothwell—that in
which she shrinks from likening herself to Medea—
supposed to have been written from Glasgow in the last
days of January 1567 : I durst not wryte this befoir
Joseph, Bastiane, and Joachime, that did bot depart
evin quhen I began to wryte.’—(Goodall's Examina-
tion, vol ii. pp. 36, 37. M. Teulet, Lettres de Marie
Stuart, p. 45.)

The roll of the Queen’s household, authenticated
by Joseph Riccio’s signature in February 1567, shows
that he had a brother or brother-in-law for a col-
league: ‘ René Bonneau, frére dudict Joseph’ If
we suppose the name of René Bonneau to be the same

which is elsewhere written René Benoist, we have an
additional reason for the unpopularity of David Riccio—
his relation to the distinguished divine who was chosen
by the Cardinal of Lorraine to accompany the Queen to
Scotland, and had not been many weeks at Holyrood
before he challenged Knox to controversy. —(Epistola
Renati Benedicti ad Johannem Knox atque alios in
Scotia ministros, 19. Novemb. 1561, reprinted in
Mr. David Laing’s Tracts by David Ferguson, pp.
81-88. Edinb. 1860: Bannatyne Club.) The con-
fessor of Mary Stewart published other two pam-
phlets against the Reformed doctrines, before he
returned to France to acquire the name of the Pope
of the Markets, from his popularity as a preacher
among the shopkeepers of Paris ; to incur suspicions
of heterodoxy which stopped his promotion to the
bishopric of Troyes ; and to become the confessor of
King Henry 1v., whose conversion he is said to have
helped. —(Niceron, Mémoires pour servir 4 I'Histoire
des Hommes Illustres, t. xli. pp. 1-49.)

In ¢Jehan Damyte, notaire’ —another of the secre-
taries enumerated in Josgph Riccio’s roll in February
1567—we may recognise the French chaplain, a re-
puted adept in sorcery, who was said to have warned
David Riccio of his fate, telling him to beware of the
bastard. It is added that the Italian (who was him-
self reputed no mean necromancer) gave no heed to
the hint, thinking that it pointed to the Earl of Mur-
ray, then an exile in England. But the prophecy
was believed to have its fulfilment, when the first of
more than fifty wounds, by which the poor Italian was
mangled, was dealt by the King’s uncle, a bastard of
the house of Angus—George Douglas, the Postulate
of Murray.—(G. Buchanani Historia Rerum Scou-
carum, lib. xvii. cap. 62.)

1 P. 123: * A Iosef que son frere mauoyt done.’

I have not observed any other trace of this gift.
Riccio had grown rich during his short term of power:
¢ Of the greate substance he had ther is myche spoken ;
some saye in gold to the value of £2000 sterling. . . .
We heare of a juell that he had hanginge abowte hys
necke of some price that cane not be hearde of.’ —
(Letter from the Earl of Bedford and T. Randolph
to the Privy Council of England, 27th March 1566,
in Sir H. Ellis' Letters illustrative of English History,
vol. ii. p. 218.)

Buchanan speaks of his ‘opes non mediocres,” and
tells how the nobles fawned upon him : ¢ Alebat hanc

The others are of Riccio.
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Bequests to one an emerald ring,! enamelled in white, and a jewel containing twenty-one

whose name is
kept secret.

.Bequests to the
Maids of Honour.

is a merry fel-
low.

Murray and
Riccio.

diamonds.?

in her new Secretary’s ear, but does not trust herself to write.

They are to be carried to one whose name the Queen has spoken

It would be

idle now to seek to pry into the mystery, which was thus anxiously guarded.
There are bequests to four maids of honour — Lucrece Beton,®
Mademoiselle de Thoré,* Magdalene Livingston,’ and Barbara Sondre-

vanissimi hominis insaniam magnae partis nobiliorum
adulatio, qui amicitiam ejus captabant, salutando, ora-
tioni ejus subserviendo, foribus obambulando, exitus
reditusque ejus observando.” It is added that, at one

i time, he used to share Damley’s bed : ‘in eumque

familiaritatis gradum pervenerat, ut lectum, cubicu-
lum, secretosque sermones communicaret.’—(Historia
Rerum Scoticarum, lib. xvii. cap. 44.)

Sir James Melville, who describes him as ¢a merry
fellow and a good musician,’ says that ‘ when he grew
sa gret that he presented all signatours to be sub-
scryuit be hir Maieste, some of the nobilite wald
glowm vpon him, and some of them wald schulder
him and schuyt hym by, when they entrit in the cham-
ber, and fand him alwais speaking with hir Maieste ;
and some again that had turnis to be helpit, new in-
feftmentis to be tane, or that desyred to preuaill
against ther ennemys in court or session, addressit
them vnto him, and dependit vpon hym ; whereby
in schort tym he becam very rich.’—(Memoirs, pp.
131, 132.) .

Buchanan says that Murray stood aloof from the
crowd of flatterers ; and we know that Queen Eliza-
beth ascribed his first disgrace at the Scottish court
to a plot which Mary was told he had formed against
Riccio’s life, at least four months before the Italian was
assassinated. But even Murray had to stoop at last.
Shortly before Riccio’s death, as Sir James Melville re-
lates, ‘ my Lord of Murray sutted him very emestly,
and mair humbly then any man wald haue beleued, with
the present of a faire dyamont, inclosed within a lettre
full of repentance, and faire promyses fra that tym
fourth to be his frend and protectour.’—(Memoirs, p.
147. M. Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I'Histoire
de I'Eccosse, t. ii. p. 93.)

1 P, 113: °A Josef pour porter a celui que ie luy
ay dit.’

8 P. 122: ¢ A Josef pour bailler a que ie lui ay dit
dont il ranuoir aquitance.’

8 P. 119: ‘A Lucresse.

Lucrece Beton—or as she herself writes her name,

¢ Lucresse Bethune’—was the daughter of Robert
Beton of Criech, one of the Queen’s Masters of
Household. She was the younger sister of Mary
Beton, one of the Four Marys.

She appears as ‘la jeune Bethon’ in the list of the
Queen'’s *filles damoiselles’ in July 1562, as ¢ Lucresse
de Beton’ in the list of February 1567, and as ¢ Lu-
cresse’ in the list of March 1567. She married, after
1575, Andrew Wyshart of Muirton. She survived
him ; and, settling near her elder sister, made her
last will, on the shores of the Boyne, in November
1623, leaving all that she had to Alexander Aber-
cromby, of Birkenbog, and his daughter Mary.—
(Original in the Register House.)

¢ P 118: ‘A Tore.

The name of ¢ Thore’ appears among the filles
damoiselles’ in the list of the Queen’s household in
July 1562. It is absent from the roll of February
1567. She had married six months before. There
was a payment from the Treasury, on joth August
1566, by command of the King and Queen, of £68,
15s. for ‘xiij elnis iij quarteris of violat weluote (the
elne v pundis) to be ane gowne to Madame Torrie
to hir marriage.”—(Compotum Thesaurarii Reginae
Scotorum. Ms. Register House.) She may have
been of the family of M. de Thoré, mentioned by
Brant8me, t. ii. pp. 447-449; t. v. p. 71.

8 P. 111: ‘A Lesuiston la ieusne;’ p. 117: ‘A
Leuiston la ieusne ;' p. 123 : A la jeusne Leuiston.’

Magdalene Livingston was the daughter of Alex-
ander fifth Lord Livingston, and the younger sister of
Mary Livingston, one of the Four Marys, She
appears as ‘ la jeune Leuiston’ among the *filles damoi-
selles’ in the list of the Queen’s household in July
1562. Her name is absent from the roll of February
1567. She married one of the Queen's equerries,
Arthur Erskine of Blackgrange, in January or March
1566, when the Queen made her a gift of a vasquin of
cloth of gold (p. 69). She may be the ¢ Madame
dAsquin’ who appears in a list of the Queen’s ladies
of honour in March 1567. Her husband died before

~
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Livingston.



Margaret
Carwod.

THE PREFACE.

land'—and to their governess, Mademoiselle de la Souche.?

lvii

The largest share

falls to Magdalene Livingston, who had lately married the Queen’s favourite

equerry, Arthur Erskine of Blackgrange.

A diamond ring, enamelled in

white and red, is left as a token of remembrance to Mademoiselle la Contine,

one of Mary’s attendants at the French court, it would seem, who had not

followed her to Scotland.®

To Margaret Carwod,* her favourite bedchamber woman, the Queen

leaves, among other things, a miniature of herself set with diamonds, and a

July 1570, and we hear of her intention to marry again
in August 1577. *Le mariage de Magdelaine Leving-
ston me déplaist infiniment’—so the Queen writes to
the Archbishop of Glasgow at Paris—* et je ne veulx,
jusqu'a ce que j’en soit mieulx esclaircie, que vous luy
envoyez ce que je vous ay mandé.—(Prince Labanoff,
Lettres de Marie Stuart, t. iv. p. 389.) The cause of
the Queen’s displeasure does not appear. Mary Liv-
ingston is said to have taken John Scrymgeour of
Glaster for her second husband.

1 P, 124: ‘A Sonderland.’

‘Barbera Sonddrelland ’ appears in the earliest list
of the Queen’s household which I have seen. She is
not in the lists of July 1562, or of February 1567. But
the name of ‘Sondrelan’ occurs among the ¢ filles
damoiselles’ in the list of March 1567.

2 P. 113: ‘Il sen fault vne chesne que vous naues
pas ecrite esmaylle de blanc et rousge que ie laysse a
Madamoyselle de la Souschee.’

The name of ¢ Madamoiselle de la Souche, gouver-
nante des filles damoiselles,” appears on the rolls of the
Queen’s household in July 1562, and in February and
March 1567.

3 P. 112: ‘A la Contine pour souuenance.’

It appears from a marginal note on the Inventory
of the Queen’s Jewels made at her leaving France
in August 1561, that some of them were given to
Madamoiselle la Contine (p. 12). Her name does
not occur in the lists of the household in 1562 or
1567.

4 Pp. 117, 123: ‘A Marguerite;' pp. 123, 124:
* Margart Carwod.’

Margaret Carwod, one of the coheiresses of Carwod
in Lanarkshire, probably owed her place at court to
the Countess of Atholl, the Lady Livingston, or some
other member of the house of Fleming, of which the
Car:v_ods seem to have been vassals. She appears as

one of the Queen's bedchamber women in May 1564,
and in September 1565 (pp. 147, 158, 159.) In May
or June 1566, the date of the bequests in the text,
she seems to have had charge of the jewels in the
Queen's cabinet (pp. 111, 119, 123.) She is spoken
of by Buchanan as being, three or four months after-
wards, ‘ omnium secretorum conscia,’—*ane woman
priuie of all hir [the Queen’s] secreitis.” One of the let-
ters said to have been addressed by the Queen to Both-
well—the most obscure of the series, supposed to have
been writtenin the end of January or beginning of Febru-
ary 1567—was described when first published as ‘ane
uther letter to Bothwell, concerning the departure of
Margaret Carwod, quha wes preuie and ane helper of
all thairlufe.” It complains of her folly, of her ingra-
titude to the Queen, and of the offence which she has
given to Bothwell. ¢ And quhen scho salbe maryit’
—it proceeds—*1 beseik yow giue me ane [vther],
or ellis T will tak sic as sall content yow for thair
conditiounis ; bot as for thair toungis or faithfulnes
towart yow, I will not answer.’—(Anderson’s Collec-
tions relating to Queen Mary, vol. ii. pp. 8, 150, 151.
M. Teulet, Lettres de Marie Stuart, pp. 46, 48.) A

French copy of the letter in the State Paper Office .

is indorsed ‘anent the depesche of Margaret Carwod
quhilk wes before hir marriage.’—(Calendar of State
Papers relating to Scotland, vol. ii. p. 865.)

The marriage of Margaret Carwod took place at
Holyrood (the Queen giving the bridal feast) on
Shrove Tuesday (r1th of February) 1567, two days
after the marriage of Bastian Pagez, a valet of the
Queen’s chamber, to whose bridal masque at Holy-
rood, on the night of Sunday the gth of February,
Mary hurried from her husband’s bedside at the
Kirk of the Field, an hour or two before his mur-
der. It has been supposed by Malcolm Laing, Prince
Labanoff, M. Mignet, and others, that as Margaret
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little silver box, perhaps the memorable casquet marked with the crowned
cypher of King Francis the Second, in which her accusers affirmed that they
found the letters and sonnets produced by them as proofs of her criminal love

for Bothwell, and of her guilty knowledge of his conspiracy against her hus-

band’s life.!

These are the only servants whom the Queen names.

forgotten.

Carwod and Bastian Pagez were both - servants of
the Queen, and both married about the same time,
they married one another; and some scandal and
more romance have been built upon an assumption
which a closer scruting would have shown to be
groundless. The wife of Bastian Pagez was Christily
Hogg ; Margaret Carwod’s husband was John Stewart
of Tullypowreis in Atholl. —(Lodge’s Illustrations of
British History, vol. i. p. §20. Register of Deeds,
vol. xvii. foll. 281, 282. Ms. Register House.)

On the 8th of February 1567, the Queen granted a
pension of 300 merks a year from the lands of Kinclevin
in Perthshire, to ¢hir louit familiare seruitrice Mar-
garet Carwod.” On the same day, so French Paris
affirmed, she sent him to the King’s lodging at the
Kirk of the Field, to fetch a furred coverlet (‘une
couverture de martres’) to the Queen’s chamber at
Holyrood. On the 1oth of February there was a
payment from the Treasury, by the Queen’s command,
to Margaret Carwod, for her marriage dress, of £125,
6s. Her name is not included in the roll of the
Queen’s household made up three days afterwards.
Her departure or dismissal had then taken place.
But her absence, whatever may have been its cause,
was only for a few weeks. On the 23d of March, the
Queen orders eighty yards of fine linen to be delivered
to * her servitrice,” Margaret Carwod, who, three days
afterwards, acknowledges their receipt, subscribing
her name by the hand of a notary.—(Registrum Se-
creti Sigilli, vol. xxxvi. fol. 7. Ms. Register House.
Compotum Thesaurarii Reginae Scotorum, 8-10 Feb.
1566-7. Ms. Register House. M. Teulet, Papiers
d’Etat relatifs & I'Histoire de I'Ecosse, t. ii. pp. 121-
137. Treasury Warrant and Acquittance, in the
Register House.)

In November 1579, Margaret Carwod and her hus-
band, John Stewart of Tullypowreis, sell their half of
Carwod, for 500 merks, to her sister and coheiress,

But the rest are not

Each of her twelve maids is to have a gold finger-ring ;? her linen

Janet Carwod, and her husband, John Fleming of Per-
sellands. In March 1584-5, they lend £1000 on mort-
gage at £10 per cent., to Francis Hay, Master of
Erroll. —(Register of Deeds, vol. xvii. foll. 281, 282 ;
vol. xxiiil. foll. 242, 243. Ms. Register House.)

! The casquet bequeathed by the Queen to Mar-
garet Carwod in 1566, is described as ¢ vne petite boyt
dargent’ (p. 124).

The casquet said to have been given by the Queen to
Bothwell, and to have been seized in the hands of his
servant, in 1567, is described by the Regent Murray
in 1568 as ‘a silver box ; by the Privy Council in
1568 and 1571 as ‘ane silver box owergilt with gold ;'
more fully in the Scottish version of Buchanan’s ¢ De-
tectioun,” printed at St. Andrews in 1572, as ‘ane
small gylt coffer not fully ane fute lang, Leing gar-
nischit in sindrie places with the Romane lettre F.
under ane Kingis crowne ;’ and in Buchanan’s History,
printed in 1582, as ¢ arculam argenteam literis undique
inscriptam, quae indicarent eam aliquando Francisci
Regis Francorum fuisse.’ — (Anderson’s Collections
relating to Queen Mary, vol. ii. pp. 92, 257, 259. G.
Buchanani Rerum Scoticarum Historia, lib. xviii.
cap. 51.)

The Queen’s handwriting, said to have been found

in the casket, is described as ¢ Romane,’—that is, the |

character which we should now call Italic, then scarcely
known in Scotland, except among those who had been
educated abroad, and only beginning in France to
displace the old Middle Age or Gothic character.
Shakespere, writing about 1602, makes Malvolio in the
Twelfth Night speak of ¢the sweet Roman hand’ of
the letter by which he was befooled. The difference
between the two styles will be seen by a glance at the
facsimile of the Testamentary Inventory, where the
Gothic of the Queen’s secretary contrasts with the
Roman of the Queen herself.
P o113: ¢Aus filles’
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is to be shared among her three bedchamber women;' and her plate and
furniture is to be sold, that the price may be divided among her valets,
grooms, tapestry-men, ushers, and others.?

In a postscript written with her own hand, Mary leaves her Greek and
Latin books to be the beginning of a library® for the University of St.
Andrews. The legacy would have been no inconsiderable one if it had taken
effect; but the Queen’s praiseworthy design for the advancement of learning
in the ecclesiastical capital of her kingdom, was left to be fulfilled fifty years
afterwards by her son, King James, and her grandchildren, Prince Henry,

Prince Charles, and the Princess Elizabeth.*

The Testamentary Inventory ot Mary’s Jewels is followed by lists of Zmentories o

articles delivered from the wardrobe at Holyrood in each month, from August
1561, when the Queen landed at Leith, until June 1567, when her marriage
with Bothwell arrayed her nobles in arms against her.®

1 P. 124: ‘Ie laysse mon linge entre mes troys
fammes.’

* P. 124: ‘lelaysse. . . ma chambre et la vay-
selle de mes cofres entre les vallets de fourieres tapis-
siers et huissiers pour etre vandu a leur profit et des
troys filles qui la guardent.’

¢ Chambre’ seems to be used here to signify not the
Queen’s chamber, but its furniture.  *Le mot ckambre,’
says M. Douét-d’Arcq, “ ne s’entend pas d'une piéce
faisant partie d'un appartement, mais du lit et de la
tenture d'une chambre A coucher.’—(Comptes de 1'Ar-
genterie des Rois de France, p. 358.)

¢ Vayselle * appears to mean what we should now
call plate. ¢ Cette expression,’ says M. le Comte de
Laborde, ‘répond A 1'idée qu'on se faisait encore, il
y a soixante ans, du mot argenterie . . . Elle se com-
posait de vases de toutes sortes (vaissels), plats, etc.’
—(Notice des Emaux, par. ii. Glossaire,” p. 531.)

Not only plate, but cloth, dresses, and jewels were
kept in the coffers of the Queen's chamber, as we learn
from the ‘Memoyre de tout ce que je [Servais de

Conde] prin dens les coffres de la chambre tant du-
rant le temps que la Royne estoict a Loclin que
depuys comansant en Jullet mil v Ixvii," printed from
the original (formerly in the Scottish College at Paris)
in Illustrations of the Reigns of Queen Mary and
King James v1., pp. 12-19. Maitland;Club : 1834.

3 P. 124: ‘Ielaysse mes liuures qui y sont ceulx
en Grec ou Latin a luniuersite de Sintandre pour y
commancer vne bible.’

¢ The University Library of St. Andrews was founded
in 1612, by King James VL., ne sint magistsi sine libris,
as he said.  Lists of the volumes presented by him, by
Prince Henry, Prince Charles, Queen Anne, and the
Princess Elizabeth, are printed in the Miscellany of
the Maitland Club, vol. i. pp. 322-326. Among them
are copies of some of the books bequeathed by Queen
Mary, such as the ‘ Commentarii Linguae Graecae’ of
Budaeus, the ‘ Commentarii Reipublicae Romanae’ of
Wolfgangus Lazius, etc.

¢ Pp. 125-176.

They ard printed for the first time from the origi-
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One of the first entries is of canvas for a bed to a female Fool, Nichola,
The
poor creature lingered in Scotland, until the gates of an English prison had

or La Jardiniere,' whom the Queen brought with her from France.

closed for ever upon her mistress, when the bounty of the Regent Lennox
enabled her to make her way back to her own country.? She was not the
only one of her unfortunate class in the Scottish court. A few days after the
marriage which made Darnley a King, we find a dress of green velvet, and two
blue bonnets with plumes given to his Fool.?  Elsewhere we have record of
payments from the treasury to other Fools of both sexes.*

Mary’s French escort were shocked, like herself, by the signs of want and
rudeness which they saw among her people.  But there was one exception to
the prevailing poverty, and even to eyes familiar with what the wealth of

France and the renascent art of Italy had done for Amboise and for Fontaine-

nals in the Register House. The account of every
year is authenticated by the Queen’s sign manual

49-56) is referred to at p. 165, (9 H); and p. 166
(9 H). .

The account of the year 1566 shows itself to have
been made up and authenticated on the 31st of May
1567.

Many of the entries have numbers (printed within
parentheses) referring to corresponding numbers in
older Inventories printed in the text.

The Inventory of the Queen Regent’s moveables
delivered to Servais de Conde, in September 1561 (pp.
18-27) is referred to at p. 127 (94) ; p. 129 (78) ; p.
130 (50) ; p. 131 (88), (46) ; p. 132 (82), (84), (85),
(92), (93), (83);
(75), (76), (79) 5 p- 139 (87); P- 140 (81); p. 142
(90), (50. 51. 52), (53. 54); P. 151 (96), (55); Pp-
152 (96), (91) ; p. 156 (S0. 74), (89) 5 p. 158 (86) ; p.
168 (10); p. 176 (81).

The Inventory of the Queen’s moveables in Holy-
rood, in November 1561 (pp. 28-48) is referred to at
p- 137 (50); p. 139 (120); p. 140 (51); p. 151
(144) 5 p. 152 (119); p. 153 (17); p. 155 (118);
p. 156 (125), (117); p. 157 (37- 38), (55. 99. 102.
100), (50); p. 161 (146); p. 162 (128); p. 163
(128), (143), (126), (142), (127); p. 164 (122); p.
165 (58); p. 167 (23), (121); p. 168 (58.59); Pp.
169 (23) ; p. 174 (21).

The Inventory of the Earl of Huntly’s move-
ables brought to Holyrood in December 1562 (pp.

p- 137 (29) ; p. 138 (72), (73), -

! Pp. 125-127, 130, 137, 142, 143, 146, 64.

* In August 1570, there was a payment from the
Treasury of £15 ‘be the Regentis speciale command
to Nichola the Fule to mak hir expensis and fraucht
to France.’

Jacqueline Critoflat, the bedchamber woman
charged with the custody of Nichola la Jardiniere
(pp- 126, 127, 130, 137, 143-145, 147), had prepared
for her departure three years before. In August 1567,
there was a payment from the Treasury of £10 to
¢ Critoflat, keipar of the Quenis grace Fule, to pay her
dettis to pas to France.” But payments continued to
be made “to Nichola the Fule and hir keipar,’ until
Christmas 1569.

3 P. 156.

¢ There are payments from the Treasury to Janet
Musche, fool, in April 1562 ; to ‘Foysir the fule,’
and ‘to the man that keipis him,’ in August 1565 ; to
James Geddie, fool, in September 1565, May 1567
and September 1569 ; to ‘ Conny,’ in January 1565-6,
for a dress the same as that given at the same time to
La Jardiniere ; to Jane Colquhoun, fool, in October
1566 and April 1567; and to George Steiwin or
Geordie Styne, fool, in February 1566-7.—(Compota
Thesaurariorum Reginae Scotorum. Ms. Register
House.)
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bleau, Holyrood seemed a fine building.! We see from the accounts in the
text, that it had a richly furnished chapel,’ a ball-room glowing with heraldry,® a
well-filled library carpeted with green cloth ;* and that among the Queen’s private
apartments were a hall or dining-room, hung with black velvet,® and a cabinet
or drawing-room draped with green and crimson cloth.® The sense of insecurity
which threw its shadow over these refinements, is shown by what we learn else-
where, that the chief-entrance to the Palace lay across a drawbridge, through a
ponderous iron gate, fastened by two great bolts and a huge bar of iron ; that
even the windows of the state-rooms had iron gratings; and that in the very
heart of the pile, the passage which led from the royal chambers on one floor to
the royal chambers on another floor, was guarded by a gate of iron.” Holyrood,
doubtless, looked all the fairer to its French visitors, that it was built in the
new style of Frencharchitecture. King James the Fifth seems, early in his
reign, to have had French masons in his pay ; he brought one of them back
from Orleans, when he returned from France with his first bride ;¥ the Duke

1 ¢« L'Abbaye de I'Islebourg . . . est certes un beau
bastiment, et ne tient rien du pays.’— (Brantme, t. v.
P 95.)

Dr. Alexander Ales, who wrote an account of Edin-
burgh in Sebastian Munster’'s Cosmography, printed
at Basle in 1550, describes Holyrood as * palatium
amplissimum et superbissimum.’—(The Bannatyne
Miscellany, vol. i p. 188.)

* Pp. 157, 36, 40, 41.

In February 1561-2, there was a payment from the
Treasury of £10 to William Makdowale, the Master of
Works, as a reward for the recovery of a pair of
organs which had been carried away. They seem to
have been bought for the Palace Chapel in August
1557, at the price of £36.

* P. 145.

¢ P. 126.

¢ P. 126.

¢ P. 126.

" The accounts of the Masters of Works at Holy-
rood in 1529-30, show payments for ¢ an gret imne yeit
for the principall entress and draw brig of the new
toure with twa gret boltis for the closing of the sloit
of the said ime yeit and the greit bar of the samyn ;’

for ¢ ane imne bar to the treyne dure wythout the irne
yet ;' for ¢ mendyng the lok of the litill ime yet vadyr
the Kingis Grace awine chalmir in the southt tour ;’
for ‘ane ime yet in ane passage betuix the Kingis
Grace over chalmeris and nethir chalmeris ;* for ¢ maid
irne werk in a draw bar to the inner chalmer dure ;'
for ‘xxij stanis and ane half maid ime werk in ane
gret bvnde window in the gret chalmer of the tour,’ etc.

We have no contemporary picture of the Holyrood
of Queen Mary. Butthe French features of the build-
ing, before it was altered and rebuilt by King Charles
IL nearly as we now see it, are obvious enough in the
drawings of James Gordon, parson of Rothiemay,
engraved in Holland about 1647, and reproduced in
the Bannatyne Miscellany, vol i. p. 188 ; and in the
Liber Cartarum Sancte Crucis, pref. p. Ixxvi.

® By a writ dated at Orleans, on the 1st December
1536, King James v. appointed Mogin Martyne,
Frenchman, sometime master mason of Dunbar Cas-
tle, to be master mason to the King, during his
Grace’s pleasure, with a salary of £60 a year, besides
the ordinary wages of other masons, when employed
on the King’s works.—(Registrum Secreti Sigilli, t.
xi. fol. 1. Ms. Register House.)

Holyrood Palace.

French masons
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Mogin Martyne.
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of Guise, the father of his second, sent him six others ;! and Frenchmen held

the office of master masons to the Crown, and continued to work on the Scot-

tish palaces throughout the reign of Mary.*

The traces of their art, now all

but obliterated at Holyrood, may still be perceived at Linlithgow, which

Mary of Guise is said to have praised as one of the most princely piles which

she had seen ; and they are yet more conspicuous at Falkland and at Stirling.

Nor was it in building only that French taste showed its influence in Scotland.

Frenchmen were employed to lay out our gardens;® we gave work to French

The name of Martyne's predecessor in office,
Thomas French, would seem to show that he too was
a Frenchman, or of French extraction. He is found
at work at Linlithgow in 1532, Three years later,
he was made master mason to the King, for life, with
a salary of £30 a year.  One of his sons, turning his
steps northwards, built the south transept of the
cathedral of Aberdeen, and the fine bridge of seven
arches over the neighbouring Dee.—(Waldie's History
of Linlithgow, pp. 63, 64. Registrum Secreti Sigilli,
t. x. fol. 6. Ms. Register House. Kennedy’'s Annals
of Aberdeen, vol. ii. p. 346.)

An inscription of about the year 1500 still remains
to attest that John Morow, a native of Paris, had
charge of the mason-work of the cathedrals of St.
Andrews and Glasgow, the abbeys of Melrose and
Paisley, and the churches of Nithsdale and Galloway.
—(Proceedings of the Antiquaries of Scotland, vol.
ii. pp. 166-175.)

King James 1v., as we see from his Treasury ac-
counts, had an Italian mason in his pay, in the last
years of his reign.

1 Letters from the Duchess of Guise to her daugh-
ter Queen Mary of Guise, quoted by M. Francisque-
Michel, in his Les Ecossais en France, t. i. pp. 430,
431

In July 1539, there was a payment from the Scottish
Treasury of £10, ¢ for the vj masonis quhilk the Duke
of Gwyse send to the Kingis Grace ;' and of £15 *for
the fraucht of j® speris with the said masonis furtht
of France to Leith."—(Compotum Thesaurarii Regis
Scotorum. Ms. Register House.)

* By a writ, dated at Falkland in April 1539, King
James v. appointed Nicholas Roy, Frenchman, to be
master-mason to the King, during his Grace’s pleasure,
with a salary of £80, besides the ordinary wages of
other masons, when employed on the King’s works.

—(Registrum Secreti Sigilli, t. xiii. fol. 29. Ms.
Register House.)

In January 1541-2, there was a payment from the
Treasury of £4, 6s. 8d. ‘to the Frenche maister
masoun.’—(Compotum Thesaurarii Regis Scotorum.
Ms. Register House.) The name of ¢ Mr Nicholas
Roy, macon,’ appears in a roll of the Queen’s house-
hold about the year 1548

By a writ dated at Stirling, in March 1556-7, John
Roytell, Frenchman, was made principal master mason
to all the Queen's works, for life, with a salary of 450
ayear. Hestill held his office in November 1565.
He was made a burgess of Edinburgh in September
1550, at the request of the Prior of Holyrood, who
had feasted the provost and baillies the day before :
‘ad requestum Prioris monasterii Sancte Crucis qui
prepositum et balliuos in dicto monasterio predie exis-
tentes eosdem bene tractabat.’—(Register of the Guild
of Edinburgh, vol. i., 10 Dec. 1550. Ms. in the City
Archives, Registrum Secreti Sigilli, vol. xxviii. fol
62. Ms. Register House. Compota Thesaurarii Re-
ginae Scotorum, Septemb.-Novemb. 1565. Ms. Regis-
ter House.)

* By a writ, dated at Stirling, in August 1536, King
James v. made Bertram Galawtre, Frenchman, prin-
cipal gardener of the King’s yards and gardens, for
life, with a salary of £50 a year.—(Registrum Secreti
Sigilli, t. x. fol. 142. Ms. Register House.)

A year or two later we find a French gardener,
brought to Scotland by the Cistercians of Kinloss, in
great repute throughout Murray.—(J. Ferrerii His-
toria Abbatum de Kynlos, p. 48. Bannatyne Club:
1839.)

King James 1v. had a French gardener in his
pay in 1503 and 1504.— (Compotum Thesaurarii
Regis Scotorum 1502-4, foll. 110, 158. Ms. Register
House.)

John Roytell,

French encrs
in Scotlagn‘dtd



French fashions

in Scotland.

French

THE PREFACE.

Ixiii

wrights, to French smiths, to French plasterers;' we followed French fashions
at our tables, in our dress, in our manners ;* French words made their way into
our speech; French leeches dressed our wounds ;* French dances were to be
seen at our country fairs and on our village greens ;* and Knox had to lament
that in the masques and pageants which welcomed Mary’s entry into her capital,
the Reformed burghers—¢ fools,’ as he calls them—aped the style of France.®

! Compotum Thesaurarii Regis Scotorum, 1502-4,
foll. 113, 123, 145, 155. Ms. Register House.

1 ¢ Here itis to be remembred,’ says the Bishop of
Ross, writing of the marriage of King James v. with
Magdalene of France in 1537, ¢ that thair wes mony
new ingynis and devysis, alsweill of bigging of paleicis,
abilyementis, as of banquating and of menis behaviour,
first begun and used in Scotland at this tyme, efter the
fassione quhilk thay had sene in France. Albeit it
semit to be varray comlie and beautifull, yit it wes
moir superfluows and volupteous nor the substaunce
of the realme of Scotland mycht beir furth or susteine ;
nottheles, the same fassionis and custome of coistlie
abilyements indifferentlie used be all estatis, excessive
banquating and sic lik, remanis yit to thir dayis’ [the
Bishop wrote about 1569], ‘to the greit hinder and
povartie of the hole realme.’—(Bishcp Lesley’s His-
tory of Scotland, p. 154. Cf. Sir James Melville's
Memoirs, pp. 392, 393.)

3 Compotum Thesaurarii Regis Scotorum 1502-4,
foll. 129, 132. Ms. Register House.

Queen Mary of Guise brought with her a French
midwife and a French surgeon. The surgeon, Master
John Cardelle, had letters of naturalization in 1558
The services of the midwife were secured by liberal
pensions to her son and daughter in France.—(Re-
gistrum Magni Sigilli, lib. xxxii. no. 247. Ms. Register
House. Etat de Finances de notre petit filzle Duc de
Longueville, 1539-1540. Ms. Register House.)

The French gardener of Kinloss had some skill in
surgery, gained probably by his loss of a limb in the
wars of King Francis 1. His leechcraft stood him in
good service in Scotland : ¢est etiam peritus chirur-
giae, ut qui multos juverit in obligandis vulneribus
toto hoc quinquennio per universam Moraviam,’—
(J. Ferrerii Historia Abbatum de Kynlos, p. 48.)

Neither physicians nor surgeons were too plentiful
in Scotland in the middle of the sixteenth century ;
but the younger Scaliger, who was at Holyrood in
1566, has greatly exaggerated the deficiency : ¢ Lors
que mon frere fut en Escosse, il n'y avoit qu'un mede-

cin qui estoit medecin de la Reyne ; et de mon temps
en Angleterre, il n'y avoit gueres de medecins. En
Escosse un menuisier saignoit, et il y avoit des barbiers
qui tondoient seulcment.’—(Scaligerana, pp. 365, 366,
edit. 1695.) )

It may be enough to say in answer to this, that a
chair of medicine was founded in the University of
Aberdeen in the reign of King James 1v. ; that King
James v. had a physician, a surgeon, and an apothe-
cary in his household, all of them Scots (the physi-
cian, it may be added, a son of the same old northern
house which gave birth to Dr. John Arbuthnott, the
friend of Pope and Swift, and the physician of Queen
Anne); that Queen Mary had two physicians, a sur-
geon, and an apothecary; that the surgeons and
barbers of Edinburgh were incorporated in 1505, and
had an extension of their privileges from Queen Mary;
that the barbers or ‘leechers’ of Aberdeen were incor-
porated in 1537; that, in 1568, a treatise on'the plague
was published at Edinburgh by Dr. Gilbert Skene ;
that, in 1579, the Earl of Atholl, who died at Kincar-
dine in Perthshire, was attended by two doctors of
medicine, both physicians to the King (Mr. Gilbert
Moncreiff, who had a fee of £40, and Dr. Alexander
Preston, who had a fee of £30), and by an ‘Ireland
leche,’ one of the hereditary doctors of the Highlands,
who had a fee of £10.—(Register of Confirmed Tes-
taments in the Commissariot of Edinburgh, vol. viii.
26. Dec 1580. Ms. Register House. Registrum Secreti
Sigilli, vol. vi. fol. 7 ; vol. vii. fol. 6 ; vol ix. fol. 116 ;
vol xix, fol. 44; vol xxxviii. fol. 23. Ms. Register
House. M. Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs 4 I’ Histoire
de Ecosse, t. ii. p. 126. Kennedy’s Annals of Aber-
deen, vol. ii. p. 173. Rotuli Scaccarii Regum Scoto-
rum, no. 382. Ms. Register House.)

4 ¢ Auld lightfute thair he did forleit,
And counterfuttet Franss.’
—(Christis Kirk on the Grene, stanza v.)

§ ¢Great preparationis war maid for hir enteress in
the town. In ferses, in masking, and in other pro-
digalities, faine wold fooles have counterfooted France.
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When the Queen came to Scotland, the Court was still in full mourn-
ing for her husband, the King of France. It went into half mourning’
on the first anniversary of his death, a day which seems to have been solemnly
kept. Mass was said for his soul's repose in presence of the Queen, who
made an offering of a great wax candle trimmed with black velvet;? and
although few or none of her nobles attended, no point of the accustomed

obsequies was omitted.?

Candlemas ;* and washing the feet of the poor on Maundy Thursday.®

—(Knox's History of the Reformation, vol. ii pp.
287, 288.)

The plays and pageants which moved - the Re-
former’s scorn, are described by an admiring hand,
in the Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 67-69.

t P. 129.

2 P, 129: ‘Plus je deliure a Henry clerc de cha-
pelle demi quartier de velours noir pour mettre a cierge
de la Royne le jour du bout de lan du feu Roy.’

3 Randolph, writing to Cecil on the 7th December
1561, says that the French ambassador, Paul de Foix,
¢ being admonished by some friend, came not unto the
Dirige or mass upon Friday and Saturday [the §th
and 6th December] last, to the great misliking of the
Queen. Moret [the ambassador from the Duke of
Savoy] was there at both. She observed the old
manner in all her doings ; she could not perswade nor
get one Lord of her own to wear the deule for that
day, not so much as the Earl Bothwell. . . . This
[Sunday] is another day of mirth and pastime [running
at the ring] upon the sands of Leith, where the Queen
will be herself, to signify the sorrow of her heart after
her soul mass.’—(Bishop Keith’s History of Scotland,
vol il pp. 122, 123.)

4+ P. 131.

In 1565-66, Randolph tells Cecil that ‘upon Can-
dlemas daye, there carryed their candles with the
Quene, her husbande, th’Earle of Lennox, and Earle
Atholl.'—(Mr. T. Wright's Queen Elizabeth and her
Times, vol. i. p. 220. Cf. Calendar of State Papers
relating to Scotland, vol. ii. p. 83s.)

Among schoolboys in the north, the observance
survived the signing of the Covenant: ¢ Vpone the
second of Februar [1643], being Candlemes day, the
barnis of the Oldtoun [of Aberdeen] gramar scooll . . .

Mary would appear to have delighted in these
more picturesque rites of her religion.

We see her carrying tapers at
This

with candles lichtit in there handis, crying, reioysing,
and blyth aneuche . . . about sex houris at night,
cam . . . vp the yet to the Cross, and round about
gois diuerss tymes, clyms to the heid thairof, and set
on ane burning torche thairvpone . . . Attour thay
went doun fra the Cross, convoying Johne Keith,
brother to the Erll Marschall, who wes there King, to
his lodging in the Channonrie, with licht candles.’—
(Spalding’s Memorialls of the Trubles, vol. ii. p. 229,
edit. Aberd. 1851.)

# The day before Good Friday—the ¢Coena Do-
mini’ of the Latin Church, the ‘ Maundy Thursday’

and ‘Shere Thursday’ of England, le jour de la da

Cene’ of France—was known in Scotland as ¢ Skyre
Thurisday,” or ¢Skir Furisday’ (p. 52). As many
poor maidens, as there were years in the Queen’s
age, had their feet washed by her, and were each of
them presented with five quarters of linen, at §s., 6s.,
or 6s. 8d. a yard, and with two yards of white kersey,
at 15s. or 16s. a yard. The Queen had an apron and
towel of cambric, at 40s. or 45s. a yard ; her attend-
ants had aprons and towels of holland, at 20s. or 22s.
ayard. In 1566, the King took partin the ceremony,
having, like the Queen, an apron and towel of cam-
bric. On this occasion, besides the twenty- four
maidens whose feet were washed by the Queen, the
King seems to have washed the feet of thirteen poor
virgins, and to have given to each of them three and
a-half yards of fine red cloth, at 24s. a yard. In 1567,
when the Queen held her last Maundy at Holyrood,
she was attended by nine ladies and maids of honour,
seven maids and their governess, seven bedchamber
women, eleven masters of household and gentle-
men (including a doctor of theology, a physician,
a secretary, an apothecary, a comptroller, an al-

Washing the feet
of the poor on
Maundy Thurs-
y.
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latter ceremony, indeed, passed into the Reformed Church ;' it was performed

in person by Queen Elizabeth, and by more than one of her successors on
the English throne; and not much more than a century has elapsed since the

moner, etc.), nine valets of her chamber, one

usher of her chamber, and ten officers (including
two purveyors, an equerry, a barber, etc.) The
first lady of honour was waited on by two maids;
the masters of household by three gentlemen ; the
purveyors by two servants. Tke charge for two
and a half yards of ‘toille baptiste’ or cambric was
£5; for forty yards of holland, £40; for forty-four
yards of ¢ small’ or ¢ Scotch’ linen, £14, 13s. 4d. ; for
fifty yards of white kersey, £40 ; for forty yards of
‘toille de Bretaine,” ¢ Bartane claithe,” or cloth of
Brittany (used, it would seem, for carpeting), £20;
in all, £119, 13s. 4d.—(Compota Thesaurariorum Re-
ginae Scotorum, Mar. 1561-2, Apr. 1565, Apr. 1566,
Apr. 1567. Ms. Register House. Memoire du linge
necessaire pour le jour de la Cene faict la ijme dApurill
mil v soixante sept. Ms. Register House.)

Mary had made preparation for a Skyre Thursday
which she was not suffered to keep. ¢ Certen clothe
bought at Chartley for her intended Mawndye,’ in
1586, was found in her rooms at Fotheringhay, after
her execution. The observance was stopped by Sir
Amias Poulet, the same stern jailer who tore down
her cloth of state.—(Prince Labanoff, Lettres de Marie
Stuart, t. vil. p. 272. Calendar of State Papers relat-
ing to Scotland, vol. ii. p. 986.)

! It seems, however, to have early become un-
popular in Scotland. Robert Bowes, the English
ambassador at Holyrood, writes to Sir Francis Wals-
ingham, in April 1583, that the people of Edinburgh
are raging against M. Meynmeville, the French envoy,
¢to see both his priest kept amongst them, and (as
they think) saying mass, and also himself keeping his
Maundy solemnity like a king, and passing to holy
saints and wells on pilgrimage; which thing they
think to be done in such contempt against the religion
of their laws, as the King is busily occupied to suppress
their passions.” Walsingham, in reply, instructs
Bowes to advise the King of Scots of the incon-
venience of M. Meyneville’s ¢ stout and insolent
speeches, and his observance of the ceremonies of the
Romish religion, especially in the late keeping of the
Maundy, a thing very offensive to the subjects of the
King of Scots.’—(Correspondence of Robert Bowes
of Aske, p. 309. Saurtees Society : 1842. Calendar
of State Papers relating to Scotland, vol. i p. 439.)

Two years afterwards, we find the King giving
‘nynetein gownis of blew claith, nynetein pursis, and
in ilk purse nynetein schillingis to nynetein aigit men,
according to the yeiris of his Hienes aige.” But the
bounty was given, not on the Thursday before Easter,
but on the King’s birthday in June.—(Compotum
Thesauyrarii Regis Scotorum, Jun. 1585. Ms. Register
House.)

In the sixth century, the monks of Iona washed the
feet of strangers who visited their monastery.—(Dr.
Reeves’s Adamnan’s Life of St. Columba, pp. 27,
345.)

In the same age, if we may trust a writer of the
twelfth century, the Apostle of Strathclyde kept his
Maundy yearly at Glasgow : ¢in Coena Domini, post
confectionem sacri crismatis et olei, prius multitudinis
pauperum, et postea leprosorum, pedes propriis mani-
bus cum lacrimis lavans, et capillis tergens ac crebris
osculis demulcens, ad mensem postea ipse diligenter
illis ministrabat.’—(Jocelin of Furnes, Vita S. Kente-
gemni, ¢. xvii., in Pinkerton’s Vitae Antiquae Sanc-
torum Scotiae, p. 231.)

We have record of the Maundy of the Scottish
Kings —¢ Mandatum in Coena Domini’—towards the
end of the eleventh century. The Bishop of St. An-
drews describes its religious observance by St. Mar-
garet and her husband King Malcolm : *inter haec
trecentos pauperes in Regiam aulam consuetudo erat
introduci ; quibus per ordinem circumsedentibus, cum
Rex et Regina ingrederentur, a ministris ostia claude-
bantur ; exceptis enim capellanis quibusdam religiosis
et aliquibus ministris, illorum eleemosynae operibus
interesse nulli licuerat. Rex ex una, Regina vero ex
altera parte, Christo in pauperibus servierunt : mag-
naque cum devotione cibos et potum, specialiter ad
hoc praeparatos, obtulerunt.’—(Turgot, Vita S. Mar-
garetae, cap. iii. §§ 18, 21-23, in the Acta Sanctorum,
Jun. t ii. pp. 332, 333.)

The example of St. Margaret was followed by her
daughter ¢ the good Queen Maud,’ the wife of King
Henry 1 of England.  Her brother, King David of
Scotland, told St. Aelred of Rievaux, how, on enter-
ing her chamber one evening, he found her washing
the feet of lepers: ‘ecce domus plena leprosis, et
Regina in medio stans, depositoque pallio, cum se

linteo praecinxisset, posita in pelvi aqua, coepit lavare

ERimay

Maundy.

Maundy at Iona.

St. Mungo's
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St. Margaret's
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Archbishop of York, as the substitute of King George the Second, discharged
the duty in the chapel-royal at Whitehall.! ,
There is repeated mention of the Queen’s borrowed ringlets, or perukes,*

as they are called, which she wore of different colours® At first she seems to

have used them only in compliance with the fashion of the day; but what had

been merely an ornament, became a necessity when sorrows had whitened and

sickness had thinned her hair.

The auburn tresses which she laid upon the block

at Fotheringhay, were not her own; and when her head dropped from them

pedes eorum et extergere, extersosque utrisque con-
stringere manibus, et devotissime osculari.’—(Aelred,
Genealogia Regum Anglorum, in Twysden’s Historiae
Anglicanae Scriptores Decem, col. 368.)

In 1490, King James 1v. kept his ¢ Skyr Thurisday’ at
Holyrood, and gave ¢ xviij gray gownis and xviij payre
of schone and dublaris [dishes] and coppis [cups] to
xviij pure men,’ and ¢ to ilk ane of the xviij men xviij
penneis.” The grey gowns were changed into blue at
least as early as 1537.—(Compota Thesaurariorum
Regum Scotorum. Ms. Register House. )

In 1526, King James v., girt with a linen apron,
celebrated his Maundy at Holyrood, giving bread,
beer, and salt herrings, cod and salmon, to the poor
with his own hands : ‘ per manus Domini Regis in
seruicio pauperum.’'— (Excerpta e Libris Domicilii
Jacobi v., pp. 53, 54, 79. Bannatyne Club : 1836.)

! Brand’s Popular Antiquities, vol. i. pp. 142-150.
edit. 1849.

The Sovereign still gives Maundy alms to an allotted
number of poor persons on both sides of Tweed. The
dole in London, distributed as of old on Maundy Thurs-
day, is a purse with as many silver pennies as there
are years in the Queen’s age, some woollen and linen
clothing, and a small sum in lieu of the food which
was at one time given. Edie Ochiltree in the Antiquary
has made every one familiar with the Queen’s bedes-
men in Scotland. They are now all but extinct. In
the Civil Service Estimates for 1862-3 there is a sum of
£10 ‘for alms to Her Majesty’s only remaining bedes-
man, the expense of furnishing him with a gown,’
etc.

The observance of Maundy, it seems, is still main-
tained by one of the Reformed communions in Scot-
land. The Glassites are said to ‘hold by the most
literal interpretation of Scripture rules, as concerning
the kiss of charity, and the washing of the feet of

fellow-disciples’—(Chambers’s Encyclopaedia,vol. iv.
pp. 784, 785. Lond. 1862.)

? P. 130: ‘Vne aulne de toille pour acoustrer les
perruques de la Royne;' p. 141: ‘demie aulne de
toille pour faire des ataches pour des perruques pour
la Royne ;' p. 145 : ‘vne aulne de toylle pour friser
de perruque pour la Royne.’

In October 1567, Servais de Conde sent to the
Queen at Lochleven ¢ plusieurs perruques et aultres
telles choses y servant.’ In July 1568, he sent to
her at Carlisle, after her flight into England, ‘ung
paque de perruque de cheveux.’—(Illustrations of the
Reigns of Queen Mary and King James vI., pp. 14,
16.)

It was at Carlisle that Mary Seton, to the surprise
of Sir Francis Knollys, ‘among other pretty devices,
did set such a curled hair upon the Queen, that was
said to be a perewyke, that showed very delicately,’
(see above, pp. L, li note 2). Sir Francis speaks of
the peruque in a way which shews that it was then a
novelty in England ; indeed it is said to have been un-
known there until the reign of Queen Elizabeth, who at
one time had as many as eighty peruques. But coiffs
of Venice gold, ‘ with ther perukes of here hanging to
them, and long labells of coleryd lawne,’ are men-
tioned in the first year of King Edward vi.—(Archaeo-
logia, vol. xxvii. p. 72.)

8 Nicholas White, who saw the Queen at Tutbury
in February 1569, writes to Cecil : ¢She is a goodly
personage, . . . hath withall an alluring grace, a prety
Scottish accente, and a searching wit, clouded with
myldnes . . . Her hair of itself is black, and yet Mr.
Knollys told me that she wears hair of sundry colors.’
—(Mr. T. Wright's Queen Elizabeth and her Times,
vol. i. p. 311.) Brantéme, on the other hand, who
last saw Mary at Holyrood in October 1561, describes
her hair as fair—* si beaux, si blonds et cendrez (t. v.
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in the executioner’s hands, its only covering was seen to be a few short grey

hairs on either temple.’

We hear of the Queen’s hunting gear,® of her riding habits,® of her
mule-litter,* of her head-dress of cloth of silver for the Parliament which

was broken up by the murder of Riccio.® But we miss any trace of the High-

land garb® which, as we learn elsewhere, was made ready for her journey into

Argyll in the summer of 1563. It was an attire of which she would seem to

have been fond. She had herself painted in it, and, if she did not wear it in

France, must have worn it before she was two months in Scotland; for

Brantome says that he had seen her in it, and that she looked like a goddess.”

p. 111.) But he agrees with White in praising her
Scottish accent : ¢sa langue naturelle, qui de soi est
fort rurale, barbare, mal sonnante et seante, elle la
parloit de si bonne grace, et la fagonnoit de telle sorte,
qu'elle la faisoit trouver trés belle et trés agreable en
elle, mais non en autres’ (t. v. p. 85). Much of the
‘charm, no doubt, was in her voice, which Brantéme
tells us, was * trés douce et trés bonne’ (t. v. p. 86).

! The contemporary French report of the Queen’s
execution describes her head-dress as ‘un voile de
linomple, fort beau et blanc . . . un couvrechef fait
de linomple en manié¢re de coiffe, et par la-dessous
une perruque de cheveux fort bien scéante.” It is
added that, when the executioner held up the head,
¢i} tomba soudainement de ses mains, pour ce qu'il ne
P'avoit prise que par la peau de ses cheveux faux.” In
a following paragraph we are told that ‘la teste estoit
nue de cheveux devant et derritre, et razée exprés
pour y appliquer quelque cataplasme, et en chaque
costé petits cheveux gris, mais non pas beaucoup.’—
(M. Teulet, Papiers d’Etat relatifs & I'Histoire de
I'Ecosse, t. il pp. 879, 881, 883.) We learn from
Brantdme that Mary's hair turned grey at thirty-five
(t v. p. 111).

¢ R. Winkfield, an eye-witness, in his letter to
Burleigh, from Fotheringhay, 11th February 1586,
observed “her borrowed heire auburne,” her own
hair being “polled verie short,” as appeared when
the severed head was held forth by the executioner,
denuded of its coverings.”—(Mr. Albert Way, Cata-
logue of the Museum of the Archaeological Institute,
at Edinburgh in 1856, pref. p. xxiv.)

* Pp. 146, 150.

* Pp. 157, 158

+ P. 150

Among the articles in the Castle of Edinburgh,
belonging to the King and his mother, in 1578, was
‘ane littare lynnit with crammosie satyne and steikit
with the hamissing thairto and tua litle chyres in it
and a cordoun of silk and gold.”—(Mr. Thomson’s
Collections of Inventories, p. 239.)

¢ P. 163.

¢ “The Queen, the Parliament now ended, hath
made her Highland apparel for her journey into
Argile.’—(Letter from Randolph to Cecil, in Bishop
Keith’s History of Scotland, vol. ii. p. 201.) There
is mention of this journey in the text (p. 138).

It appears that when King James v. went to hunt
in the Perthshire Highlands, he had ‘ane schort
Heland coit of variant cullorit veluet,’ lined with green
taffeta ; hose of ¢ Heland tertane ;’ and ‘syde Heland
sarkis of holland claith."—(Compotum Thesaurarii
Regis Scotorum, Aug. 1538.) John Taylor, the
Water Poet, who was at a grand hunt in Braemar in
1618, tells us, in an often quoted passage, that the
Highland garb was worn by every one “as if Licurgus
had been there, and made lawes of equality,’ adding
that, ‘as for their attire, any man of what degree so-
ever that comes amongst them, must not disdaine to
weare it ; for if they doe, then they will disdaine to
hunt’ — (The Pennylesse Pilgrimage, cited in the
Transactions of the Iona Club, vol. i. part ii. pp. 39,

40.)

7 ¢ Estant habillée A la sauvage (comme je I'ay veiie)
et A la barbaresque mode des sauvages de son pays,
elle paroissoit, en un . . . habit barbare et grossier,

The Queen’s High-

The Queen’s litter.
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Bishop Lesley describes the dress, which he assures us was very becoming, as

a long loose cloak of damask, over a gown which reached to the ankles, and ]

was generally embroidered.” Of such Highland mantles, as they were called,
the Queen had three, one white, another blue, a third of black frieze, pasmented
with gold, and lined with black taffeta.” There is here no appearance of
tartan, nor does that stuff seem in that day to have been generally worn by
the Wild Scot of either sex. The Highlandmen who figured in the pageant:s
at the Prince’s baptism at Stirling, in 1566, were clad in goat hides;* and a

book of costumes, published at Paris in the following year, represents even

Highland women as dressed in skins.*

une vraye déesse. Ceux qui P'ont veiie habillée le
pourront ainsi confesser en toute vérité ; et ceux qui
ne l'ont veiie en pourront avoir veu son portrait,
estant ainsi habillée.’—(Brantome, t. v. p. 85.) The
¢ savages’ of Scotland, it need scarcely be added,
were the Highlanders,—the ¢ Wild Scots,’ or ¢ Scoti
Sylvestres,’ as they were called, both in Britain and
on the Continent.  See below, p. lxx. note 1.

1 ¢ Mulierum autem habitus apud illos decentissimus
erat. Nam talari tunicae, arte phrygia vt plurimum
confectae, amplas chlamydes quas iam diximus [illas
quidem demissas ac fluxas, sed in sinus tamen quos-
dam, vbi volebant, decenter contractas], atque illas
quidem polymitas, superinduerunt. Illarum brachia
armillis, ac colla monilibus, elegantius ornata, maxi-
mam habent decoris speciem.’—(Bishop Lesley, De
Rebus Gestis Scotorum, p. 58.)

Martin, writing at the end of the seventeenth cen-
tury, describes the costume as not then wholly extinct
among the Western Islanders: ¢ The ancient dress
wore by the women, and which is yet wore by some
of the vulgar, called arisad, is a white plade, havinga
few small stripes of black, blew, and red ; it reached
from the neck to the heels, and was tied before on
the breast with a buckle of silver or brass, according
to the quality of the person. I have seen some of the
former of an hundred marks value ; it was broad as
any ordinary pewter plate, the whole curiously
engraven with various animals, etc. There was a
lesser buckle which was wore in the middle of the
larger, and above two ounces weight ; it had in the
center a large piece of chrystal, or some finer stone,
and this was set all round with several finer stones of

a lesser size. The plad being pleated all round, -was
tied with a belt below the breast ; the belt was of
leather, and several pieces of silver intermix'd with
the leather like a chain. The lower end of the belt
has a piece of plate about eight inches long and three
in breadth, curiously engraven ; the end of which was
adormed with fine stones, or pieces of red corral

They wore sleeves of scarlet cloth, clos'd at the end as
men’s vests, with gold lace round ’em, having plate
buttons set with fine stones. The head dress was a fine
kerchief of linen strait about the head, hanging down
the back taper-wise ; a large lock of hair hangs down
their cheeks above their breast, the lower end tied
with aknot of ribbands.’—(Description of the Western
Islands of Scotland, pp. 208, 209, edit. 1703. Cf.

the Reverend John Lane Buchanan’s Travels in the
Western Hebrides from 1782 to 1790, pp. 97-89.)

? ¢ Ane Hieland mantill of blak freis pasmentit with
gold and lynit with blak taffetie ; ane blew Hieland
mantill ; ane quheit Hieland mantill.’—(Inventair of
Jowellis, etc., within the Castell of Edinburgh, per-
tening to our Soverane Lord and his Hienes derrest
Moder, 1578, printed in Mr. Thomson's Collection of
Inventories, p. 231.)

3 ‘For twenty aucht gaitt skynnis quhairof was
maid four Hieland wyld mens claithingis from heid to
fute price of the peice iiij schillingis summa v pundis
xij schillingis.’—(Expensis of Fyreworkis at the Bap-
tisme of my Lord Prince in Striveling, December
1566. Ms. Register House.)

¢ I know this book only in the pages of M. Fran-
cisque-Michel, who describes it as rare: ¢ Recueil de
la diversité des habits qui sont de present en usage,

The Queen's
Highqh‘::d
mantles.
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There is notice of a velvet glove for the Queen’s favourite pastime of The Queen's sports :
shooting at the butts.” Nor was archery the only outdoor sport which she
practised. Knox tells us that, when summoned to the interview in which she
asked his good offices to reconcile the Countess and the Earl of Argyll, he

found her hawking on the shores of Lochleven.?

We hear from an eye-

witness how she gave the signal for letting a hound loose upon a wolf during
a great hunt in the forest of Athol, when, although the herd broke through the
tinchel, about three hundred and sixty deer, five wolves, and a number of wild

tant é&s pays d’Europe, Asie, Affrique, et Isles sauvages.
A Paris, 1567." Under the engraving of the High-
landwoman is written :

¢ Cest la Bauvage au pays Escossoys
De peaux vestue encontre la froidure.’

—(Les Ecossais en France, t. il. pp. 123, 124.)

This may be compared with one of the earltest de-
scriptions of the Highland dress which we have, that
of Dr. John Mair, published in 1521: ‘A medio
crure ad pedem caligas non habent, chlamyde pro
veste superiore, et camisia, croco tincta, amiciun-
tur . . . Tempore belli . . . in panno lineo multipli-
citer intersuto et caerato aut picato cum cervinae
pellis coopertura vulgus Sylvestrium Scotorum corpus
tectum habens in praelium prosilit."—(Joannes Major,
De Rebus Gestis Scotorum, p. 34.)

We hear little more of the common Highlander’s
upper garment of hides or skins. It would seem to
have been disused as woollen stuffs became more
plentiful. But his large linen shirt, ornamented with
needlework, and smeared with wax, tallow, or tar,
long survived. It is mentioned in 1578 by the
Bishop of Ross: ¢ Ex lino quoque amplissima indusia
conficiebant, multis sinibus, largioribusque manicis,
foris ad genua vsque negligentius fluentia. Haec
Potentiores croco, alii autem adipe quodam, quo ab
omni sorde diutius manerent integra illinebant . . In
his conficiendis, ornatus aut artis omnino cura non
videbatur neglecta : siquidem filo cerico, viridi potissi-
mum, aut rubeo, indusiorum singulas partes artifi-
ciosissime continuabant.’—(Bishop Lesley, De Rebus
Gestis Scotorum, p. 58.)

The tarred shirt seems to have-been worn as late as
the end of the seventeenth century. It is mentioned by
Colonel Cleland in his description of the Highland
Host in 1678 :

¢ I¢s marvelous how in such weather,
Ov'r hill and hop they came together ;

How in suche stormes they came so farr ;

The reason is they’re smeared with tar,

Which doth defend them heel and neck,

Just as it doth their sheep protect.’
—(Collection of Several Poems and Verses composed
upon Various Occasions, p. 13. Printed in the year
1697.)

Lord Macaulay, interpreting this passage, as I think,
too literally, has described the Highlanders as
‘ smeared with tar like sheep.’—(History of England,
¢ xiii. vol iii. p. 306. edit. 1855.)

1 P. 149.

In April 1562, Randolph writes to Cecil, from St
Andrews, how the Queen and the Master of Lindsay
shot at the butts in her privy garden against Mary
Livingston and the Earl of Murray. In F ebruary
1567, Drury writes to Cecil from St. Andrews, how
the Queen and Bothwell won a dinner at Tranent in
a shooting match against the Earl of Huntly and Lord
Seton.  The Queen had butts in her south garden at
Holyrood.—(G. Chalmers’ Life of Queen Mary, vol
i p. 109. Miss Strickland's Lives of the Queens of
Scotland, vol iv. p. 95. Mr. Tytlers History of
Scotland, vol. v. pp. 390, §16. Compotum Thesau-
rarii Reginae Scotorum, 27. Mar. 1 567. Ms. Register
House.)

* Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. ii PP
373-379.)

The Reformer tells us that the Queen spoke to him

of ¢ the offering of a ring to her by the Lord Ruthven’_

(see above, p. xii. note 1), adding that she did not like
his lordship, because, she said, ‘I know him to use
enchantment.” When at their first interview, in 1 561,
the Queen told Knox *that it was said to hir, that all
which he did was by necromancye’ (see above, PP
xlii., xliil., note 4), the Reformer’s answer was a pro-
testation how eamnestly he had preached against it :
‘And whare they sclander me of magick, nycro-

archery, hawking,

hunting.

The Queen's shoot-

ing matches.
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goats were slain in one day.! As an instance of her indifference to the King’s

fate, her adversaries affirmed that, a few days after his murder, she was seen

playing golf? and pallmall® (or croquet as we should now call it) in the fields

mancie, or of any other arte forbidden of God, I have
witnesses (besydis my awin conscience) all congrega-
tionis that ever heard me, what I spake both against
suche artis, and against those that use suche impietie.’
—(History of the Reformation, vol. ii. pp. 278, 280.)

1 “Anno enim redemptionis nostrae sexagesimo
tertio supra sesquimillesimum, Comes Atholiae, ex
regio sanguine princeps, venationem ingenti apparatu
et magnis sumptibus, optimae atque illustrissimae
Reginac Scotiae exhibuit, cui ego tunc adolescens in-
terfui (cuiusmodi venationem re¢giam nostrates appel-
lare solent). Habebat autem Comes ad duo millia
Scotorum Montanorum, quos vos hic Scotos Syluestres
appellatis, quibus negocium dedit ut ceruos cogerent
ex syluis et montibus Atholiae, Badenachae, Marriae,
Morauiae, aliisque vicinis regionibus ; atque ad locum
agerent venationi destinatum. Illi vero, vt sunt valde
pernices et expediti, ita dies noctesque concursarunt,
vt intra bimensis tempus amplius duo millia ceruorum
cum damis et capreis vnum in locum compulerint :
quos Reginae principibusque in valle considentibus, et
caeteris qui vna aderant omnibus, visendos venandos-
que proposuerunt. Sed ita, mihi crede, omnes illi
cerui velut agmine composito incedebant (haeret, enim,
haerebitque semper id animo spectaculum meo) vt
ducem vnum et rectorem cerneres praceuntem, quem
alii quoquo iret subsequebantur : is autem

¢ Ceruus erat forma praestanti et comibus ingens.’

Qua ex re non mediocrem animo Regina cepit volup-
tatem : cepit mox et timorem, vbi ad eam Atholius,
qui talibus a pueritia venationibus assueuerat, ¢ Vides,’
inquit, *ducem illum cornigerum qui turmam praeit ?
Periculum nobis ab illo est. Si enim aliquis eum
furor timorue ab isto montis dorso in hanc planiciem
compulerit, nostrum sibi quisque prospiciat : nemo
certe ab iniuria tutus erit, quandoquidem caeteri eum
sequentur confertim, et viam sibi ad hunc, qui a tergo
est montem, nobis proculcatis statim aperient.” Cuius
sententiae veritatem alius illico eventus patefecit. Lax-
atus enim Reginae iussu atque immissus in Jupum
insignis admodum ac ferox canis, dum fugientem inse-
quitur, ita ceruum illum ductorem exterruit, vt retro
vnde venerat fugam capesseret: cunctique cum eo
regressi eruperunt ea parte qua Montanorum corona
arctissime cingebantur: ipsis vero Montanis nihil spei,
nihil refugii rcliquum fuit, nisi vt strati in erica pronos

se proculcari, aut practeriri paterentur : quorum non-
nullos cerui transiliendo vulnerarunt, alterum quoque
aut tertium peremerunt, vt statim Reginae nuncia-
tum fuit. Et vero ita glomerati euasissent omnes, ni
homines illi venatus peritissimi ipsos e uestigio
sequuti, arte quadam extremos ab ipso agmine dis-
traxissent qui mox Reginae et nobilium canibus in
praedam cessere. Confecti autem eo die fuerunt cir-
citer trecenti sexaginta, cum quinque lupis et capreis
aliquot.’—(Dr. William Barclay, De Regno et Regali
Potestate adversus Buchananum, Brutum, Boucherum
et reliquos Monarchomachos, lib. ii. pp. 279, 280.
edit. Hanov. 1612.)

The writer, a son of the house of Gartley, was born
in Aberdeenshire in 1546, became Professor of Law
at Angers, and died in France in 1605. Himself a
scholar of mark, he was the father of a much more
distinguished son, John Barclay, the author of the
long famous romance of Argenis, written in Latin
which won the admiration of Grotius, and was pre-
ferred by Coleridge to the Latin of Livy and of
Tacitus.

* We first hear of golf in Scotland in 1457, when
it was forbidden by Parliament as an unprofitable
pastime, which drew the people away from archery
and other warlike sports. The prohibition was re-
newed in 1471, and again in 1491.—(Acts of the
Parliaments of Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 48, 100, 226.)
Golf was played by Queen Mary's grandfather, King
James 1v., and by her grandsons Prince Henry and
King Charles 1. There was a payment from the
Treasury, in February 1504, of nine shillings for
¢ golf clubbes and balles to the King that he playit
with,” Itis told of Prince Henry that, as he raised
his golf-club to strike the ball, a bystander cried out,
‘Beware that you hit not Master Newton' (his tutor)
when the Prince dropped his club, with the remark,
‘ Had I done so, I had but paid my debts.’—(Strutt’s
Sports and Pastimes of the People of England, p. 103.
edit. 1830.) It is said that King Charles 1. was play-
ing golf on Leith Links when tidings of the Irish
rising of 1641 were brought to him.

$ ¢ Palemaille’ or paille-maille’ is described by
Cotgrave in 1611, as ‘a game, wherein a round box
bowle is with a mallet strucke through a high arch of
yron (standing at either end of an alley one) which he

Golf.

Pallmall.
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beside Seton.!
her son thought too wise and philosophical*), tables or backgammon,® and a
These last-named toys had recently been brought to Her puppet show.

Among her in-door amusements we find cards,® chess® (which The Queen's sports:
cards, chess, tables.

company of puppets.®

that can do at the fewest blowes, or at the number
agreed on, winnes.’

! ¢ Few dayes eftir the murthir remaning at Haly-
rudehous, she past to Seytoun, exercing hir one day

¢ The chesse,’ or, *the chesses’ appears to have
been a favourite game of King James 1.— (Cronycle of
the Death of James Stewarde, Kynge of Scotys, in
Pinkerton’s History of Scotland, vol. i. pp. 466, 467.)

richt oppinlie at the feildis with the palmall and goif.’ ¢ ¢ As for the chesse, I thinke it ouer fonde, be- King James vi.
—(Articles given in by the Earl of Murray to Queen  cause it is ouer wise and philosophicke a follie."— ;’:\.“‘f:::s and
Elizabeth’s Commissioners at Westminster, on the 6th  (BAZIAIKON AQPON, or His Maiesties Instrvctions
December 1568. Hopetoun Ms.) to his dearest sonne, Henry the Prince, p. 125. edit.
Mr. Malcolm Laing, who had never seen these  1603.) The King recommends *archery, palle maille,

Articles, has an argument of some length to show that  and suche like faire and pleasant field games.’ ¢ As for
they were ¢undoubtedly the same’ with Buchanan’s  hawking,’ he says, ‘I condemne it not; but I must
Detection. Camden, with better information, had  praise it more sparinglie, because it neither resembleth
rightly distinguished between the two documents.—  the warres so neere as hunting doth in making a man
(M. Laing’s History of Scotland, vol i. pp. 161, 169,  hardie and skilfullie ridden in all grounds, and is
241-243, 309.) more vncertaine and subject to mischances, and

Cards. * ¢ Be the Quenis Grace speciale command to  (whiche is worst of all) is there-through an extreame
Robert Makesone ane of the virlottis of hir Grace  stirrer vp of passions.’ He will not join in the cen-
chalmer to gif hir Maiestie to play at the cartis, fyftie  sure of all games of hazard: when it is foule and
pundis."—(Compotum Thesaurarii Reginae Scotorum,  stormie weather, then, I say, may ye lawfully play at
30. Nov. 1565. Ms. Register House.) the carts or tables.’

When King James 1v. waited on his bride, the $ Mr. Thomson’s Collection of Inventories, p. 241: Tables

Princess Margaret of England, at Newbattle, he found ¢ Ane polk with table men.’
her playing cards. They were a favourite amusement King James 1. played at ‘the tables’ on the night
at his court, as well as at the court of his son, King  of his murderat Perthin 1437. The Treasury Accounts
James v., as we learn from the verse of Sir David  show us King James 1v. playing at ‘the tables,’ in
Lindsay. Montrose, with old Earl Archibald Bell the Cat.

Chess. # There is more than one set of chess pieces in the ¢ P. 139: ‘deux chanteaux de damas gris broche Puppets.

Inventory of the Jewels and other articles in the Castle
of Edinburgh belonging to the King and his Mother,
in 1578: ¢Ane quhite polk of greit chas men of
bane ; ane litle grene polk with sum chas men ; ane
quhite buist with chas men in personages of woid.'—
(Mr. Thomson's Collection of Inventories, pp. 238,
240.)

Sir Frederic Madden has exhausted the antiquities
of chess in Europe, in his admirable paper on the
fine chess men carved in walrus tusk, supposed
to be of the twelfth century, found in the island of
Lewis, and now divided between the British Museum
and Lord Londesborough.—(Archaeologia, vol. xxiv.
pp. 203-291.) The game was so popular in Scotland
in that age that we discover a maker of chessmen
and tablemen (or backgammon men) in a hamlet near
Melrose in 1166. He worked in deer horn and bone,
—(Reginaldi Dunelmensis Libellus de Beati Cuthberti
Virtutibus, pp. 185-188. Surtees Society: 1835.)

dor pour faire vne robbe a vne poupine;’ *trois
quartz et demi de toille dargent et de soye blanche
pour faire vne cotte et aultre chose a des poupines.’

It would appear from the Inventory of 1578 that the
set, when complete, had been of thirty-eight pieces,
half of one sex and half of the other: ¢ Ane coffer
quhairin is contenit certane pictouris of wemen callit
pippenis, being in nomber fourtene mekle and litle,
fyftene vardingaill for thame, nynetene gownis kirtillis
and vaskenis for thame, ane packet of sairkis slevis
and hois for thame, thair pantonis, ane packet with ane
furnist bed, ane uther packett of litle consaittis and
triffilis of bittis of crisp and utheris, tua dussane and
ane half of masking visouris * * Ane litle buist grene
paintit on the cover with nynetene portratouris of
men on horsbak and utheris fantaseis of evir bane and
woid:” * Ane creill with sum bulyettis of tymmer and
pippennis.’—(Mr. Thomson's Collection of Inven-
tories, pp. 238, 240.)
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great perfection in Italy, and were then and for a century afterwards in especial
favour in high places.’

We have more interest in those frequent Masques,’ or Triumphs, as they
were called, in which Knox appears to have seen nothing but folly or sin,®
although Murray approved them by more than his presence, and Buchanan
adorned them with the fruits of his genius and the spoils of his learning.
Scarcely any feast or solemnity seems to have been thought complete without
them. In some cases, the Queen and her court played the chief parts; in
others, the valets of her chamber, or, if she were the guest of the city, the
young burghers, were the actors. In every instance there was an attempt, by
dress or otherwise, to personate character. Occasionally the performance was
only dumb show, but more frequently the performers sang or recited verses,
with or without the help of music from one or more instruments. At times
the skill of the carpenter was tasked for machinery, and the craft of the

painter for some sort of decoration.

The first Masques of which we hear were on the great day of the Queen’s
entry into her capital, a fortnight after her return from France. Leaving
Holyrood, Mary rode along the terrace on which Princes Street now stands,
and winding up the green bank which was washed by the North Loch, passed
into the Castle. The cannon thundered as she left its gates, after dining
with her nobles at noon, and rode down the Castlehill, where she was met by
an escort of fifty young citizens, in the guise of Moors, with jewelled rings
in their mouths, and gilded chains on their necks and limbs. The Queen

now took her place under a pall of purple velvet, with fringes of gold and

1 M. Charles Magnin, the learned and amusing

historian of the puppet show, writing of the reign of
King Lewis XIv. of France says: ‘Les marionnettes
étaient alors un plaisir royal, que recherchaient, par
imitation, 1a noblesse et la bourgeoise. '—(Histoire des
Marionnettes en Europe, p. 189. edit. 1862.)

$ Pp. 73, 127, 128, 133, 136, 138, 141, 144, 145,
162, 167, 185, 186.

* Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. ii. pp.
287, 288, 314, 319, 363, 363, 370, 381, 416, 417. It
does not appear, however, that Knox was against all
dramatic representations. We are told of his presence
at a marriage masque or play which figured the fulfil-
ment of one of his prophecies, and the hanging of two

or three of his enemies.—(Diary of Mr. James Melvill,
p- 22.)
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silk, borne by twelve of the gravest burghers, clad in long gowns of black velvet,
black velvet coats, crimson satin doublets, and velvet bonnets ; and the proces-
sion moved onwards to the Upper or Butter Tron, at the head of the West
Bow, where a wooden arch, painted in bright colours and hung with coats of
* arms, had been raised. It was surmounted by a company of children singing ;
and, as the Queen passed through, a cloud or globe descended on her path, and
bursting asunder disclosed a boy in the guise of an angel, who delivered to her
the keys of the town, with a bibleand a psalter bound in purple velvet. Hav-
ing spoken certain verses® in praise and welcome of the Queen and in honour
of Holy Scripture, the angel was received back into his tabernacle, and the pro-
cession passed on to the Tolbooth—the Heart of Midlothian, as it was called
in a later day—where, on a stage of two tiers, stood four fair damsels, in costly
raiment, representing Fortitude, Justice, Temperance, and Prudence. After
another address here, the Queen reached the Cross, which poured wine from
all its spouts, while healths were drunk, and glasses were broken, and more
allegory was acted by four fair maidens gorgeously apparelled. There was
another stage with another address at the Lower or Salt Tron. Some zealous
Reformers had here devised the representation of a priest burned at the altar
in the act of elevating the host. But this was forbidden by the Earl of Huntly,
who bore the Sword of State in the procession, and the destruction of Korah,
Dathan, and Abiram was figured instead, to the seeming content of both sides ;
the Reformers regarding it as an example of God’s vengeance upon idolatry,
the Roman Catholics as an example of God’s vengeance upon those who took
the priesthood upon themselves without authority.  The fifth and last stage
was built at the Netherbow, the boundary of the city on the east. Here an

! They were sent by Randolph to Cecil, and are Welcome, I saye, even from the verie splene,

now in the State Paper Office. If they may be judged To Edinburghe, youre syttie principall.’

by the opening stanza, they are sorry doggerel : —(C.alendar of State Papers relating to Scotland,
‘Wel , oure S H 1 , oure natyue Quene, vol i p. 174.)

Welcome to vs your subiects greate and smalle,

£
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address was spoken by a dragon, who was then set on fire and burned, during
the singing of a psalm. On reaching Holyrood, certain children, who had
followed the procession in a cart, made a speech against the old religion, and
sung another psalm. Then the burghers, who had carried the Queen’s pall, took
from the carta cupboard of gilt plate, bought from the Earl of Morton and Sir
Richard Maitland of Lethington for two thousand merks, and presented it to
the Queen in the outer chamber of the Palace.! Like gifts welcomed her
entry into Perth, Dundee, Aberdeen, and other towns, and helped to fill her

treasury or added to the splendour of her table.?

We see her bequeathing

gold and silver work which had come to her in this way, to her aunt the

Abbess of St. Peter’s at Reims.?

1 Diurnal of Occurrents, pp. 67-69. Letter from
Randolph to Cecil, 7th Sept. 1562, in Mr. T. Wright’s
Queen Llizabeth and her Times, vol. i pp. 73, 74
Knox’s History of the Reformation, vol. ii. pp. 287-
289. Register of the Town Council of Edinburgh,
vol. iv. foll. 14, 15. Ms. in the City Archives.

I have corrected what seems to be a mistake, and
supplied an obvious deficiency in the description (in
the Diurnal of Occurrents) of the allegorical person-
ages on the stage at the Tolbooth, from the contem-
porary account of the entry of Anne of Denmark, thirty
years afterwards, when not a few of the devices which
had welcomed Queen Mary were acted over again :
¢ At her Grace's comming to the Tolbooth, there stood
on high the four Virtues, as first Justice, with the
balance in one hand, and the sword of justice in
the other ; then Temperance, having in one hand a
cup of wine, and in the other a cup of water;
Prudence, holding in her hand a serpent and a dove,
declaring that men ought to bee as wise as the ser-
pent to prevent daunger, but as simple as the dove
eyther in wrath or malice ; the last is Fortitude, who
held a broken pillar in her hand, representing the
strength of a kingdome.’—(The Receiving of King
James and his Queene, in Papers relative to the Mar-
riage of King James VI, p. 41. Bannatyne Club:
1828.) Justice and her fellow Virtues, Temperance,
Prudence, and Fortitude, were old stock-pieces of
Edinburgh pageants. They appear in the entry of the
Princess Margaret, the bride of King James 1v., in
1503.—(Relation of John Younge, Somerset Herald,
in Leland’s Collectanea, vol. iv. pp. 289, 290.)

The escort of Moors, which figured in 1554, as well
as in 1561, has a conspicuous place in ¢ The Discrip-
tion of the Qveenis Maiesties maist honorable entry
into the Tovn of Edinbvrgh, vpon the 19 day of Maii
1590, by Iohn Bvrel,’ a poem, printed in Papers rela-
tive to the Marriage of King James VI

* In January 1562, the town council of Aberdeen, The Queen's
in respect of the ¢ prencely propynis giffin to the Joe ™ Aber-

Quenis Grace in Edinburght and Dunde and vther
townis,’ voted 2000 merks ¢ for the preparatioun and
decoratioun of the toun and to be propynit to hir
Grace, as wse hes bene:in tymes bypast to be done to
Kingis and Princes of this realme at thair first entre.’—
(Extracts from the Council Register of Aberdeen,

lgﬁ-;sm PP- 339 340, 345, 347. Spalding Club:
1

-3 P. 124: ‘Il y a deus cueurs dor de mes entrees
auuesques vne comme vne rose et vn hault goubellet
couuert et vi bouclier et quelque Notre Dames que ie
veus etre enuoyees a ma tante de St Piere.,” Cotgrave
gives as one of the meanings of enfré, ‘a present or
gratuitie bestowed on a prince, etc., at his first entrie
into a place.”

One of the two gold hearts bequeathed by the Queen The Queen's
was given to her at her entry into Perth, in September g7y 10t

1561 : ¢ At St. Johnston's she was well received, and
presented with a heart of gold full of gold, I know not
to what value ; she lik'd nothing the pageants there,
they did too plainly condemn the errors of the world.*
—(Letter from Randolph to Cecil, 24th September
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